

Exploring the Motivations for and Modes of Academic Engagement among Irish Academic Researchers: A Qualitative Investigation

Utieyineshola Adeleke Yusuff

Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements of the MLitt Degree, Faculty of Social Sciences School of Business National University of Ireland, Maynooth

May 2024

This thesis has been prepared in accordance with the PhD regulations of Maynooth University and is subject to copyright.



Exploring the Motivations for and Modes of Academic Engagement among Irish Academic Researchers: A Qualitative Investigation

Utieyineshola Adeleke Yusuff

Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements of the MLitt Degree Faculty of Social Sciences School of Business National University of Ireland, Maynooth

May 2024

Head of Department: Professor Joseph Coughlan Supervisors: Professor Joseph Coughlan Dr Bastian Rake

Table of Contents

List of Tablesiv				
List of Figures v				
Dedicatior	Dedicationvi			
Acknowled	dgmentsvii			
Abstract	viii			
CHAPTER	ONE: INTRODUCTION			
1.1	Background of the Study1			
1.2	Research Gap			
1.3	Research Question and aim of the study5			
1.4	Scope of the Study			
1.5	Contribution of the Study			
1.6	Thesis Structure and Chapter Outline			
CHAPTER ⁻	TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW9			
2.1	Introduction			
2.2	Academic Engagement			
2.2.1	Types and channels of academic engagement11			
2.2.2	Determinants of Academic Engagement26			
2.3	Academic Freedom			
2.3.1	Conceptualising Academic Freedom37			
2.3.2	The limits of academic freedom41			
2.3.3	Academic Freedom issues within external engagement			
2.4	Conclusion			
CHAPTER ⁻	THREE: THEORETICAL BACKGROUND			
3.1	Introduction			
3.2	Self-Determination Theory (SDT)51			

3.2.	3.2.1 SDT: The Motivation continuum			
3.2.	2 Limitations of SDT			
3.2.	3 Application of SDT			
3.3	Conclusion	65		
CHAPTER	R FOUR: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY			
4.1	Introduction			
4.2	Research problem			
4.3	Research Question			
4.4	Selection of research methodology and research design	67		
4.5	Data Collection			
4.5.	1 Sampling			
4.5.	2 Instrument and data collection procedure	71		
4.6	Data Analysis	72		
4.7	Validation of data	74		
4.8	Communication of findings	74		
4.9	Conclusion	75		
CHAPTER	R FIVE: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	76		
5.1	Introduction			
5.2	Rationale for non-academic collaboration – The "Why"	77		
5.3	Pattern of engagement – The "How"	89		
5.3.	1. Individual Characteristics			
5.3.	2. Organisational Characteristics			
5.3.	3. Institutional Characteristics	100		
5.4	Conclusion			
CHAPTER	SIX: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION	105		
6.1	Introduction			
6.2	Summary of key findings and contributions	105		
6.2.	1 Motivation for engagement			

6.2.2	Mode of engagement 1	109
6.2.3	Impact of individual, organisational and institutional factors	109
6.2.4	Role of academic freedom1	L12
6.3 Li	imitations and Future Research1	L13
6.4 Re	ecommendations1	114
6.4.1	Recommendations to University Managers1	L15
6.4.2	Recommendations to Industry1	L16
6.4.3	Recommendations to non-industry partners1	L17
REFERENCES	5	L19
Appendix I.	Interview Guide1	149
Appendix II.	Comprehensive information on participants' (interviewee) profile1	150
Appendix III.	. The Code Book1	151
Appendix IV.	. Ethical approval letter 1	152
Appendix V.	Interviewee consent form1	153
Appendix VI.	. Interviewee Information sheet1	155

List of Tables

Table 2.1: Various forms and channels of academic engagement	13
Table 3.1: The continuum of work motivation	54
Table 4.1: Profile of Interview participants	70
Table 4.2: The study Interview details on duration and medium used	.71

List of Figures

Figure 2.1: An analytical framework of academic engagement	27
Figure 2.2: Conceptualisation of Academic Freedom in the EU	39
Figure 2.3: External actors Influencing Researchers' Academic Freedom	42
Figure 3.1: The Motivation Continuum	54
Figure 3.2: Theoretical Framework for the study	58
Figure 4.1: Data Analysis in Qualitative Research	73
Figure 5.1: The thesis's theoretical framework showing and its application in data analysis	76

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to the memory of my late father, Elder John Bernard Yusuff, whose guidance and support continue to inspire me; his passing shortly after I began this program has deeply impacted this journey.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I thank Almighty God for his guidance and grace, which have made the successful completion of this program possible. To my beloved children, Ayomiposi Yusuff and Tiwatope Yusuff, I sincerely appreciate your love, prayers, patience, and understanding while I was away from you for some years. God bless you two.

I am deeply grateful to my mum, Mrs. Queen Toritseju Yusuff, whose unwavering support and prayers have sustained me throughout this journey. My heartfelt thanks also go to my siblings, Wale Yusuff, Femi Yusuff, Tosin Yusuff, and Toyosi Yusuff, for their continuous encouragement and belief in me.

To my supervisors, Prof. Joseph Coughlan, and Dr. Bastian Rake, I am profoundly grateful for your unwavering belief in my potential and invaluable guidance throughout my academic journey at Maynooth University. Your mentorship has been instrumental in my growth and success.

My sincere appreciation also goes to Prof. John Cullen, whose timely intervention in my student journey at Maynooth University played a crucial role in the fulfilment of this program. Prof Adegboyega Ojo is also recognised, whose words of encouragement and constant follow-up on my progress played a huge role in realising this feat.

I want to thank all the staff members at the School of Business and those at the administrative office at Maynooth University. Your support and assistance have been indispensable in navigating the complexities of this academic journey.

Lastly, I want to assure my supervisors that I will forever be grateful for their support. I promise to carry forward the knowledge and skills gained, striving to make you proud as I embark on the next chapter of my career.

Abstract

Government and research funding bodies have increasingly emphasized the societal impact of research prompting the need for increased engagement between academic researchers and nonacademic external partners. There are numerous benefits that this academic engagement brings to the collaborating partners. Such benefits include facilitating advancement in research, providing researchers access to resources, and the provision of opportunities for post-graduate student mentoring by industry partitioners. Increased levels of academic engagement also offer researchers opportunities to generate new scientific research ideas and questions, exploit new research opportunities, or even test research theories and findings that are aimed towards solving practical problems outside the academic domain. Academic engagement with external non-academic partners, while beneficial, also incurs costs and typically remains at the discretion of the individual researcher. The increasing demand for additional engagement with non-academic partners may increase pressure on academics as such interactions add to their research and teaching responsibilities. This thesis investigates why and how academics engage with non-academic collaborators, applying selfdetermination theory to explore their motivations and modes of interaction. Using snowball sampling technique, the study conducted nineteen qualitative interviews with academic researchers from diverse fields—social sciences, physical sciences, life sciences, engineering, medicine, and humanities—across several public universities in Ireland. The selection of interviewees was based on careful representation of both male and female researchers who are at different stages of their career, in different disciplines, and either currently are, or have been, actively engaged with non-academic external partners. The findings indicate that motivations and modes of engagement between academic researchers and non-academic partners are shaped by a mix of intrinsic and extrinsic factors, intertwined with personal, organizational, and policy-related institutional elements. The thesis argues for tailored strategies that consider these diverse motivations and contextual dynamics to enhance interactions within Ireland's innovation ecosystem. Although this study has limitations, it outlines areas for further research and offers significant theoretical, managerial, and policy implications by enhancing understanding of academic researchers' engagement behaviours.

viii

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the Study

For countries striving towards a knowledge-based economy, the interaction between academia and industry is critical for the attainment of sustainable economic growth and sustainable societal development (Duval-Couetil et al., 2021; Silva et al., 2021). Over the years, scholars have suggested various models and mechanisms that may foster a knowledge-driven society (Albuquerque et al., 2015; Asheim & Coenen, 2005; Fernández-Esquinas et al., 2016; Innovation Working Group, 2015; Nelson, 1993), while also emphasising the strategic role of all the key actors for a productive innovation ecosystem (Zheng & Cai, 2022). One of such models is the "Triple Helix model" (Etzkowitz & Leydesdorff, 2000) which is based on a tripartite link of government-industry-academia (GIA) partnership (Zhou & Wang, 2023). Further improvement on the rationale and effectiveness of the triple helix called for the need to also consider the inclusion of a new actor the "community" or "society" who are perceived as beneficiary of innovation, hence the "Quadruple helix evolved (Hasche et al., 2020; MacGregor et al., 2010; McAdam et al., 2018; Miller et al., 2018; Schütz et al., 2019).

Subsequently, with the role of the society coming to the fore within the innovation literature, the concept of a "Third Mission" (Knudsen et al., 2021; Taxt, 2023) changed the dynamics of innovation studies reflecting a paradigm shift in research models where universities, as a centre for knowledge production, are expected to engage in research that would benefit their immediate environment (Compagnucci & Spigarelli, 2020; Petersen et al., 2022; Spânu et al., 2024). This paradigm shift led to the reaffirmation of the concept of "academic engagement" within the academic community where interest has continued to grow regarding how knowledge produced in the academia is transferred or exchanged with the industry (Huggins et al., 2020). Academic engagement refers to a "knowledgerelated collaboration by academic researchers with non-academic organisations" (Perkmann et al., 2013: 424). In essence, academic engagement involves "person-to-person interactions" which links universities to other external organisations such as industry (Cohen et al., 2002). The interaction between universities and industry takes many forms based on the different type of knowledge interaction or technology transfer activities involved and can also be differentiated based on the intended purpose (Perkmann et al., 2021a). For instance, some literature categorised interaction between university and industry to commonly take place through three main channels which are collaborative research, contract research, and research-oriented consulting (D'Este & Perkmann, 2011; Rossoni et al., 2023). Outcomes of collaboration between university and industry may include spinoffs, design artifacts, study reports, prototypes, patents (Perkmann & Walsh, 2007).

Interactions between universities and industry can be developed for the purpose of exchanging knowledge or for commercialisation (technology transfer) of research (Fernández-Pérez de la Lastra et al., 2023; Heng et al., 2022; Perkmann, et al., 2013). Also, based on three dimensions noted in the last paragraph, Dip (2021) described academic engagement as a multidimensional concept that encompasses multiple activities. More specifically, it includes (i) the social dimension – those activities performed as services to the society without expectations of its direct pecuniary or monetary benefits to researchers themselves; (ii) the entrepreneurial dimension – those activities relating to engagement in collaborative research with industry, generation of patents, or intellectual property commercialisation; and (iii) the innovation dimension – include such activities that could lead to joint venture or establishment of commercial networks and services with industry, including developing products that could be transferred to the society.

In extant literature, there are controversies as to whether academic engagement activities actually follow commercialisation (Ferreira & Carayannis, 2019; Huggins et al., 2020), although there are claims that commercialising is in fact a result of academic engagement activities with industry (Perkmann et al., 2013). Perkmann et al. (2013) documented a situation where academic researchers' collaboration with industry partner in a project encouraged researchers to identify opportunities leading to innovations that could be subsequently commercialised with industry partners. In summary, studies on the mechanism that promote the interaction between academia and industry have continued to grow (Mascarenhas et al., 2024). A reason for this development is the central role that academic engagement plays in strengthening innovation strategies in various countries and within higher education institutions (Messeni Petruzzelli & Murgia, 2020; W. Wang & Liu, 2022). As a result, scholars have continued to explore ways to better achieve a sustainable relationship between the university and other stakeholders outside the academic domain. A core motivation of this thesis is to join in with and add to this conversation by exploring ways to better enhance these important interorganisational interactions, through concentrating on the motivation for academic researchers to engage with nonacademic partners. Through the theoretical lens of self-determination theory, this thesis explored these interorganisational interactions by building on the existing framework of Clauss et al. (2022). In this regard, it was of interest to this thesis to examine beyond the influence of individual factors but also that of organisational and institutional factors an area not considered in the work of Clauss et al (2022), where they studied factors influencing engagement between engineering professors and industry partners in joint research projects.

1.2 Research Gap

There has been an increasing call by government and research funding bodies for a greater level of societal impact in research being carried out and it is becoming a key factor in winning research grants from certain agencies. This pressure demands more engagement between academic researchers and non-academic external partners (Marzocchi et al., 2023). However, such demands will put more pressure on academic researchers considering that such interactions are an additional responsibility, on top of their research and teaching roles in the university (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022). Also, this demand for a "societal impact agenda" could result into a paradigm shift in orientation within academia from an academic-impact focus (research contributing to scientific advancement, advancement of theory, methodologies, application of valuable knowledge to its academic community alone) to a greater focus on economic and societal impact (research contributing to economic and societal developments that are beneficial to individual, organisations and nations) (Johnson, 2022). This pressure for more economic and societal impact has seen academics engaging more with nonacademic external partners, which often comes with benefits and costs. For instance, Tartari and Breschi (2012) believe that the decision of academics to collaborate with external partners (industry, for example) is a discretionary behaviour of academics themselves which is often shaped by two factors - their perception of the potential benefits and costs of such engagement to their research productivity; and the institutional environment within which such interactions will exist.

When academic researchers engage externally, the benefits are multifaceted to all stakeholders which include government, academic community, practitioners and the wider public. Government intervention in fostering engagement between academia and industry is seen as a springboard for achieving economic development, strengthening regional and national systems of innovation (Leydesdorff & Meyer, 2006; Philpott et al., 2011; Rajalo & Vadi, 2017) or even in transforming its innovation systems into innovation ecosystems (Zheng & Cai, 2022), making these countries more innovative and technologically competitive. The provision of access to additional sources of funding, improvement in research and teaching, investment in infrastructure, achievement of prestige and opportunities for building networks are some of the benefits of academic engagement both to academic institutions and academic researchers (Duval-Couetil et al., 2021; Rake, 2021). Therefore, considering the multifaceted benefits of the interaction between the academia and the society, academic engagement as a phenomenon has continued to attract interest from scholars (Huang et al., 2015). More importantly, the university is seen to play a more strategic role in societal development because it is considered as the source of new ideas, knowledge, technologies, and innovations (Reed et al., 2021).

Literature reviews conducted by scholars on facilitators or barriers to academic engagement identified three factors: Individual factors (demographics, attitude, motivation); organisational characteristics (support structure, departmental climate, university/department quality), and institutional characteristics (scientific discipline, public policy and regulations), and these are considered to also be the determinants of academic engagement (Perkmann et al., 2013, 2021). Some studies have also attempted to reconceptualise academic engagement in an effort to provide more evidence on what are seen to be key aspects such as motivations, channels, and stakeholders(Marzocchi et al., 2023). Several studies have also reviewed factors that determine a successful university-industry collaboration (Belderbos et al., 2024; O'Dwyer et al., 2023; Thune et al., 2023), and more recently another study was conducted on researchers' motivation for academic engagement from the perspective of cross-border regions (Mascarenhas et al., 2024). Outcomes gathered from these extant studies indicate variations in the way and extent that academic researchers engage with non-academic external partners (Kongsted et al., 2017), and this differs from country to country, and motivation types differ across researchers (Mascarenhas et al., 2024).

This thesis identified two major research gaps based on extant literature on academic engagement reviewed. Firstly, as indicated in some recent studies, our understanding is still limited concerning academic researchers' behaviour towards academic engagement, particularly in terms of their motivations for and mode of engagement with non-academic external partners (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022; Muscio et al., 2017; Nelson, 2024; Noke et al., 2024; O'Dwyer et al., 2023; Orazbayeva & Plewa, 2022; Pekşen et al., 2021; Perkmann et al., 2021; Ramos-Vielba & D'Este, 2023; Taxt, 2023; Zhuang & Shi, 2022). Secondly, previous studies that investigated academic engagement focused on limited group of external stakeholders, particularly "industry partners" (Abramo & D'Angelo, 2022; Ankrah et al., 2013; Apa et al., 2021; Arnold et al., 2021; Bastos et al., 2021; Bhullar et al., 2019; Clauss et al., 2022; Compagnucci & Spigarelli, 2020; D'Este et al., 2019; Dias & Selan, 2023; Fernández-Pérez de la Lastra et al., 2023; Wang et al., 2023). More investigation has been suggested to enable us to understand why researchers' motivations for and mechanisms of interaction with external partners varies across different researchers and wider group of external stakeholders such as business firms, charity organisations, non-governmental organisations, government agencies (Marzocchi et al., 2023; Nelson, 2024; Noke et al., 2023).

This thesis directly addresses the identified research gaps by exploring the motivations and modes of academic researchers' engagement with non-academic partners. The study explores why academic researchers are motivated to collaborate with a diverse range of non-academic external partners and examines how these collaborations are conducted through various modes of engagement. Furthermore, it investigates how individual, organizational, and institutional factors influence these

interactions and how academic freedom shapes researchers' engagement with non-academic external partners. By addressing these issues, the study contributes to filling the research gaps by expanding beyond the traditionally emphasized industry collaborations, offering new insights into a broader spectrum of non-academic external partners, and contributing to a more comprehensive understanding of researchers' behaviour in academic engagement.

1.3 Research Question and aim of the study

To address the research gaps as earlier identified and explained in Section 1.2, this thesis developed an overarching research question **"Why and how do academics engage with non-academic collaborators?"** which was further broken down into four sub-questions for the purpose of specificity, and they are as follows:

- 1. Why are academic researchers motivated to engage with non-academic partners?
- 2. How do academic researchers engage with non-academic partners?
- 3. How do individual, organizational, and institutional factors influence academic researchers' engagement with non-academic partners?
- 4. How does academic freedom influence academic researchers' engagement with nonacademic partners?

These four research sub-questions are useful in exploring experiences of academic researchers affiliated with various academic institutions in Ireland who have engaged with wide range of external stakeholders at different stages of the career lifecycle. Using the lens of self-determination theory, the aim of this thesis is to gain deeper insights into academic researchers' disposition towards external engagement with non-academic external partners. In essence, it seeks to understand individual academic researchers' rationale and patterns of behaviour towards academic engagement. Additionally, to gain a clearer insight into those factors that shapes researchers' behaviour, this study also explores the role played by individual, organisational and institutional factors, across a wide range of external stakeholders including Industry, non-governmental organisations (NGOs), charity organisations, civil society organisations, government agencies from the perspective of the individual researcher.

1.4 Scope of the Study

The scope of this study is limited to academic researchers affiliated to Irish universities who are currently or have been involved in working with external non-academic partners through one of the various modes of academic engagement (as discussed in the literature review) over the last five years. So, essentially the location where this research will be carried out is in Ireland. Ireland was selected for two reasons. Firstly, because the outcome of the study will be useful for making evidence-based policy decisions in the country (Ireland) as this was suggested in some previous studies conducted in Ireland (Zhang et al., 2017). Secondly, because it is the country where I am currently based and carrying out my master's degree program. Hence, choosing Ireland enabled me to access participants and collect data easily.

In terms of academic engagement, the scope of my study is limited to the antecedent-side of academic engagement based on the analytical framework suggested in existing research (Perkmann et al., 2013, 2021). On the antecedent-side of academic engagement are those factors that influence the behaviour of academic researchers towards interaction with non-academic partners. Such factors include individual characteristics, organisational factors, and institutional factors. Also, all modes of interaction such joint research, contract research, consulting, participation in industry-sponsored conferences and workshops, joint creation of facilities, join-supervision of doctoral research projects, training of industry personnel and other form of informal contact with external partners were explored.

Lastly, in terms of external actors, this study includes all non-academic external collaborators including industry, charity organisations, non-government organisations and government bodies as identified in the literature (Marzocchi et al., 2023) though from the perspective of the individual academic carrying out the engagement. Overall, the scope of this study was guided by existing literature with the intention that the study can gain insight into the way academic researchers engage, their motivation for engaging, barriers encountered, and their overall experiences during their external engagements.

1.5 Contribution of the Study

This thesis extends our knowledge of academic researchers' behaviour in engaging with non-academic external collaborators. The theoretical framework adapted from the previous works of Clauss et al., (2022), which relies on self-determination theory, was limited to individual factors only. This thesis includes all the factors - individual, organisational, and organisational- hence providing a more comprehensive understanding of how these three factors influence academic researchers' behaviour in engaging with non-academic external partners. Additionally, this research provides valuable insights

into researchers' interactions with a broader range of external partners. Previous studies have identified the need for further exploration in this area (Marzocchi et al., 2023; Noke et al., 2024; Taxt, 2023). While earlier research has predominantly focused on industry partners (Ankrah et al., 2013; Bekkers & Freitas, 2008), this study expands the scope to include a variety of external stakeholders, thereby addressing a critical gap in the existing literature.

This thesis contributes to understanding of researchers' motivation by challenging the claim that engagement with external collaborators is primarily driven by access to monetary benefits (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022; Zheng et al., 2023). Instead, this thesis provides more insight indicating that non-monetary resources play a significant role. Furthermore, this thesis contributes significantly by explaining why academic engagement does not hinder research and innovation, contrary to some claims in previous literature (Collyer, 2015). Instead, it highlights the benefits of academic engagement to researchers, supporting the findings of earlier studies (Bhullar et al., 2019; D'Este & Perkmann, 2011b; O'Dwyer et al., 2023). Lastly, this thesis makes a notable contribution to knowledge on academic engagement, affirming the assertion that the need for relatedness, as a component of self-determination theory, positively influences academic researchers' involvement in academic engagement (Orazbayeva et al., 2021). This study provides more insight to clarify the perception presented in some studies that underestimate the role of researchers' perceived need for relatedness in participating in academic engagement (Queirós et al., 2022).

1.6 Thesis Structure and Chapter Outline

This thesis consists of five chapters. Chapter one introduces the study as a whole and shares insights on the background of the study, rationale for the study, aims of the study the research problem, scope of the thesis, and contribution of the findings of the thesis.

Chapter two is the literature review where the core concepts of the study are discussed in relation to extant studies. The chapter starts with an introduction section which briefly describes the purpose of the chapter and the expected key outcomes. The section on academic engagement is next, which provided perspectives on the concepts, key determinants, and the various modes of academic engagement. A section was also dedicated to exploring academic freedom issues which are connected to external activities of researchers including the conceptualisation of academic freedom, identification of various external stakeholders influencing researchers' freedom.

Chapter three examines the theoretical background of the study. Here, theories applicable to the study of motivation for academic engagement were discussed which led to the selection of the appropriate

theory for the thesis. Self-determination theory (SDT) was identified as the most appropriate for this thesis. Chapter three discusses SDT in some detail and then applies SDT as the lens through which issues around academic engagement are discussed, thus setting up the theoretical framework for this study.

Chapter four presents the research methodology. The chapter starts with an introduction section which describes the purpose of the thesis, and the methodology used in addressing the research question motivating the thesis. The next sections provide the overall research design and other details on sample selection, data collection and analysis approach, ethical consideration, and a summary section to recap the chapter.

Chapter five, Results and Discussion starts with introduction section. This section provides an overview of the chapter with respect to the analysed results from the semi-structure interview conducted. In following sections, results and discussions are presented on the rationale as to "why" academic researchers engage with non-academic external partners. The focus here is the motivation factors of researchers towards academic engagement which could either be extrinsic or intrinsic. Next section discusses the patterns on "how" individual characteristics, organisational and institutional factors shape academic researchers' engagement with non-academic external partners.

Chapter six is the conclusion chapter of the thesis. This section focuses on reviewing the research question developed for the thesis based on the results obtained and discussed in the previous chapter. Another section is dedicated to discussion on the limitations of the study and suggestions for future research. The last section in the chapter provides practical implications and recommendations of the thesis to policymakers, university managers, practitioners, and academics.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

This chapter reviews existing literature pertinent to the key components of this study, structured into three main sections. Section 2.2 explores the concept of academic engagement, defining the term and discussing its types, determinants, motivations, barriers, and benefits. This sets the stage for understanding how academic researchers interact with their scholarly environment. Section 2.3 addresses academic freedom, examining its conceptualization in the literature, the limits placed on it in research contexts, the influence of external actors on researchers' academic freedom, and the relationship between academic freedom and academic engagement.

2.2 Academic Engagement

Extant literature has frequently discussed knowledge transferring from universities to industry from the perspective of technology transfer. This perspective has historically focused on the commercialization of knowledge (Pekşen et al., 2021). However, this narrow focus has been broadened to encompass all other knowledge interaction mechanisms of "academic engagement" that universities utilize in their external activities (Perkmann et al., 2013). In this thesis, academic engagement refers to "knowledge-related collaboration by academic researchers with non-academic organisations" (Perkmann et al., 2013: 424). Essentially, academic engagement involves a "person-to-person interaction" (Cohen et al. 2002) consisting of academic researchers and individual stakeholders from external organisations, such as business firms, policymakers, practitioners, non-governmental/charity organisations, and the public (Perkmann et al., 2021).

Academic engagement consists of several activities distinguished by their interaction channels. On the one hand, *informal engagement activities* are knowledge transfer mechanisms for less formal communication with external organisations (Link et al., 2007). These activities include attending meetings, giving talks and public lectures, information exchanges at practitioner conferences or other occasions. These informal engagement activities are often based on trust, as no contractual agreement is established between academic researchers and their industry counterparts when building such relationships (Bodas Freitas et al., 2013). On the other hand, *formal engagement activities*, including contract research, explore technology transfer mechanisms, such as patents, and spin-offs, with external partners for commercial gain (Grimpe & Hussinger, 2013).

Informal engagement activities tend to occur more frequently than formal activities, and informal activities further help improve the quality of relationships between patterns during formal activities (Grimpe & Hussinger, 2013). Also, it is common to see both informal and formal engagement happening simultaneously (Siegel et al., 2003). Similarly to how strategic academic engagement is related to socio-economic development, policymakers and university managers have shown interest in the need for academic researchers to engage more with external partners. Aside from the fact that universities may generate additional funds through such engagement (Czerwińska-Lubszczyk et al., 2020), it is also a means to exhibit their legitimacy by engaging in research that will impact wider society (Perkmann et al., 2013).

There are numerous benefits that academic engagement brings to the collaborating partners. Such benefits include facilitating advancement in research (Bhullar et al., 2019; D'Este & Perkmann, 2011), providing researchers access to resources (Franco & Haase, 2015; Tartari & Breschi, 2012), and provision for post-graduate student mentoring by industry partitioners (Sun & Turner, 2023). Other studies have also noted that it could offer opportunities to generate scientific research ideas/questions, exploit new research opportunities, or even test research theories and findings in a more applied context (Bodas Freitas et al., 2013; Figueiredo & Ferreira, 2022). Some studies further investigate what motivates academic researchers to engage with other non-academic actors. These studies suggest that academics are motivated by individuals' ambitions to advance their research, prosocial motivation (that is, the ambition to contribute to society), or the pecuniary motivation of the monetary benefits that may come with engaging with partners from outside academia (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022). In addition, opportunities to gain status or raise their academic profile motivates researchers to engage with external partners (Dietz & Bozeman, 2005; Siegel et al., 2004).

Evidence from the literature has shown that despite the potential benefits of academic engagement, such initiatives may fail to achieve their underlying goals and objectives. There are many reasons why collaborations do not meet expected goals and objectives. Management issues is one of the reasons cited in extant literature why these goals may not be achieved because "public research institutes and private industry are characterised by highly divergent missions, organisational structures and management systems" (Abramo et al., 2009; 503). Hence, academic researchers may fear that collaborating with an external partner could result in conflict issues. For instance, issues like "when" and "how" research results should be disseminated, and whether the orientation of the research should be directed towards producing publications (which will benefit the academic researcher more) or if it should be tilted towards the commercial interest of the industry partner (David, 2004). This is often the case as the interest of the industry partner is usually to commodify knowledge, which may be detrimental to the researcher's academic freedom to freely conduct and disseminate research

results (Collyer, 2015; Welsh et al., 2008). For individual researchers to meet their expected goals in engagement, they need a significant degree of professional autonomy to pursue their research agenda; they need to be self-motivated and not be subjected to "command and control" (Perkmann et al., 2013). Beyond these challenges, a well-managed academic engagement system has the propensity to be beneficial to both parties involved as it "allows firms and universities to tap into complementary skills of each other and thus potentially help with saving cost and enhancing research outcomes" (Hemmert et al., 2014: 605).

Recent studies have emphasized challenges faced during interaction between collaborating partners from academia and non-academia. Issues such as industry partners' "unrealistic expectations" and "conflicting timelines" are often at variance with those of academic researchers (Austin et al., 2021). These issues also include cultural differences, managing systemic barriers (such as finance and knowledge), and the modalities for improving cognitive and affective trust (Rossoni et al., 2023). Differences in goals, interests and incentives may form a communication gap between university researchers and their industry partners (Nasirov & Joshi, 2023). Effective ways collaborating partners can manage their differences in goals have also been suggested (Canhoto et al., 2016). One of those proposed is that at the early stage of collaboration, universities and their external partners should start with smaller projects before extending them into larger projects to enable them to gain more experience and familiarise themselves with partners (Wit-de Vries et al., 2019).

Contextually, because of variability in the different types and forms of academic engagement, it may not be easy to generalise what leads to a successful collaboration (Sun & Turner, 2023). The way academic researchers interact with other non-academic external partners varies across countries, disciplines, and academic fields (Jong et al., 2022). Investigation into the different types of these interactions, particularly within social science and humanities (Olmos-Peñuela et al., 2014) and within medical and engineering fields (O'Dwyer et al., 2023) have been reported. In the next section, the different types and channels of academic engagement will be explored to generate insight into some of the complexities surrounding academic engagement, as elaborated above.

2.2.1 Types and channels of academic engagement

Table 2.1 is a summary of how and why academic researchers interact with external partners. The "how" column focuses on the various types of informal activities of academic engagement activities as identified by Perkmann et al. (2021), which include collaborative research, contract research and consulting, while those informal activities are informal contacts/advice, training of personnel, placement/supervision of students, industry fundings, joint publication, conferences and workshops,

membership in advisory boards, joint creation of physical facilitates; and work with standardisation bodies. It also comprises formal activities which are essentially commercially driven, such as patents and spin-offs (Lawson et al., 2016).

All these formal and informal activities are then grouped together based on the four channels of interaction as suggested by Dutrénit and Arza, (2010). These channels of interaction between academic researchers and external partners (in this case, industry) include traditional, services, commercial and bi-directional channels. The distinguishing characteristic of these channels is also presented in Table 2.1. The last column also provides a basis for "why" academic researchers will engage with industry specifically related to the different forms of interaction and the associated channels identified. As identified by D'Este et al. (2019), academic researchers are motivated to engage with industry based on their preferences and motives. On the one hand, some are relationally motivated groups of researchers, which refers to those whose motivation for engagement is based on the need to acquire knowledge-driven, non-commercial benefits to enhance their research. Academic engagement activities that interest these people are those within the following three channels: traditional, services, and bi-directional. On the other hand, there is a transactionally motivated group of researchers whose participation in external engagement is for commercial benefits. These groups of researchers are motivated to engage with industry to patent their research or create a spin-off firm to test their research outputs' proof-of-concept (Battaglia et al., 2021). Further analysis of all these activities is discussed in detail in the following sub-sections.

How	Why		
Forms of interactions	Channel	Channel characteristics	Motivation for interaction
Joint/Collaborative Research Contract research Industry funding Joint creation of physical facilities	Bi-directional	 Both academic researchers and industry partners jointly provide knowledge resources. Interaction is usually on a long-term basis. 	Relational (personal based)
Patents	Commercial	 Interactions are motivated by an attempt to commercialise the scientific outcomes already produced by academic researchers Require formal contractual agreement. 	Transactional (commercially driven)
Informal contacts/advice Academic Consulting Training of personnel Internships placement/supervision of PhD students, membership of advisory boards	Services	 Includes the provision of scientific and technological services in exchange for money. Interaction is usually on a short-term basis. 	Relational (personal based)
Conferences and seminars Joint Publications	Traditional	• Related to traditional ways, the industry benefits from academic researchers' informal activities.	Relational (personal based)

 Table 2.1: Various forms and channels of academic engagement

Source: Adapted from (D'Este et al., 2019; Dutrénit & Arza, 2010; Perkmann et al., 2021)

Joint/Collaborative Research

Joint or collaborative research, is a formal inter-organisational channel of engagement between universities and non-academic external partners which forms a cooperative agreement between both parties to conduct a research and development (R&D) project together (D'Este & Perkmann, 2011). Evidence shows that joint research collaboration positively impacts individual researchers' performance in terms of scholarly publications outputs (Lee & Bozeman, 2005). This claim has also been substantiated in a study by Abramo et al. (2009), as collaborative research with non-academic external partners provides complementary assets to academic researchers in the university. These assets play a critical role in advancing knowledge. When comparing collaborative research formed between university researchers only, between academic researchers and industry, or between the academic researchers with other non-academic external partners such as government bodies at the national, state or local government levels, or with organised interest groups such as charitable organisations, Landry et al., (1996) provided evidence that collaboration between academic researchers and non-academic external partners has a more significant impact on researcher performance.

Performance indicators measuring the success of joint research projects between universities and nonacademic external partners, as provided by Albats et al. (2018), include the number of resources that the partner allocated to a collaborative research project, the efficiency of the management structure in the collaboration, which stipulates their roles and responsibilities, and the number of innovations beneficial to industry firms in collaboration with the university. Managing autonomy in a joint research project has also been raised, which is critical to a successful interaction (Zalewska-Kurek & Harms, 2020). Recent studies also show that researchers with strategic research agendas geared towards gaining prestige among peers and discovering novel and ground-breaking research breakthroughs are more eager to participate in joint research (Santos et al., 2022).

Contract Research

Contract research is a form of interaction where firms explicitly commission projects by university researchers based on research areas of direct commercial relevance to the firm (D'Este & Perkmann, 2011). This type of interaction is performed mainly by research groups (Schmoch, 1999). Recent studies have also provided evidence on the conditions (e.g. academic researchers with high-ability to conduct academic research and have high academic publications) that business firms and other non-academic external partners consider as a basis for hiring academic researchers for engagement in contract research projects (Martínez & Parlane, 2023; Rijnsoever & Hessels, 2021; Shen et al., 2022).

Bozeman & Gaughan (2007) surveyed 1564 individual academic researchers, selected from universities in the United States, to investigate how the grants and contracts sourced from industry and government determine individual researchers' level of involvement with industrial research. Their results show that individual academic researchers' propensity to work with industry partners on a project is subject to the availability of grants and contracts that the industry will provide. In addition, contracts from government bodies, in the form of public grants to a moderate level, can facilitate researchers' willingness to work with the non-academic external partners. This is because government contracts typically seek to promote interaction between academia and non-academic external partners.

Some scholars have argued that academic researchers may sacrifice scholarly research to pursue their commercial goals, especially when the growing share of a university's funding comes from contract research projects with non-academic external partners (Goldfarb, 2008). Studies have also examined the conditions under which firms renew research contracts with researchers. In a collaborative project between academia and non-academic external partners such as industry firms, industry firms will likely renew contract research with academic researchers if they perceive that such projects will facilitate technological knowledge learning or promote co-authorship of academic papers (O'Kane, Haar, et al., 2021).

Industry funding

As a result of the decline in the government's public funds for research in universities (Gulbrandsen & Smeby, 2005), academic researchers are being encouraged to explore external sources to acquire financial resources for their research (Hottenrott & Lawson, 2017). Industry funding refers to financial resources which academic researchers' source from industry or external companies, mainly provided to address problems that the industry is facing (Amara et al., 2013). Aside from the industry, researchers could derive external funding for their research endeavours from research granting councils, foundations, government (public) agencies, and international funding organisations such as the European Union (Gulbrandsen & Smeby, 2005). The private sector supports university research by providing industry funding during university-industry collaboration (Perkmann et al., 2013). Industry funding is, thus, vital to academic researchers because it enables them to maintain and expand their research programs while also facilitating them to contribute to advancing technology and scientific innovations for societal benefits (Bozeman & Gaughan, 2007). Also, industry funding offers academic researchers' various channels to engage with the industry (De Fuentes & Dutrénit, 2012; D'Este & Patel, 2007).

Academic researchers who acquire industry funding tend to collaborate more with other researchers within the university community or with external non-academic partners such as industry (Gulbrandsen & Smeby, 2005). Also, academic researchers who can acquire industry funding are more likely to be involved in consulting with industry partners (Arvanitis et al., 2008; Boardman & Ponomariov, 2009; Bruneel et al., 2010). Meanwhile, Hottenrott & Thorwarth (2011) opined that though one could say that academic researchers engage in consulting and contract research in exchange for accessing funding support from the industry, there is still limited evidence as to the direct influence of industry funding on university research practice.

Existing literature has shown mixed evidence on the implications of industry funding for academic research practice, particularly within the context of academic engagement. For this reason, some scholars have called for academic researchers to apply caution before engaging in industry-funded research, as there is documented evidence of research abuses and unethical practices in some industries (Louderback et al., 2021). Evidence of such abuses has been reported in research concerning the tobacco industry (Tong & Glantz, 2007), pharmaceutical industry (Goldacre, 2014), food and nutrition industry (Chartres et al., 2016), sugar industry (Kearns et al., 2016) and in the gambling industry (Louderback et al., 2021). This further buttress the idea that the source of funding could influence researchers' behaviour and research output because different selection and evaluation criteria characterise funding sources and, in some cases require that researchers realign their research to suit the external funders requirement (Gulbrandsen & Smeby, 2005).

Some studies have examined how industry funding could impact on supervision of PhD students. There is the claim that, in Australia, postgraduate students whose doctoral research was funded by the industry are more satisfied with their research than students whose doctoral research was funded by the government through the award of public scholarships and grants (Harman, 2001). Within the same Australian context, however, another study argues that academic researchers in the science and technology field reported that industry funding restricts their research autonomy more than government-funded projects (Harman, 2002). PhD supervisors have also reported issues of conflict of interest as industry partners funding the PhD research project tend to influence the project's scope, making students not feel as much ownership of their research work (Malfroy, 2011). When compared to government funding, industry funding was found to be more conducive for researchers to produce innovative research outputs (Thursby & Thursby, 2011). In a large-scale study conducted on 1690 doctoral students in Danish universities whose doctoral projects were funded by external funding acquired by the PhD supervisors, Wichmann-Hansen & Herrmann (2017) show that the PhD supervisors have more of an influence than industry partners in the direction of PhD students' research projects. This influence was reported to be prevalent among PhD students in health science, with no

impact on those in natural sciences. In contrast, the influence is ambiguous for humanities and social sciences students. Due to the ambiguity in the impact of industry funding on research, it is imperative to discuss how existing literature views the benefits and costs of industry funding.

On the positive side, extant literature has shown that academic researchers who were able to acquire industry funding are more productive in terms of research outcomes (e.g. increase in publications) as they have more financial resources to procure research equipment materials and hire more supporting research staff (Gulbrandsen & Smeby, 2005). In terms of producing innovative, commercially driven research outputs such as patents, spinoffs, and other commercial-related results, including opportunities for consulting services, there is a significant positive correlation between industry funding and collaboration (Gregorio & Shane, 2003). This is because industry partners will most likely be interested in funding more commercially driven research, which is helpful for university researchers in their goals to be entrepreneurial. Other studies posit that receiving industry funding does not affect academic researchers' tendencies to create spinoff companies (Boardman & Ponomariov, 2009). The study conducted by Hottenrott & Thorwarth (2011) also shows no effect on the number of patents, though noting that such funding could impact citations per patent. A further explanation by Hottenrott & Thorwarth (2011) also shows no effect on the number of patents, though noting that such funding could impact citations per patent. A further explanation by Hottenrott & Thorwarth (2011) also shows no effect on the number of patents, though noting that such funding could impact citations per patent. A further explanation by Hottenrott & Thorwarth (2011) is that industry funding influences novelty and quality of research.

On the negative impacts of industry funding, some studies have suggested that industry funding can lead to reduced publications and that this situation happens when industry funding constitutes a higher share of a researcher's budget (Hottenrott & Thorwarth, 2011). The reason put forward is that academic researchers may not be able to publish more in the subsequent year due to a "skewing problem" where, for example, industry funding tends to favour some research areas which may not align with academic researchers own research agenda. This action could have a detrimental effect on the development of science as publication is considered one of the means through which knowledge is disseminated to society (Hottenrott & Thorwarth, 2011). Evidence exists that industry-sponsored research could lead to delay in publication and could also lead to secrecy, withholding of research results, or even imposing a ban on publication (Blumenthal et al., 2006; Czarnitzki, Grimpe, & Pellens, 2015; Czarnitzki, Grimpe, & Toole, 2015; Hong & Walsh, 2009). Based on a report by Gans & Murray (2011), gathered from data on contract terms that industry sponsors provide in the funding agreement to academic researchers, most of the contract documents reviewed show that they contain clauses on restriction and withholding of research information that they consider confidential. Thus, academic researchers must be mindful of such clauses when signing agreements on industry-sponsored research projects to prevent problems associated with disseminating and communicating research results.

Some studies do not agree that industry funding could lead to the skewing problem, or suggest that its effect is not too profound, but in fact may be the opposite. For instance, some studies argue that

academic researchers who receive funding from the industry and collaborate with industry partners produce more publications (Blumenthal et al., 1996; Callaert et al., 2015; Gulbrandsen & Smeby, 2005). Industry funding, for example, increases the chances of academic researchers to co-publish with industry partners (Boardman & Ponomariov, 2009). Industry funding could also indirectly benefit academic researchers to expand their social network, considering that funding opportunities often demand collaboration between researchers and the industry partner (Defazio et al., 2009). This is further supported by Boardman & Ponomariov (2009) as they suggest that industry funding increases the propensity of academic researchers to initiate contact with industry partners concerning their research or to show interest in being engaged in paid consulting services (D'Este et al., 2013; Fudickar et al., 2018; Jensen et al., 2010; Yegros-Yegros et al., 2016).

Another pertinent concern of the negative implication of industry funding on research practice is the case of the gambling industry. Sismondo (2008) have criticised that receiving funding from the gambling industry could bring bias to the practice of research and its integrity, which academics are known for, because the gambling industry will want researchers to produce results that will not present the gambling industry in a negative light. There are opposing arguments that receiving funding may not bring bias to academic research practice in this industry but benefit researchers if adequately managed (Collins et al., 2020; Kim et al., 2016). In a recent study, Louderback et al. (2021) suggested a helpful guideline for ensuring open science practice in gambling industry-funded research, which they termed "Guidelines for Research Independence and Transparency (GRIT)".

Joint creation of physical facilities

Interaction between academia and external partners often involves both parties collaborating to establish physical facilities to enhance their research activities and promote commercialisation (D'Este & Patel, 2007; Zhao et al., 2020). Such activities grouped under creation of physical facilities include "setting up spin-off companies, campus laboratories, incubators and cooperative research centres" (D'Este & Patel, 2007: 1301). Since these structures (laboratories, research centres and incubators) are highly capital-intensive and may be beyond the financial capacity of the university, interacting with external partners allows universities to overcome these barriers to accessing such facilities (Carayol & Matt, 2004; Dias & Selan, 2023). Recent studies have shown that cross-sectoral partnership between the academic researchers and non-academic external partners, particularly in utilization of physical infrastructural facilities, play a significant role in the dynamics of innovation ecosystems (Dzhengiz & Patala, 2024).

Several studies have explored the mechanisms for the creation of physical facilities. Innovation labs were found to serve as organisational catalysts for attaining innovation capacity development, and as a result a reference framework for assessing the maturity level of innovation labs has been developed (Schiuma & Santarsiero, 2023). Another study conducted using multiple case studies on chief executives and founders of 32 start-ups who have accessed incubator and other physical infrastructural facilities in the United Kingdom, reveals that availability of viable entrepreneurial ecosystems consisting of infrastructure and services (e.g incubators and accelerators), sharing of resources and formation of collaborations with companies, and universities, connection to science and technology parks and companies are critical knowledge spillovers platforms start-up companies use for product innovation (Cuvero et al., 2023).

In the context of Finland, Höyssä et al., (2004), investigated how the first biotechnology centre building "BioCity" in Turku, Finland emerged and found out that formation of a new kind of cross-sectoral collaboration between academia and non-academic external partners played an important role in the conceptualisation and creation of the BioCity. Similarly, using a case study approach where 59 semistructured interviews were conducted to assess four Smart State Institutes created within the University of Queensland, Australia, findings shows that government policy (both federal and state levels), university managers' strategy, and participation of academic researchers played a significant role in the creation of these four institutes (Dodgson & Staggs, 2012). With respect to empirical study conducted on some countries in Asia, Latin America and Caribbean, it was revealed that investment in R&D enabling infrastructural facility positively influenced innovation (Qureshi et al., 2021).

Comparing determinants of innovation performance within 63 countries selected purposefully using data collected in the Global Innovation Index (GII), results reveal that creation of physical facilities in universities was among the key determinants that differentiate countries with higher innovation performance (Bate et al., 2023). Based on interview data gathered from 197 researchers based in Italian universities to assess their collaborative activities, findings show that creation of physical facility was among the channel of collaboration between academia and non-academia (Muscio & Vallanti, 2014). Some scholars have also argued that due to high degree of its difficulty, creation of physical facilities is among the least used channels by academic researchers to collaborate with non-academic external partners. For instance, citing high level of difficulty as a reason, Tartari et al., (2014) in their study on academic engagement found that only 17% of academic researchers were involved in activities like creation of physical facilities (e.g laboratories) with industry partners. Another survey conducted on collaborative activities of 564 university scientists in China reveals that academic researchers face a high degree of difficulty using industry funding to create new physical facilities (Zhao et al., 2020).

Patents

Licensing university patents by industry partners has been identified as one of the forms academic researchers collaborate with non-academic external partners and in particular with industry (Chryssou, 2020; Crescenzi et al., 2017; Murgia, 2018). However, potential conflicts over patents can constitute barriers to collaboration between universities and industry (Rossoni et al., 2023). Therefore, depending on the fundamental goal of forming engagement between academic researchers and non-academic external partners, patents are a critical indicator for measuring such engagement's success (Albats et al., 2018). Patents offer inventors an exclusive right and proprietary advantage to inventors for about 20 years (Van De Vrande et al., 2024) though this does vary. The progress in technology development achieved through collaboration between academic researchers and non-academic esternal partners is measured by the number of filed and granted patents, whether jointly owned or owned by a single collaborating partner, which also indicates the significance of university research for industry (Albats et al., 2018).

Extant literature claims a shift in patenting as a form of collaboration, which was commonly associated with fields such as engineering, "however, current trend towards higher accountability in academia means that a broader range of practice engagement is required and that this requirement now applies to social sciences as well" (Ryazanova & Jaskiene, 2022: 6). Historically, the enactment of the Bayh-Dole Act in 1980, an American law encouraging universities with federal funding to produce patents, is credited as the primary factor behind the expansion of collaboration between academia and industry (Mowery et al., 2015; Mowery & Sampat, 2005). Following these changes, other countries introduced similar legislation, leading to the rise in the creation of Technology Transfer Offices (TTOs) in various universities across these countries (Belitski et al., 2019; Bolzani et al., 2021; O'Kane, Cunningham, et al., 2021).

Informal contacts/advice

In a knowledge interaction, informal contacts refer to a medium of information exchange (such as contacts made through the phone and emails) between academic researchers and external partners, often used for seeking advice or making enquiries (Arvanitis et al., 2008). These informal contact channels are personal channels through which firms occasionally access public researchers to obtain informal advice (Faulkner & Senker, 1994). Informal contact between researchers from the university and their industry partners is a vital means of interaction beyond just a channel for exchanging information. Still, they can also facilitate inter-sectoral joint/collaborative research (Ponomariov & Craig Boardman, 2008). Recent studies emphasise how informal contacts and advice are relevant to

building confidence, trust, and meaningful relationships among collaborating partners (Tootell et al., 2021; Wit-de-Vries et al., 2019), which could also lead to knowledge-creation opportunities over time (Canhoto et al., 2016).

Academic Consulting

Academic consulting refers to the situation where non-academic partners directly engage with individual academics who help to solve problems that they face in their organisations (Sengupta & Rossi, 2023). Compared to other types of academic engagement, academic consulting seems to be the activity that academic researchers engage in the most (D'Este & Patel, 2007; Rentocchini et al., 2014). To facilitate more insight into the typology of academic consulting, Perkmann & Walsh (2008) categorised academic consulting into three types: opportunity-driven, commercialisation-driven, and research-driven. Based on the Perkmann & Walsh (2008) description of these types of academic consulting, opportunity-driven consulting is associated with researchers whose motive for interaction with non-academic external partner is to generate income. This type of relationship is typically shortterm in nature and the type of knowledge produced is usually openly accessible. In the case of commercialization-driven consulting, researchers' motives for such interaction with non-academic external partner is generally for technology development. Such relationships are through joint projects and in terms of knowledge sharing, this is common among researchers with tacit expertise. Researcher-driven consulting is mostly engaged in by researchers whose motive for interacting with non-academic external partner is to explore research opportunities. This kind of relationship is often long-term in nature, and the type of knowledge involved in such consulting is commonly of the strategic judgment type.

According to Perkmann & Walsh (2008), consulting is at the discretion of individual researchers, a decision often based on personal motivation. Furthermore, the authors infer that researchers are motivated towards consulting based on specific reasons: (i) income that can be generated through it, (ii) it offers an opportunity for them to commercialise their inventions, and (iii) researchers need to form more viable research opportunities, e.g. to expand their social network. Driven by the opportunities to apply research knowledge to practice, academic consulting serves as a vital means to transfer knowledge between public and private but may negatively affect academic research practices and the dissemination of knowledge (Fudickar et al., 2018). Academic consulting may be a channel for sourcing additional funding for researchers or departments to procure laboratory equipment or enable researchers to network with their counterparts in private firms (Azoulay et al., 2009). Sengupta & Rossi

(2023) stated that researchers can generate income from consulting services based on contractually agreed fees with the external partner who engages them.

Some authors (Bozeman & Gaughan, 2007) have argued that even though consulting services can generate income for researchers, this should not be misinterpreted as another form of university funding stream. Their reason is that consulting is often a form of the bilateral agreement reached between non-academic external partners and individual researchers, and, as a result, it is a way that researchers could source additional funding to meet their personal research costs, and may not lead to an increase in income for the university. Bianchini et al., (2016) argue that consulting is time-consuming and may lead to trade-offs in researchers' commitment to research. There are concerns that consulting activities with non-academic external public and private partners could impact research outcomes in terms of publications or even lead to researchers exiting academia for a better opportunity in the practice domain (Fudickar et al., 2018). A deeper explanation for why researchers may leave academic research for full-time consulting may be due to either the non-relevance of consulting activities to the research or time constraints preventing them from pursuing research that could lead to publications (Hottenrott & Lawson, 2017).

Training of personnel

Training of personnel has been found as one of the variety of channels (alongside joint research, consulting and contract research) that academic researchers engage with non-academic external partners (D'Este & Patel, 2007; Schartinger et al., 2002). Shortage of human capital skilled in the promotion of research and development (R&D) activities constitute the biggest challenge to innovation (Bate et al., 2023). Through joint programmes, academic researchers and non-academic external partners often engage in training to upgrade the capacity of their human resources (Caloghirou et al., 2021). Within the context of academic engagement, training of personnel refers to academic researchers offering teaching services to employees of the organisation, doctoral students from university undertaking postgraduate training in industry, and academic researchers on secondments to industry including university playing host to researchers from industry (Bruneel et al., 2010; Muscio & Vallanti, 2014; Nelson et al., 2024; Olmos-Peñuela et al., 2014).

The rationale for personnel training is often to build knowledge capacity in employees from nonacademic external partner or researchers alike, hence academia and non-academia explore collaboration to address this gap. O'Dwyer et al., (2023) gave an instance where academia organises in-house technical meetings and trainings for their academic researchers because they lack significant understanding of the technical (science and engineering) challenges of industry's manufacturing

process. In such trainings workshops, paper presentations are made by experts drawn both academia and industry who possess more experience in this area of knowledge. There are also instances where industry partners offer opportunities for academic researchers and postgraduate students from universities to engage in practical research in their laboratories for a specific period or engage in industry-specific projects to enable academic researchers upgrade their knowledge of manufacturing process (O'Dwyer et al., 2023). Regular training between academia and non-academia have been identified to build trust between both actors (researchers and external collaborators), and this is critical for initiating other channels of interactions such as joint research, contract research or consulting over time (Ankrah & AL-Tabbaa, 2015; Sherwood & Covin, 2008). To foster more engagement with the public through designing studies with broader impacts for societal benefits, organisations like the Centre for Advancing Research Impact in Society (USA) organise training events for academic researchers (Drummond Otten & Fischhoff, 2022).

Extant literature has shown the effect of training on academic engagement. Olmos-Peñuela et al., (2014) found that academic researchers belonging to research groups having a strong focus on attaining societal impact and relevance through their research have the tendency to engage in training with non-academic external partners. There is also evidence that academic researchers working in research groups in the field of social sciences and humanities that are headed by researchers with the status of full professors engage more in training activities with non-academic external partners (Olmos-Peñuela et al., 2014). However, Schartinger et al., (2002) argues that the department size that an academic researcher belong significantly impacts the intensity of their training activities with non-academic external partners. Furthermore, it was also argued that academic researchers in the fields of social sciences are more interested in organising lectures and offering training courses for industry employees (Schartinger et al., 2002). Another study has argued that academic researchers who were trained by industry partners during the "lvory Tower" historical era of university when academic engagement was of less relevance, are likely to develop norms considered to be problematic towards engaging with non-academic partners subsequently (Bercovitz & Feldman, 2008).

Internship Placement/Joint supervision

In an interaction between the university and industry partners, the role of doctoral students is vital. In this type of relationship, either as a student or after graduation, these individuals strategically foster linkage with external partners (Thune, 2009). Doctoral students constitute part of the producers of knowledge within the academic community; they are also considered as a constituent of knowledge distribution, and lastly, as active nodes for networks that link university and industry together when

engaged in industry-sponsored PhD research projects (Plantec et al., 2023). Lee & Miozz (2015) explain that collaboration between university and industry allows doctoral or post-doctoral students a placement opportunity in the industry as in the "industry-based PhD" program structure. According to Wang et al., (2016), knowledge interaction between universities and industry partners enhances the research and learning capacity of the university lecturer and student while it also helps solve industry problems. The quality of supervision a PhD student receives from their PhD supervisor during a collaborative research project significantly impacts how the PhD student perceives its success (Butcher & Jeffrey, 2007).

Having stated the vital role that supervision of students plays in collaboration, there are concerns about how students can cope with working in this environment, which demands a particular form of socialising. There is a divergent perspective on how scholars perceive this issue. For instance, a study conducted by Slaughter et al., (2002) observed that because PhD students involved in collaborative research with industry are exposed to a value system different from the university systems they come from, they are likely to face some problems in their research. However, other scholars believe such problems can be mitigated and pose no challenge to the PhD student if joint supervisory support is drawn from the university and industry (Salminen-Karlsson & Wallgren, 2008). A recent study conducted by Reymert and Thune (2022) suggests a significant positive relationship between knowledge interaction with external partners and supervision of students. Their study provided evidence that, unlike collaboration with industry partners, research collaborations with public sector organisations support student placement. Their reason for this claim is that because public sector research collaborations are mostly research projects that are long-term based, they, therefore, offer more time-based opportunities for students to pursue research.

Membership of advisory boards

Membership in advisory boards refers to a situation where academic researchers are constituted into the advisory board of a firm to provide their expert services (Hooi & Wang, 2020). Academics may take advisory roles in the management board or the scientific advisory board that many science and technology-driven companies establish. In such cases, according to Jacobsson & Vico (2010), the academics' advisory role includes providing knowledge during policy formulation and technical advice to government and industry actors alike during the design and implementation of a research-oriented project. Also, membership of academics in such boards is said to be useful as it serves to provide advisory support and render expert opinions on a project (Hooi & Wang, 2020). In addition to this, Bjørnåli & Gulbrandsen (2010) posit that because experienced academics (e.g. professors with years of experience in the academic community) tend to have a vast network cutting across academic and practitioner spheres, they become a valuable addition as a member of such boards. Academics with broad networks within academia capable of attracting critical external resources are sometimes constituted as members of boards in entrepreneurial companies (Bjørnåli & Gulbrandsen, 2010).

Conferences/seminars

One of the interaction channels through which academic researchers contribute to industry-based R&D is their attendance at conferences, workshops and meetings sponsored or organised by industry partners (Cohen et al., 2002; D'Este & Patel, 2007). In these knowledge interactions, academic researchers share their academic knowledge by presenting research papers and giving public lectures at such events (Abreu & Grinevich, 2013). Studies have also shown that academic engagement does not have a negative impact on academic researchers' communication of their research findings at conferences or workshops (Welsh et al., 2008) but that it has a positive impact on them as it facilitates them to expand their networks and as a result their participation in further conference and workshop events (Sun & Turner, 2023).

Joint publications

Gonzalez-Brambila et al. (2013) refer to joint publication as co-publication/co-authorship between partners involved in a collaborative project. Genest and Thibault (2001) posit that joint publications, also known as co-authorship, are a product of the collaboration between interrelated authors involved in a research project. Joint publications in academic journals frequently result from research collaborations between academic and industry partners (McKelvey & Rake, 2020). Using social network analysis to investigate collaboration and co-authorship patterns in finance, Samitas and Kampouris (2018) infer from their research that co-authorship networks are well integrated and that this network size has continued to expand over the years. Based on this outcome, they affirm that not only does interaction among individual researchers and their external collaborating partners facilitate the promotion of innovation and increase their research performance, but it also increases the quality of papers they publish from such interactions. Bidault and Hildebrand (2014) noted that the benefits and cost of joint publications, especially at the individual levels, have raised a critical question as yet unsolved – "Does collaboration lead to a better publication"? As part of the benefits, the authors believe that jointly publishing a paper can facilitate a greater volume of research productivity. For instance, some studies have revealed that articles jointly published by research teams are more cited than those published by a single author (Wuchty et al., 2007).

2.2.2 Determinants of Academic Engagement

Identifying the determinants of academic engagement helps us to understand why academic researchers may be willing to engage with external partners. For instance, Atta-Owusu & Fitjar (2022) stated that three motivational factors are important in determining why academic researchers will engage with external partners. First is the *research advancement motivation* (e.g. gaining new insights in their area of research), prosocial *motivation* (ambition to promote the practical application of research in addressing societal problems), and *pecuniary motivation* (to secure personal income).

Further, the analytical framework of these determinants has been articulated in two systematic literature reviews by Perkmann et al., (2013; 2021) which provide evidence of the interplay between these broader factors and offer a more nuanced understanding of both antecedents and consequences of academic engagement. In this regard, as shown in Figure 2.1, the three major determinants of academic engagement as identified by Perkmann et al., (2021) can be classified as:

- Individual characteristics., i.e. demographics attributes such as gender, prior experience, research productivity, research quality, and life cycle effects.
- Organisational and relational context, i.e., organisational support, formal incentives, university/departmental quality, and peer effects.
- Institutional context i.e., academic discipline, regulation, public policy, and international comparison.

In Figure 2.1, the dashed line indicates factors that require further research because existing evidence is limited, conflicting or ambiguous. In contrast, continuous lines represent factors with sufficient evidence and convergence in existing literature (Perkmann et al., 2021).


Figure 2.1: An analytical framework of academic engagement

Source: (Perkmann et al., 2021: p.8)

Individual characteristics

The literature has thoroughly examined academic engagement, identified individual characteristics as an antecedent for academic engagement, and found that academic researchers play a pivotal role in engagement with non-academic external collaborators (Clauss et al., 2022; Heng et al., 2020; Perkmann et al., 2021; Sormani & Sijde, 2023; Zhao et al., 2020). Among the individual characteristics, *research quality* and *lifecycle effects* were identified to have been understudied (Perkmann et al., 2021).

Gender is a demographic attribute that has been well-studied in literature. Most studies have shown a relationship between gender and academic engagement (Lawson et al., 2019; Tartari & Salter, 2015). A study conducted on 32,792 Italian professors shows that professors who collaborate more with the industry are primarily male, are more productive in research, and are highly diversified in terms of variety of disciplines (Abramo & D'Angelo, 2022). These results also confirm claims by similar studies conducted in the United Kingdom, where it was reported that male academic researchers collaborate more with industry partners than their female colleagues (Abreu & Grinevich, 2017). Further investigation has also indicated that the number of male academic researchers engaging in contract research and consulting services with non-academic external partners is twice as high as the number of females (Abreu & Grinevich, 2017). However, an earlier study by Lawson et al. (2016) reported that more female researchers than their male counterparts engage with external partners through academic engagement channels such as public engagement, meetings, and informal advice.

Prior experience: Some studies have found a positive link between an individual researcher's previous career experience and the possibility of pursuing academic engagement (Scandura & lammarino, 2022). Past studies that have considered individual-level characteristics argued that academic researchers' behaviour towards academic engagement is positively influenced by the experiences of their past collaborations with industry (D'Este & Patel, 2007). Academic researchers' previous experiences in patenting and other commercialisation activities have also been identified as predictors of their participation in academic engagement (Bekkers & Bodas Freitas, 2008; Scandura & lammarino, 2022). Based on a study conducted on academic researchers in the field of science and engineering in the UK, Tartari & Breschi (2012) argue that academic researchers who have worked with external partners in the past and who have also experience in R&D commercialisation will likely have lower barriers to collaborating with industry partners. Similarly, another study conducted in the UK has shown that depending on the type of academic channel, previous engagement of interacting with industry partners raises the chance of researchers engaging again (Lawson et al., 2016). Extant literature has also shown that academic researchers' tendency to interact with external partners from industry is subject to the extent to which they were involved in industry-funded joint research projects (Bozeman & Gaughan, 2007; Link et al., 2007). The reasoning provided by Ponomariov and Boardman (2008) is that researchers who have successfully attracted industry funding in the past are considered to be experienced and have a better working knowledge of managing research agendas beneficial to the growth of the industry in the past.

Research productivity: Individual academic research productivity has been linked to academic engagement. Extant literature suggests that academic researchers with more publications tend to engage more with industry (Aschoff & Grimpe, 2014; D'Este et al., 2019; Tartari et al., 2014). Studies have found evidence of a positive relationship between research productivity and successful engagement in commercial activities by academic researchers (Azoulay et al., 2009; Lowe & Gonzalez-Brambila, 2007). It is further suggested that the most productive researchers usually engage in joint research with industry (Bekkers & Bodas Freitas, 2008; Crescenzi et al., 2017; Gulbrandsen & Smeby, 2005). The reasoning is that engagement with industry partners expands individual academics' research agendas and exposes them to a pool of new research ideas, thereby boosting their research performance (Banal-Estañol et al., 2015).

Similarly, studies reveal that academic researchers in the physical sciences and engineering fields who are more productive are more actively involved in collaboration with the industry (Jensen et al., 2008). Nelson et al., (2023) argue that it is still unclear if these findings can apply to social science academic researchers. In their assessment of industry engagement by academic researchers in the physical sciences, Perkmann et al. (2021) findings show a positive relationship between research productivity

and a few types of academic engagement, excluding consulting, for which they found a negative association.

Research quality: The research quality of academic researchers is measured in terms of the quality of their publications (Perkmann et al., 2021). Further to this definition, Kifor et al., (2023) explain that the quality of the publication is an indicator of its value, which also reflects the impact factor of the journal where the research is published and also that it provides more information on the researchers' activity, the research group which they belong to, as well as the university and country where they carry out their research activities. Analysis of extant literature has shown ambiguity regarding the effect of research quality on the academic engagement of academic researchers (Tartari et al., 2014; Zi & Blind, 2015). Within the Italian context, Tartari & Breschi (2012) argue that academic researchers' tendency to publish in journals focusing on applied research will positively influence researchers' propensity to collaborate with industry.

In their study on German researchers, Zi & Blind (2015) suggest that academic researchers who publish their research papers in applied and industry-focused journals have a higher tendency to engage in standardisation activities with external organisations. Studies also reported a positive effect of patenting on collaboration with industry (Tartari & Breschi, 2012). Still, such a claim does not universally hold as it was found not applicable when applied to academic researchers in the field of life sciences in some German universities (Aschhoff & Grimpe, 2014).

Life cycle effects: The career life cycle of an academic researcher shows a variation in their research performance, which can be partially attributed to researchers' characteristics (Albats et al., 2018). Extant literature has found evidence of a correlation between the career life cycle of individual academic researchers and their propensity to collaborate with industry partners. It is noted that the impact of age may be non-linear (Weerasinghe & Dedunu, 2020). A report by Abramo & D'Angelo (2022) on 32,792 Italian professors to investigate the impact of individual academic researcher characteristics on their propensity to collaborate with industry reveals that professors in their late-career stage have a higher intensity of collaboration with industry.

Several studies have been conducted to assess how the life cycle effect of academic researchers influences their technology transfer activities. To investigate the technology transfer activity of academic researchers at MIT in the United States within the different age groups, Hayter et al. (2017) found that most entrepreneurs (two-thirds of them) who had successfully created a spin-off company and then later founded a new company achieved this when they were between the age of 28-47 years, while those younger than 28 years and older than 48 years representing 7% and 10% respectively could marginally succeed in doing that at such age.

It is believed that academic researchers at their earlier career stage are more motivated to pursue academic engagement that will lead to publication to achieve career progression (knowledge-driven). In contrast, those in the later career stage will be more motivated to engage in commercially driven activities (Link et al., 2007). Others have also argued that academic researchers in their later career stage are more confident to take the risk associated with research commercialization, as failure in such activity may have less effect on their academic career trajectory (Bercovitz & Feldmann, 2006), therefore, career life cycle could be a predictor of academic engagement (Haeussler, 2011).

Organisational context

Organisational characteristics shape individual academic researchers' cognition and, thus, play a role in influencing their attitude towards external engagement (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022; Zhao et al., 2020).

Support structure: This organisational characteristic is associated with the availability of a university policy that puts in place support structures, e.g. technology transfer offices (TTOs), which provide academic researchers with a medium for technology transfer and diffusion of knowledge activities from the university domain to the external environment (Zhao et al., 2020). Establishment of technology parks, business incubators and industry liaison offices were also identified as supportive structures university managers can provide to stimulate academic researchers to interact with industry (Moraes et al., 2023; Ribeiro & Nagano, 2021; Tootell et al., 2021). Universities with well-structured TTOs positively impact collaboration activities (Phan & Siegel, 2006). This is because the availability of a TTO in a university reduces the influence of "cognitive distance" between academic researchers and their external collaborating partners (Muscio, 2013). Scholars have explained that TTOs serve as a strategic intermediary for knowledge interaction and can also effectively link academic researchers and engineers in the industry by organising sensitization workshops and seminars (Shen et al., 2022).

Arguing from the perspective of academic capitalism, Stuart & Ding (2006) pointed out that universities with such supportive structures tend to influence their academic researchers' willingness to engage in academic engagement positively. However, the absence of such policy initiatives may discourage academic engagement in such universities. Aside from creating TTOs, universities also enable broader participation in academic engagement among academic researchers through far-reaching policies on issues relating to royalties and equity of commercial outputs such as patents (Haeussler et al., 2014; Thursby & Thursby, 2011). Further to the organisational structure university managers provide is the implementation of effective policy framework for income distribution between academic researchers

and the university, generated from commissioned research projects (Link et al., 2007; Ponomariov & Craig Boardman, 2008).

Formal incentives: Higher education managers have introduced several incentives to facilitate academic engagement in their universities (Pinheiro et al., 2015). For instance, incentives such as the university's policy on promotion or pay rises may motivate academic researchers towards engagement with non-academic organisations (Van de Burgwal et al., 2019). However, Jong et al., (2015) believe there are discrepancies between how the universities design these incentives and how academic researchers perceive them as helpful enough to motivate them to engage with external partners. Cases are reported in literature where, despite university managers implementing an incentive system, academic researchers may decide not to initiate external collaborations if they consider such incentives counterproductive for their career progress (Lahikainen et al., 2019).

There is evidence that academic researchers who are motivated by monetary incentives (pecuniary benefit) are more eager to engage with external partners because such engagement will enable them to acquire more financial resources to supplement their income (Clauss et al., 2022; Lam, 2011; Orazbayeva et al., 2020). Therefore, this complementary incentive may motivate academic researchers to pursue academic engagement, especially for academic researchers motivated by the need for more research funding (Sormani et al., 2022). Extant literature has shown ambiguity as to the evidence of the effect of incentive structure as a motivation driver for academic researchers' external engagement. On the one hand, some scholars (Caldera & Debande, 2010; Lach & Schankerman, 2008) believe that universities with incentives are more likely to motivate their academic researchers to pursue commercialisation activities with the industry. On the other hand, others differ as they claim that providing incentives may not motivate researchers but rather make them lose interest in external engagement (Göktepe-Hulten & Mahagaonkar, 2010). This ambiguity may be because most existing studies have focused on incentives from the perspectives of monetary benefits and commercialisation activity as the only type of engagement (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022). However, some recent studies have considered broader incentive mechanisms beyond just monetary incentives. For instance, recent studies such as Van de Burgwal et al. (2019) have identified fairness in university policy as a more functional, non-monetary incentive that academic researchers perceive to motivate them to get involved in external engagement. This claim was further confirmed in a recent study where academic researchers consider fairness in university policy against pecuniary incentives (monetary reward) as a critical motivator for external engagement (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022).

University/departmental quality: As evident in some extant literature, the quality of the university and department where academic researchers work signals how interested an industry partner will be to collaborate. While some studies find departmental quality to have a positive effect on engagement

with industry because departments with higher-quality researchers may likely facilitate their interest in academic engagement (Scheulke-Leech, 2013), some other studies find no effect in the relationship between university research intensity status and academic engagement (Libaers, 2014); or with academic researchers' intentions to engage in commercialisation activities (Johnson et al., 2017). Contrary to this belief, Ponomariov (2008) agrees that although academic quality of a university is widely considered beneficial for ranking status, the higher the average quality of a university, the lower the possibility that an individual academic researcher is likely to engage with the industry. This is because higher-quality departments place more importance on research output and, as a result, are more motivated to engage in "blue sky" research rather than pursue engagement with industry (Ponomariov, 2008). When it comes to serving advisory boards (particularly in the public sector), high individual and high university reputation seem to make it more likely to get in and to engage in this type of activities. Some scholars - economists - find this very attractive as they may have opportunities to influence policies (Hughes et al., 2016; Nelson et al., 2024)

Furthermore, academic researchers more interested in academic research to produce more research outputs envisage that engaging with industry will take more time and resources, thereby distracting them from pursing their research (Calderini et al., 2007). However, D'Este & Perkmann (2011) argue that academic researchers in high-quality departments may be willing to engage in joint research with industry if such interactions will enable them to pursue novel research, source ideas and generate research outputs that are considered publishable in top-rated academic journals. Based on a survey conducted on academic researchers in some departments in UK universities, D'Este et al., (2013) argue that academic researchers' pursuit of academic quality in all departments does not facilitate or deter their engagement with industry partners. The argument for this claim is that at the departmental level, disciplinary differences come into play regarding how researchers will engage and to what extent they are eager to engage. As inferred by Filippetti & Savona (2017) and D'Este & Perkmann (2011) across the disciplines, academic researchers differ in how they will pursue academic engagement with industry based on their perceptions of the potential benefits they will gain if they engage in such interaction. The argument is that such criteria will influence academic researchers' motivation to the extent and type of engagement they would be willing to participate in.

Furthermore, in relation to disciplinary differences, some studies have also examined the link between departmental quality and academic engagement across various disciplines. For instance, some studies have shown that academic researchers from poorly rated departments in the applied sciences discipline often interact more with industry partners (D'Este & Patel, 2007). If the frequency of collaboration is considered, D'Este & lammarino (2010) argue that research quality in the department matters more in the basic sciences than in the applied sciences. A study on researchers in social

sciences suggests that research group size is positively associated with contract research and consulting; however, no association was found with joint research, mobility of personnel, or training (Olmos-Peñuela et al., 2014). A recent study conducted in UK universities shows a negative link between research quality and the extent of engagement with industry for academic researchers in basic sciences departments. At the same time, it recorded a positive link for those in the applied sciences (Scandura & lammarino, 2022).

Geography: A study by Laursen et al., (2011) has shown that locally based R&D intensive firms often consider low-quality universities as the best partner to engage with. This indicates that the "geographical proximity" of such a university may as well be of importance to the collaborating industrial partner (especially for small-medium scale enterprises) regardless of the lower-ranking status of such universities (Apa et al., 2021; Dabić et al., 2020; Love & Ganotakis, 2013). Distance between partners plays a significant factor during collaboration. Within the Italian context, Berbegal-Mirabent and Sabate (2015) reported that the proximity of a researcher's university to an industry or business firm influences the possibility of engaging with them.

Peer effects: For academic researchers deciding to be entrepreneurs, peer effect is seen as an influencing factor(Moog et al., 2015). Using the social comparison mechanism, Tartari et al., (2014) suggest that the peer effect can significantly influence the propensity of academic researchers' engagement in collaboration. The reason is that academic researchers seek inspiration and social approval from their peers, and researchers' external engagement patterns may vary along their career path, which reflects the choices made in the research group they belong to in the department.

Peer effect has been linked to influence academic researchers' intent in creating spin-offs. Aside from other knowledge commercialisation mechanism in external engagement such as consulting activities, contract research with industry partner and patenting, spin-offs are considered the most important and viable channel for academic researchers to commercialise university research (Landry et al., 2006). A recent study of 533 German and Swiss academic researchers in the life sciences finds that the peer effect influences academic researchers' intention to create spin-offs in their universities (Houweling & Wolff, 2020). The reasoning provided by Houweling & Wolff (2020) is that due to the accumulation of experience, a senior academic researcher who founded a spin-off can serve as a role model for younger academic researchers who wish to create a spin-off from their research output.

An earlier study conducted on 355 biotechnology researchers in German universities reveals that a positive influence of co-authorship with researchers from industry partners positively influences academic researchers' intention at universities towards establishing spin-offs. Their finding thus supports peer effect as an organisational determinant for viable academic engagement. The number

of patents a university has recorded was identified as a signal for measuring academic researchers' readiness to create spin-offs (Houweling & Wolff, 2020). Most universities have been found to rarely make an effort to transform their patents into spin-offs, and such practices are common among basic researchers (Ito et al., 2016). This claim was also supported in a recent study conducted within the South African context by Urban & Seely, (2023) that examines the influence of organisational factors on academic researchers' tendencies to create spin-offs.

Institutional characteristics

Discipline: Perkmann et al., (2021) opined that the disciplinary affiliation that an academic researcher belongs to will strongly influence the nature of such a researcher's engagement with external partners. Abreu & Grinevich (2013) state that academic researchers from disparate disciplines respond differently when collaborating with external partners. Sigl and Leišytė (2018) reported that academic researchers in applied fields are more interested in engaging with industry partners and other stakeholders in the broader society than their peers in basic disciplines. However, scholars like Hughes & Kitson (2012) have argued that engagement with industry is not practised by only academic researchers in so-called 'hard' disciplinary fields.

Using the UK context, studies have provided evidence that just like their counterparts from the engineering field, academic researchers from the business and media departments have also proved to be highly competent in consulting (Abreu & Grinevich, 2013). To provide more clarity, studies have confirmed that academic researchers who are into basic research and are more motivated to pursue basic research for fundamental research knowledge are primarily unwilling to get too embedded in academic engagement, unlike their counterparts who are into applied research or user-oriented basic research (Lawson et al., 2019). Recent studies by D'Este & Robinson-García (2023) have also provided evidence which supports that academic scientists in interdisciplinary research are more active in external engagement, and this explains why they can produce breakthroughs in research and as well as offer valuable solutions to address complex, real-life problems. Based on the existing studies, our understanding of the effect of disciplinary affiliation on the interaction with other wider stakeholders is limited, as most previous studies have focused on interactions with industry (Pekşen et al., 2021).

Public policy and Regulation: Across the world, to achieve regional growth and competitiveness, governments have intensified their efforts to induce academic engagement by designing and implementing policies and initiatives that aim to promote inter-organisational collaboration, including tax incentives for research, funding support for joint research, and the creation of science parks and innovation hubs (Bastos et al., 2021). The role of the institutional context in shaping academic

researchers' determination to embrace academic engagement activities as been well documented in extant literature. There is evidence of how some institutional practices of government may have a complimentary or a detrimental effect on university collaborative research (Duiveman, 2020). Earlier studies have shown how government policies could significantly impact the extent and nature of engagement between academic researchers and external partners (Amaral et al., 2011; Caloghirou et al., 2001). Munari & Toschi (2021) use the European Research Council's Proof-of-concept program to assess how government policy on public funding for the valorisation of science towards achieving commercial and societal gains can impact some academic engagement activities such as licensing, formation of spinoffs, and consulting research, and joint research in R&D between academic researcher and other external partners. Their findings suggest that such policy measures positively impact research as they have led to increases in scientific breakthroughs and practical application of knowledge considered beneficial for improving societal challenges.

Davey et al. (2016) state that the success countries can achieve through academic engagement is largely influenced by the existence and effectiveness of its higher educational institutions and innovation systems at national and regional levels. Countries strategically implement these systems to promote economic development and facilitate technological development. Taking a European perspective, Protogerou et al. (2013) have attributed the involvement of its higher educational institutions in interactions with external stakeholders to be a reactive measure of its political landscape and general decline in accessibility to public funding. Flander (2021) argues that a country's contextual factors (strength of innovation systems) and the quality of higher education research and development (HERD) funding are strong determinants of the viability of its academic external engagement. Most studies on international comparison of the effectiveness of academic engagement have focused majorly on North America and Europe with little evidence from the global south (Perkmann et al., 2021).

2.3 Academic Freedom

University managers and policymakers have actively encouraged academic researchers to engage in collaborative initiatives with external partners, utilizing channels such as joint research with industry and academic patenting, among other forms of informal knowledge interaction (Grimpe & Hussinger, 2013; Tseng et al., 2020). However, some researchers may resist engaging with industry partners due to concerns about their academic freedom (Niemczyk & Rónay, 2022; Tartari & Breschi, 2012). In such external engagements, issues of academic freedom must be carefully considered as they can either hinder or facilitate individual researchers' interactions with industry partners (Rossoni et al., 2023).

In this thesis, academic freedom is defined as the autonomy for individual academic researchers to choose their "research topics, methods, and disseminate their research findings" without undue influences that may alter their choices (Berggren & Bjørnskov, 2022: 6; Gläser et al., 2022). Academic freedom is crucial for researchers as it allows them to pursue fundamental research (Salter & Martin, 2001), advance knowledge, and promote innovative behaviour (Rostan, 2010). Furthermore, empirical evidence suggests that universities which uphold the academic freedom of their staff achieve higher positions in world rankings (Karran & Mallinson, 2019). Academic freedom may also have detrimental implications on researchers as it could also affect their research integrity if unduly infringed upon (Davis et al., 2011; Redman, 2023), and such ethical misconduct resulting from this could lead to academic researchers reporting biased research results (Fink et al., 2023). Consequently, this issue has raised significant concerns among academic scholars regarding "who should be able to influence research and how influence can be exercised without damaging the productivity and integrity of research" (Gläser et al., 2022: 106).

Recognising the centrality of academic freedom to higher education, a group of renowned American professors made a significant move in 1915 when they formed the American Association of University Professors (AAUP), where academic freedom was one of their underlying goals (Cain, 2023). This development later birthed other reform instruments to guide their operations, such as the Declaration of Principles on Academic Freedom and Academic Tenure. Twenty-five later, the 1940 Statement of Principles of Academic Freedom and Tenure, which expressly affirms academic freedom to cover teaching, research, and extramural expression, was released (Appiagyei-Atua et al., 2016). In most countries, academic freedom is institutionalised as it is protected by laws and rules, which brings a common understanding between political and academic leaders that academic freedom is valuable and, thus, must be protected (Aberbach & Christensen, 2018). In European Union countries, higher education institutions have undergone various reforms to enhance their efficiency and quality of delivery (Leisyte et al., 2008). Taking the case of the Republic of Ireland into context, the Higher Education Authority (HEA) Act 2022 was proposed to reform third-level institutions. The HEA Act 2022 introduces a new form of funding tied to compliance rules set by the HEA. However, this reform is perceived as a "threat to academic freedom by academics, students, and institutional leaderships" (Maassen et al., 2023: p.103) in the country.

To ensure academic freedom is well entrenched globally, the need to regularly measure it has become imperative. A recent report on the Academic Freedom Index (AFI) based on an extensive study conducted in 2022, which cuts across 179 countries of the world, provided an overview of the academic freedom landscape in these countries as findings suggested a general decline in academic freedom in most countries particularly the developing countries, unlike the EU countries and the US

(Kinzelbach et al., 2023). This thesis aims to examine how the academic freedom of individual academic researchers plays a role in their pursuit of external activity and, more importantly, how researchers manage this freedom. Hence, the sub-section hereafter will provide perspectives from existing literature on how academic freedom is characterised.

2.3.1 Conceptualising Academic Freedom

Academic freedom is complex to conceptualise (Abdel Latif, 2014; Maassen, Martinsen, Elken, Jungblut, & Lackner, 2023), so scholars find it challenging to reach a consensus on its scope and how it should be measured (Kronfeldner, 2021). In line with this argument, it could be perceived as either "freedom to" research teach or as "freedom from" internal or external conditions that could pose a threat to a researcher or its activities (Gibbs, 2016). In their study, Akerlind & Kayrooz (2003) conceptualised academic freedom based on two dimensions – the type of constraints (which could serve as impediments to academic freedom) and the role of internal and external factors. Based on this, Akerlind & Kayrooz (2003) suggested five qualitative ways that academic freedom can be understood, and these categories include:

- An absence of constraints on academic researchers' activities: in this category, researchers' academic freedom is protected when it is not subjected to no controls or reprisals because of the activities they choose to engage in (Callaert et al., 2015; Santosuosso et al., 2007; Smith & Walsh, 2023). In this case, researchers should be free to speak freely without fearing being punished by their university managers. Researchers should be able to freely decide on which research they want to undertake and publish their research outcome without control from the university management or government (Stachowiak-Kudła, 2022).
- An absence of constraints within some self-regulated limits: In this category, there is an absence
 of constraint on researchers' academic freedom, but researchers have to carry out their activities
 within certain limits (Kwestel & Milano, 2021; Ren & Li, 2013). Here, the emphasis is on selfregulation (Aberbach & Christensen, 2018; Luukkonen & Thomas, 2016).
- An absence of constraints within some externally regulated limits: In this category, the emphasis is the absence of interference in academic activities and the setting of certain limits on non-interference areas(Rostan, 2010). This also comes with some form of externally regulated criteria and constraints (Golhasany & Harvey, 2022).
- An absence of constraints, combined with active institutional support: There is no interference in the academic activity researchers engage in (Nokkala & Bladh, 2014; Tierney & Corwin, 2007). In

this category, academic freedom requires not only the absence of external interference but also that it should come external support to enable researchers to exercise their academic freedom (Fulda & Missal, 2022).

 An absence of constraints, combined with responsibilities on the part of an academic researcher: In this category, academic freedom is based on the need for academic researchers also to perform internal responsibilities (O'Neill et al., 2003). In this case, it includes the need for researchers to carefully carry out their responsibilities and operate within the limits of their freedom, such as participating in social debates and engaging in research and teaching activities (Berdahl, 1990; Hunt, 2010; Kwestel & Milano, 2021).

Further to the above five categorisations of academic freedom, this study considers it valuable also to draw perspectives from recent extant literature to facilitate understanding of the phenomenon. While relying on a report by Maassen et al. (2023) conducted to study the state of play of academic freedom in EU member states, this thesis seeks to explore the role of academic freedom within the context of academic engagement. This report was selected because of its relevance to the locale of this thesis (the Republic of Ireland), which is among the countries at the EU level under the legal protection of the European Parliament's panel for the Future of Science and Technology. Moreover, it focuses on interpreting academic freedom within the European Union member state context based on two fundamental principles: The Bonn Declaration on Freedom of Scientific Research (adopted on 20 October 2020) and the Rome Ministerial Communique of the European Higher Education Area. In essence, the interpretation of Maassen et al. (2023) is that academic freedom is made up of three central dimensions which operate under four sets of conditions, as shown in Figure 2.2.

The three core dimensions of academic freedom

Essentially, the central focus of the three core academic freedom dimensions is the "individual academic researcher".

Freedom to research: This centres on the freedom of individual academic researchers, which empowers them to decide on their research agenda without any "undue" constraint from internal and external authorities such as government, university managers, industry practitioners, civil communities (Lee, 2009; Leisyte et al., 2008; Thaldar & Steytler, 2021). The word "undue" in this earlier statement was emphasised because the individual researchers should note that this freedom is not absolute but must be exercised within the boundary conditions set by either/both the internal/external authorities. Section 2.3.2 of this thesis discusses these limits in detail.



Figure 2.2: Conceptualisation of Academic Freedom in the EU

(Adapted from Maassen et al., 2023)

*Note: Broken lines represent academic freedom dimensions of interest in this thesis.

Freedom to teach and freedom to study: Unlike the freedom to research, this dimension centres on individual researchers' freedom, which empowers them to decide on their teaching agenda and other teaching-related ambitions (Berry, 1994; Nelson, 2003). In contrast, the freedom to study is mainly about the freedom of the students to determine their study preferences (Jackson, 2020; Macfarlane, 2012, 2016). In both dimensions of freedom (to teach and study), the individual researchers and students must bear in mind that this freedom is not absolute but must be exercised within the boundary conditions set by either internal or external authorities (e.g. government, university managers, industry practitioners, civil communities).

Freedom of academic expression: This dimension is essentially about the freedom of communication, which empowers individual academic researchers (or students) to freely express their views based on their area of academic expertise or academic discipline on issues within their institutions or public issues outside the academia without being punished for doing so (Karran et al., 2017). Further to this dimension is also the freedom which specifically empowers the individual researcher to disseminate their research findings through publications in academic journals, conferences, and seminars without any constraints in the form of pressure, threat, or any form of infringements from internal or external authorities (Coker, 1954; Simpson, 2020; Slater, 2016).

The four conditions for academic freedom

Here, the four conditions for academic freedom focus on the "University," which is the institutional environment within which individual academic researchers operate. Scholars have argued that "it is impossible to talk about researchers' freedom without recognizing its connection to institutional autonomy" (Niemczyk & Rónay, 2022: 4).

Institutional autonomy: This refers to the freedom universities enjoy in managing their internal activities without interference from the government or other external actors. In principle, institutional autonomy is about "the state of self-governance of the institution" (Nokkala & Bladh, 2014: 27).

Self-governance: Self-governance concerns institutional governance and decision-making within the university community. Maassen et al. (2023: 14) explain that self-governance is the "right of academic staff and students to co-determine academic affairs".

Labour conditions: This has to do with the conditions under which the academic researchers are protected when they exercise their academic freedom while still working for the university without fearing losing their jobs or having issues renewing their employment contracts, either as tenured or untenured staff (Karran et al., 2022; Ren & Li, 2013).

Financial conditions: This aspect encompasses the degree to which external funding conditions for teaching or research can influence the academic researcher's freedom to decide about the research agenda or teaching activities beyond their legitimate/statutory work condition(Carvalho & Diogo, 2018; Hayden & Thiep, 2007).

The review of the literature has revealed the level of complexity in its conceptualisation (Abdel Latif, 2014; Karran et al., 2022). Furthermore, even though it is within the right of academic researchers to carry out their statutory roles and responsibilities as academic staff of the university wherein their right is protected, they are also expected to exercise this freedom within institutional and organisational boundaries (Singh, 2009). With the above points stated, this thesis will explore academic freedom from two dimensions – "freedom to research" and "freedom of academic expression" (dissemination of research outcomes), as indicated with dotted lines in Figure 2.2. These two were selected because they fall in line with the scope of the academic freedom defined in this thesis. Also, it will guide this study to understand the intricacies individual researchers face when working with other external non-academic partners.

2.3.2 The limits of academic freedom

Individual researchers' academic freedom has been described as a philosophical issue as it is not, in reality, free from external influences but instead placed within a set of boundaries and limits that these external authorities set (Golhasany & Harvey, 2022; Kidd, 1963). It is thus pertinent to say that a researcher's academic freedom is somewhat subject to the control of the state: as a result, academics or faculty members should know that as much as they desire to have academic freedom, it also comes with understanding boundaries, rights, and responsibilities (Beaud, 2020). This is because the university is seen as a "public good" (Glenna et al., 2007); therefore, one cannot completely overlook the government's involvement in how it is being run since it is one of the primary sources through which the university derives its funding (Singh, 2009).

Beyond the argument above, recent studies have shown that internal and external actors can restrict the academic freedom of individual researchers. According to Berggren & Bjørnskov (2022), the "external actors" are those actors who operate outside the university, such as the state, religious organisations, and business firms. Meanwhile, the "internal actors" refer to researchers and other academic structures within academia. Similarly, as shown in Figure 2.3, Gläser et al. (2022) also identified actors that influence researchers' academic freedom, including industry, state (government), military, civil society actors, scientific communities, and university managers. Berggren and Bjørnskov (2022) emphasise that the level of influence that the external actors can exhibit on researchers is subject to the degree of academic freedom. They argued that the degree of academic freedom is "strong" if external actors are constrained in using their rules and practices to influence researchers' activities. While internal actors apply intra-scientific and professional norms to regulate what a researcher can and cannot do, they ensure that such regulations do not constrain researchers' academic freedom (Williams, 2016). Further discussion hereafter includes various studies on how external actors influence individual researchers' academic freedom, particularly regarding the channels and ways they do this.



Figure 2.3: External actors Influencing Researchers' Academic Freedom

(Adapted from Gläser et al. (2022)

Influence of Industry

Besides its benefit of being a funding source, industry sponsorship has been found to harm individual research(Goduscheit, 2022). Industry partners tend to influence researchers' academic freedom as they can effect changes in research themes and quality, cause a bias towards the publication of research findings, secrecy and also in the diffusion of knowledge (Czarnitzki, Grimpe, & Toole, 2015; Gläser et al., 2022; Haeussler et al., 2014). In some cases, contractual agreements with industry-sponsored projects contain clauses that restrain and withhold sensitive information classified as confidential (Gans & Murray, 2011). There is also the argument (Kladakis et al., 2022) that industry funding may also inhibit radical scientific research breakthroughs as funders tend to favour research areas and topics of strategic interest to them. However, recent studies (Zacharewicz et al., 2023) have challenged the claim that industry funding will promote lower-risk research with little groundbreaking knowledge.

Influence of the State (Government)

As noted by Gläser et al. (2022), government can impact research when they set boundaries to the practice of conducting research in terms of the thematic areas and their research agenda that are considered biased towards the interest of the political powers in the country. To govern science, governments design and implement policies and regulations on science and technology to shape the

direction and contents of research in their countries (Gläser & Laudel, 2016). The impact of government on research governance in their country reflects their vested interest in research activities (Kosmützky & Krücken, 2023), which could shape the research landscape in such an environment. The book "Politics of Innovation" examines the rationale behind the national interest in research-driven projects as a means to addressing its "Creative insecurity" (Taylor, 2016).

However, some scholars have divergent opinions on this concept, perceiving it as a dangerous way of utilising science and technology for national development (Robbins, 2018). Researchers who participated in national scientific research projects of dictatorial governments in countries like Spain, Italy, and Argentina were reported to have been limited in investigating a research problem (Gómez et al., 2016). A recent study also shows that authoritarian political institutions influence a country's economy to innovate, negatively affecting fields like artificial intelligence (Klarl et al., 2023). Varma and Sabharwal (2018) have stated that the government can also impose travel restrictions on academic researchers against attending conferences to prevent communication of their research to wider academic communities. In the US, the government restricts research into reproduction and genetics/genomics research (Legro, 2011). Similarly, stem cell research, cloning and other genetic modification research within the field of life sciences and biotechnology have also been under the scrutiny of government (Smith et al., 2023).

Influence of the military

The military has also been identified as a threat to researchers' academic freedom (Savabieasfahani, 2014). Gläser et al. (2022) identified some ways the military influences research: they define research topics for researchers, restrict communication of research outcomes severely, and, to some extent, can exclude its researchers from engaging with other members of the scientific communities. Literature records how military research and development has funded research activities they consider strategic to its missions. As reported from Air Force History, 1945 and 1960 witnessed an era when the United States Air Force intensified funding support to research and development initiatives on ballistic missiles (Neufeld, 1990). The report also mentioned that this decision was advocated by the then Air Force Chief of Staff, General Hoyt S Vandenberg, based on account of two studies his team undertook then, where one of its recommendations was that R&D within the US Air Force be accorded more representation through strategic funding. The Soviet atomic bomb tests of August 1949 and another one for the Korean War in July 1950 were prominent cases where funding for R&D, mainly for missiles, was promoted (Neufeld, 1990).

Only weapon researchers benefitted from such initiative as they were adequately funded and given freedom, to an extent, to choose the best approaches that would enable them to solve the problem while restricting their communication with others outside the military operations (Sutton, 1984). This is why some scholars within the field of Science and Technology Studies (STS) have raised concerns concerning military-related research funding, as most come with strings attached (such as restrictions about publication and research topics), thereby jeopardising practices like open science and scepticism which are needed for productive science (Rappert et al., 2008). To support the higher education environment, calls have been made for the government to balance its strategic interest in national security matters and academic freedom in its academia (Streitwieser et al., 2019). Likewise, university managers must ensure that while engaging with issues of critical priorities of government and societal concerns such as national security, they carefully manage security-sensitive research and prioritise research integrity and academic freedom (Smith & Walsh, 2023).

Influence of Civil Society Actors

Civil Society actors, such as social movements or patient organisations, exercise influence on the direction and approaches of research (Gläser et al., 2022). In STS, social movements are considered important external actors that can influence research due to their intentional efforts to promote or resist social change (Hess et al., 2008). This is because of their capacity to drive public participation from the citizen and non-governmental organisations to ensure that public perspectives are also considered in the decision-making process regarding science and technology and other specialised fields. Unlike other activist groups or advocacy groups, social movements represent a diverse group of people who are most socially or economically disenfranchised and thus champion specific causes, for instance, breast cancer patients or open-source programmers (Hess et al., 2008). Considering social movements' influences, social science scholars have tagged them as the "intelligent public" who played a significant role in shaping the government's approach towards policy making and how researchers conduct their activities as exemplified during the COVID-19 pandemic (Heinsch et al., 2023).

Studies have shown the role of social movements in influencing research practices. Social movements supporting open-source programming advocated for the emergence of Linux, a free/open-source operating system, breaking the dominance of other operating systems such as Unix and Windows NT (Jain et al., 2023). In climate change interventions and governance, social actors, as crucial stakeholders, also significantly shaped efforts towards carbon removal and geo-engineering towards achieving the Net Zero target (Frickel et al., 2010; Low et al., 2022). In the medical field, in contrast to

age-long practices, a recent study has reported how patient organisations or "expert patients" representing social actors, have been invited to serve as members of several committees along with other biomedical specialists in the decision-making towards the production of knowledge and governance of health (Akrich & Rabeharisoa, 2023). Environmental justice movements such as the Global South grassroots movement, a civil social actor group representing the interest of Indigenous and Black communities, have shaped discourse in fat research studies as it considers obesity as a social problem (Chalit Hernandez & Luzbetak, 2023).

Influence of Scientific Communities

Gläser et al. (2022) states that scientific communities are internal actors who impact researchers' academic freedom through institutionalising a peer review system within academia or emphasising particular forms of collaboration by researchers as a precondition for accessing research funding. According to Gläser et al. (2022), the peer review system can mainstream research and encourage risk avoidance. Additionally, collaborations between developed and developing countries often impose research topics on scholars from developing countries, frequently against their interests. These collaborations may also offer less recognition to researchers from developing countries and may exclude them from significant discussions in the scientific community, which is predominantly led by scholars from developed countries.

Peer review, as a procedure which was developed to promote quality in scientific research, has also been judged to be detrimental to research practices (Barlösius et al., 2023; Breuning et al., 2015), and this has led scholars to call for a universal approach towards improving it (Brezis & Birukou, 2020; Krummel et al., 2019; Shibayama & Baba, 2015). For instance, it has been alleged that peer review is too conservative, as "gatekeepers" within academia give very little chance of success to research proposals perceived as daring or confrontational (Luukkonen, 2012). It has also been alleged that, in some instances, the structural complexity of the peer review process could disadvantage certain groups of researchers, particularly women and junior researchers (Sato et al., 2021). There have also been reports of reviewers favouring research proposals submitted by groups within their own research network (Jang et al., 2017). Therefore, to guide against unfair practices in selecting research proposals for funding during the peer review process, some scholars have called for a "lottery" approach(Horbach et al., 2022; Roumbanis, 2023).

Existing literature has also pointed out that Scientific communities could impact researchers' academic freedom due to unfriendly conditions attached to research funding involving collaboration between researchers from the global North and South. A recent study has revealed that researchers' behaviour

towards collaboration in research projects is sometimes driven by "self-interestedness" (Ngwenya & Boshoff, 2023). However, scarce local funding for research has pushed researchers from developing countries (particularly in Africa) to seek international funding, provided mainly by countries in developed countries. Researchers may have to trade off their freedom of self-interest when selecting research collaboration partners in line with the requirements of the international funding agency (Confraria et al., 2020; Owusu-Nimo & Boshoff, 2017).

Also, it has been reported that within the North-South collaboration, local priorities of participating researchers from the global South in research projects of particular interest area to scientific communities, such as HIV/AIDS research, is downplayed when setting research agenda (González-Alcaide et al., 2020; Moyi Okwaro & Geissler, 2015). However, despite this constraint on the academic freedom of researchers from developing countries to contribute their input in setting research agenda in such initiatives, they have continued engaging in international collaborative research because such projects offer global visibility to their research (Chankseliani, 2023).

Influence of University Managers

University managers are another internal actor influencing individual researchers' academic freedom, thereby changing researchers' collaboration patterns and publication behaviours (Gläser et al., 2022). Some scholars believe that university managers can indirectly threaten researchers' academic freedom through their efforts to comply with government policy reforms, particularly those related to funding (Bonnell, 2021). This situation can be attributed to the evaluation systems and the structure of ethical committees that university management establishes to promote research integrity and quality within academia, thereby reinforcing its legitimacy as a centre of knowledge production. Similarly, an earlier study by Kidd (1963) has explained that university rules that regulate research activities and set obligations to researchers on their conduct may also restrict researchers' freedom. Such is the case when a university, through its research policy, regulates the nature of consulting activity that a researcher can engage in, the time they can spend engaging in consulting, or the amount of income a researcher can generate through such activity.

Literature has also discussed the implications of performance evaluation on the individual researcher's behaviour in the academic community (Aagaard et al., 2015; Cadez et al., 2017; Müller & Rijcke, 2017; Sandström & Besselaar, 2018; Woelert & McKenzie, 2018). This is because university managers' introduction of evaluation systems using a set of defined metrics such as publication counts, number of citations recorded, and number of grants received has made researchers engage in adaptive behaviour termed as the "Evaluation Game" (Kulczycki, 2023). The "Evaluation Game" focuses on how

university managers' use of publication metrics has shaped scholarly communication within academia, leading researchers to alter their professional communication practices due to the evaluation metrics adopted in the university system (Kulczycki, 2023). Kulczycki (2023) explained that researchers caught in this evaluation game, where emphasis is placed on quantity over quality, may opt to publish more research articles in low-quality journals rather than one paper in a highly reputable journal.

Extant literature has also investigated the impact of research ethics committees on academic researchers' behaviour (George, 2003; Hedgecoe, 2016; Resnik, 1998; Shannon & Eden, 2018; Sikes & Piper, 2013). Take, for instance, cases where the human research ethics committee may decide not to approve a research application because it feels that the proposed research methodology is unfit to achieve its aims, hence request the researcher(s) to review it, and if not the research project will not be approved for implementation (Shannon & Eden, 2018). When such a situation arises, researchers (particularly those in the social sciences field) get frustrated as they feel their work is being constrained by the ethics committee whose suggestions may conflict with research practices and norms in the social science field (Sikes & Piper, 2013).

A recent study that sampled the perception of researchers concerning the impact of research ethics committees on research conduct within academia revealed ten prominent issues that researchers face, such as research integrity, conflict of interest, social injustice, distributive justices, epistemic justices, ethic distress (Drolet et al., 2023). Using global data collected on 1031 researchers at business schools, Fink et al. (2023) found out that researchers possessing strong deontological ethical orientation (as against those with consequentialist ethical orientation) are less likely to engage in research misconduct as they enjoy to some extent, freedom in decision-making concerning their research. As Fink et al. (2023) explain, "deontological ethical orientation" refers to researchers who act based on their autonomous moral reasoning and not because of the presence of external constraints universities put in place to guide against misconduct (such as ethics regulations and guidelines). Meanwhile, "consequentialist ethical orientation" refers to those researchers whose moral reasoning is guided by the consequence of their research misconduct. Consequent upon these developments, scholars like Akerlind (2007) have urged university managers to align their policy within a coherent framework such that it can effectively accommodate academic freedom through promoting a friendly research culture, intellectual property, fostering commercialisation of its R&D, and other entrepreneurial activities within the university. Based on the explanation above, academic freedom is crucial for individual academic researchers as it empowers them to create and share novel and potentially valuable knowledge by granting autonomy to internal actors while constraining the influence of external actors (Aghion et al., 2008).

2.3.3 Academic Freedom issues within external engagement

Since collaboration between academic researchers and industry partners is becoming a common practice today, it then becomes imperative to also pay attention to how academic freedom is being manifested (Woelert et al., 2021) and managed (Zalewska-Kurek & Harms, 2020) in such initiatives. Researchers value their academic freedom (Lacetera, 2009; Roach & Sauermann, 2010; Stern, 2004) both intrinsically and as a source of influence (Gagné & Deci, 2005). To this end, the perceived need for academic freedom can support the nonpecuniary motives (reputation, knowledge challenges, career advancement and visibility of researchers' activity) that drive academic researchers to engage with external partners (Giuri et al., 2019; Shalley et al., 2004). Scholars have investigated how researchers' academic freedom is affected by their engagement with various non-academic partners (Jasny et al., 2017; Tartari & Breschi, 2012). For instance, Tartari & Breschi (2012) believe that the decision of academics to collaborate with external partners (industry, for example) is a discretionary behaviour of academics themselves, which is often shaped by two factors - their perception of the potential benefits and costs of such engagement to their research productivity; and the institutional environment within which such interactions exist.

Gambardella et al. (2020) have stated that in industrial research collaborative projects, the academic freedom of researchers is ensured to achieve efficiency – that is, to enable researchers to make more competent decisions about a specific problem and for the sake of motivational reasons - to motivate researchers to engage more with the project. Similarly, Zalewska-Kurek and Harms (2020) explore how academic researchers strategically manage academic freedom during interaction with industry partners. Academic researchers' need for academic freedom can be categorized into operational academic freedom, which involves researchers' freedom to be involved in the planning, setting, and execution of projects, and scientific academic freedom, which relates to the freedom to decide on their methodology, theory, and how results will be used (Fink et al., 2020). Their findings also show that academic researchers are willing to sacrifice their operational academic freedom to collaborate with industry. However, they are unwilling to let go of their scientific academic freedom when setting the research direction and execution because they strongly need this type of freedom. Within the context of education-driven university-business cooperation, Orazbayeva et al. (2021) found perceived academic freedom to influence academic engagement positively. This is because academic freedom gives academic members the freedom to decide on external partners, they want to engage with rather than have their decisions imposed on them by their university leadership. A recent study conducted on 250 professors in the engineering departments at United States universities claims that academic freedom positively influences a professor's willingness to engage in university-industry interaction (Clauss et al., 2022).

2.4 Conclusion

In this chapter, the existing literature is reviewed to understand the current state of research on academic engagement and identify research gaps. Two major research gaps are identified based on this review.

Firstly, recent studies highlight that our understanding of academic researchers' behaviour towards academic engagement is still limited, particularly regarding their motivations for and modes of engagement with non-academic external partners. Regarding motivations, insights from previous studies present mixed evidence. Some scholars argue that researchers collaborate externally to acquire knowledge (non-commercial benefits) to enhance their research, while others believe that the primary motivation is the pursuit of commercial benefits associated with such interactions. Therefore, it remains unclear why academic researchers are motivated to engage with non-academic external collaborators. Additionally, in terms of engagement modes, existing studies indicate that academics prefer different channels—such as joint research, contracts, consulting, or informal activities. However, the literature shows that individual researchers' preferences for these modes of engagement vary, leaving it unclear how academic researchers decide on which interaction mode to use when collaborating with external partners.

Secondly, previous studies on academic engagement have predominantly focused on a limited group of external stakeholders, particularly industry partners, making it difficult to generalize findings across a broader range of external stakeholders, such as business firms, charity organizations, nongovernmental organizations, and government agencies. It is assumed that commercially driven researchers, such as those aiming to patent their inventions, are more likely to engage with industry partners, while those interested in contributing to policymaking or making a societal impact may prefer to collaborate with other external partners, such as charity organizations, non-governmental organizations, or government agencies. Consequently, academic scholars have called for more investigation into this aspect to broaden our understanding of researchers' experiences and rationale for choosing specific external partners in collaborations.

Having identified these research gaps, the next chapter of this thesis will review existing research on applicable theories of academic engagement and select the most suitable theory for application in this study.

CHAPTER THREE: THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

3.1 Introduction

This chapter identifies and discusses, the theoretical lens, Self Determination Theory, to be used in this thesis to analyse academic researchers' behaviour towards engagement with non-academic external partners and provides a justification for this choice. In essence, this chapter aims to lay a solid theoretical foundation for investigating the 'why' and 'how' of academic researchers' engagement with external partners, which is the central research question of this thesis.

The existing literature has pointed at motivation as a strong predictor of individual academic researchers' behaviour towards academic engagement, i.e., knowledge-related collaboration between academics and stakeholders from non-academic organisations (Ankrah & AL-Tabbaa, 2015; Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022; Rijnsoever & Hessels, 2021; Taxt, 2023; Perkmann et al., 2013). Motivation refers to the reasons someone decides to carry out an activity, how long they sustain that activity, and the extent to which they are determined to pursue the activity (Gagné & Deci, 2005). This points to the fact that motivation of individual academic researchers is the overarching process that enables researchers to initiate, sustain and regulate their goal-directed behaviours (Holding et al., 2020).

Extant literature has established a relationship between individual researchers' motivation and their willingness to be involved in academic engagement based on the multidimensional components of motivations - "gold", ribbon", and "puzzle"(Lam, 2011) where gold refers to motivation based on financial benefits, ribbon refers to motivation based on reputational or career rewards, and puzzle refers to motivation based on problem-solving and competency building. Similarly, recent studies have also ascribed motivational drivers for academic engagement to involve three significant factors – financial rewards, career/reputational rewards (both extrinsically driven), and intrinsic rewards (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022; Rossoni et al., 2023). However, some other studies have suggested a fourth motivational drivers, "prosocial motivation" (lorio et al., 2017; Orazbayeva & Plewa, 2022; Sormani & Uude, 2022). Prosocial motivation is a motivational driver emerging from the researchers' desire to pursue external engagement solely to benefit society (Grant, 2008).

Since it has been established in the previous paragraph that individual academic researchers need for motivation will shape their behaviour towards academic engagement, theory on motivation will be most appropriate to investigate this phenomenon. Based on the extant literature reviewed, self-determination theory (SDT) is considered as "one of the most widely cited theories of human motivation" (Cerasoli et al., 2016: 781) due to its "eudaemonic approach" (Tang et al., 2020) in

exploring the relationship between human needs and their behaviour. Furthermore, many scholars who have conducted studies on academic engagement have used SDT to explain academic researchers' engagement behaviour (Clauss et al., 2022; Orazbayeva et al., 2020, 2021; Orazbayeva & Plewa, 2022). Some scholars have referred to SDT as "a whale in a sea of countless psychological theories of human motivation" due to its broad applicability in studies on behaviours, circumstances, and conduct, and more importantly, also because of its "dependable predictiveness that few theories can rival" (Patall, 2021: 117). Consequently, this thesis draws on the theoretical lens of SDT to study the behaviour of academics towards engaging with industry or other non-academic partners (such as government agencies, charity organisations, donor agencies e.g. the EU) within the context of the Republic of Ireland.

3.2 Self-Determination Theory (SDT)

Self-determination theory (SDT) is a theory of human motivation that emerged from research on intrinsic and extrinsic motivations (Deci & Ryan, 1985). SDT is a macro-theory (Tang et al., 2020) which consists of six other mini theories. Firstly, Cognition evaluation theory (CET) focuses on the impact of external actions such as incentives, competitions, in supporting or thwarting individuals intrinsics motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2019; Vallerand & Reid, 1984). Secondly, Organismic integration theory (OIT) is said to be more centred on the various types of motivation including their effects on the quality of human behaviour and well-being (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Thirdly, Causality orientations theory (COT) focuses on how individuals' motivation styles differ with respect to how individuals align towards external environment or goal attainment (Deci & Ryan, 1985). Fourthly, Basic psychological needs theory (BPNT) focuses on how the three basic psychological needs - autonomy, competence, and relatedness relate to individuals' satisfaction and state of well-being (Ryan & Deci, 2020; Vansteenkiste et al., 2020). Fifthly, Goal contents theory (GCT) focuses on how the attainment of goals (extrinsic and intrinsic) informs individuals' behaviour and wellness (Deci & Ryan, 2000). Finally, Relationship motivation theory (RMT) focuses on the qualities of close relationships and the attendant consequences that come with it (Ryan & Deci, 2019). However, BPNT is seen to be central to SDT (Tang et al., 2020).

Describing SDT as a broad and widely applied theory of motivation, personality development and wellness, Ryan & Deci (2019) explained that at the inception stage of this theory, the narrow focus was on intrinsic motivation, but over time, its scope was later expanded to cover both intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. Further reasoning for the wide application of this theory is due to its approach to studying human motivation, its practical value which encompasses several disciplinary domains, and the

trajectory of the theory towards deployment and development. Therefore, the rationale behind SDT is to understand what motivates individuals' behaviour and actions, including how their behaviour is "regulated in the various domains of their lives" (Deci & Ryan, 2015: 486). This is why Ryan & Deci (2020) describe SDT as a broad theoretical framework that can be used to understand factors that either facilitate or constrain an individual's motivation (intrinsic or extrinsic) for their psychological well-being.

SDT postulates that individuals are optimally motivated and experience a state of well-being when their three basic psychological needs (Autonomy, Competence, and Relatedness) are satisfied (Deci & Ryan, 2000; Ryan, 2023). In this context, autonomy pertains to the feeling of having willingness and volition. When individuals' need for autonomy is satisfied or fulfilled, it leads to a sense of wholeness, evident when our actions, thoughts, and emotions are self-endorsed and genuine. In contrast, when autonomy is thwarted, it brings about feelings of coercion or pressure and often internal conflict, like being compelled towards an undesired direction. Competence involves the sensation of being capable and proficient. This is achieved when one can capably engage in activities and has chances to utilize and expand their abilities and know-how. However, when competence is thwarted or hindered, it leads to feelings of inefficacy, or even defeat and helplessness. Relatedness is about the experience of closeness, emotional connection, and caring, which is nourished through interpersonal bonds and feeling valued by others. A lack of relatedness results in feelings of social isolation, exclusion, and loneliness. These three psychological needs were derived both inductively and deductively (Ryan & Deci, 2017).

As described by Vansteenkiste et al., (2020), the three psychological needs first emerged inductively following studies which revealed that experiences of competence and autonomy were vital for individuals to develop and sustain intrinsic motivation. For instance, studies have revealed that receiving positive feedback promotes higher interest and enjoyment of an activity which is because of the satisfaction of individuals need for competence (Muynck et al., 2017). Contrary to this, it has been argued that intrinsic motivation is undermined when individuals are offered external rewards to partake in an activity (Ryan & Deci, 2020). The explanation for this is that such external rewards have controlling effect capable of shifting individuals perceived locus of causality (Charms, 1968; Hagger & Chatzisarantis, 2011; Ryan & Connell, 1989), from internal to external which then diminishes their sense of autonomy (Houlfort et al., 2022). Gagné & Deci (2005) argue that while individuals need to feel competent and autonomous to maintain their intrinsic motivation, satisfying their need for relatedness is vital for them to internalise extrinsic motivation, and that this brings satisfaction and enables individuals to operate optimally.

Beyond the inductive evidence supporting the needs for autonomy, competence, and relatedness which are considered as basic psychological needs, deductive arguments emphasizing their significance were also presented (Ryan & Deci, 2017). Evidence on the basis for the argument on the organismic perspective which they considered to be central to SDT, were discussed in earlier research works (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Ryan, 1995). Their rationale is that humans naturally evolve towards greater adaptability, integration, and coherence when possible. These developmental processes are both facilitated by individuals' experiences of autonomy, competence, and relatedness. From this organismic standpoint on human development, these needs are essential components of what constitutes a fully actualized individual.

In essence, the humans' psychological needs have been described to be a nutrient which is critical for them to adjust, integrate, and grow (Ryan, 1995). According to Gagné & Deci (2005: 336) the satisfaction of the three basic psychological needs offers individuals the required "nutrients" to be intrinsically motivated and to internalise extrinsic motivation to function optimally. Several meta-analyses conducted by scholars (Deci et al., 1999; Ng et al., 2012; Slemp et al., 2018; Yu et al., 2018; Van den Broeck et al., 2021; Ryan et al., 2023) have confirmed that the three basic psychological needs are indeed prominent for human development, adjustment, and wellness which in fact has strong implications for studies in motivational science, applied research practices, as well as in social policy studies (Vansteenkiste et al., 2020).

3.2.1 SDT: The Motivation continuum

SDT suggests that humans experience autonomous motivation if their reasons for engaging in behaviours are based on their own volition (self-determined), otherwise humans experience controlled motivation if their reasons for engaging in the behaviours are due to internal or external pressure (Deci & Ryan, 2000, 2015; Ryan & Deci, 2020; Ryan, 2023). According to Kalgin et al. (2019), self-determination is the state of being independent of both internal powers and external influences. On the premise of this, individual's motivation can be placed on a continuum of either autonomous motivation, controlled motivation and amotivation (see Table 3.1) and they fall within two broad categorisations of motivation into intrinsic and extrinsic (Deci et al., 2017; Deci & Ryan, 2015). Intrinsic motivation refers to individuals' self-determined behaviour, often resulting from their desire to fulfil their wish or urge (Ryan & Deci, 2020). On the other hand, Extrinsic motivation is when individuals' behaviour is externally regulated, which influences their choices, and is characterised by individuals with less self-determination (Ryan, 2023).

Amotivation	"Refers to people having no intentionality or motivation. This occurs when people
	do not feel competent to perform a task or do not attach value to the outcome of
	such a task. Hence, this type of motivation brings no effect".
Autonomous	"Infers that people tend to act with a full sense of willingness and volition and
motivation	embrace such activity they do because they find it interesting, enjoyable, or
	consistent with their deeply held value. This kind of motivation has a positive
	effect, flexibility, and choice."
Controlled	"Refers to when people act out of coercion, seduction, or obligation. Unlike
motivation	autonomous motivation, controlled motivation makes a person act due to external
	pressure or compulsion to engage in a task."

Table 3.1: The continuum of work motivation (Deci & Ryan, 2015)

Shown in Figure 3.1 is the classification of the different types of motivation that exist on the motivation continuum (Van den Broeck et al., 2021) and this motivation continuum has been tested in several studies using a quantitative research approach (Garn et al., 2019; Howard et al., 2018; Litalien et al., 2017).



Figure 3.1: The Motivation Continuum: (Van den Broeck et al., 2021)

On one side of the SDT continuum is autonomous motivation, which is an intrinsic motivation ascribed to be an inherently autonomous behaviour exhibited by individuals (Alsuwailem, 2023; Gagné & Deci,

2005). On the other side of the continuum is controlled motivation, which is an extrinsic motivation that is further sub-divided into four types – external, introjected regulation, identified and integrated regulation which are often considered to result in autonomous motivation after they have been internalised by individuals (Vansteenkiste et al., 2020). External regulation is controlled motivation behaviour that individuals exhibit due to external reward and punishment contingencies (Xia et al., 2023). Introjected regulation refers to moderately controlled motivations and behaviour exhibited by individuals' contingent upon their self-esteem and ego involvement (Quirin et al., 2022). Identified regulation is moderately autonomous motivation exhibited by individuals because they identify with their values or significance; as a result, they will engage in such activity as if it were their own motivation (Howard et al., 2018). Lastly, integrated regulation refers to autonomous motivation behaviour exhibited when individuals have fully internalised extrinsic motivation coherent with their personal values and goals (Quirin et al., 2022; Ryan, 2023).

According to extant literature, initial studies that were conducted using the theoretical lens of SDT were mainly centred on examining intrinsic motivation, however recent studies subsequently focused more on how individuals internalise extrinsically motivated activities (Deci et al., 2017; Patall, 2021). Internalization is the process through which individuals genuinely adopt and integrate surrounding practices or values (Chirkov et al., 2003; Vansteenkiste et al., 2018). Studies have also suggested that to thoroughly internalize an activity that isn't inherently interesting, individuals need to find personal value and feel a sense of ownership over the behaviour (Ryan & Deci, 2017; Xia et al., 2023). These studies further argued that like intrinsic motivation, internalization demands a feeling of competence satisfaction (self-efficacy) and autonomy satisfaction (willingness/volition). However, understanding variations in internalized when individuals feel a real connection with those who promote these goals and activities. Ideally, the fulfilment of all three psychological needs—autonomy, relatedness, and competence—is crucial to facilitate internalization (Kluwer et al., 2019; Martela & Riekki, 2018).

Contrary to this, the internalisation process is frustrated if any of these needs is unmet. For example, internalization processes could be initiated if individuals feel a strong connection (relatedness) with a socialising agent (e.g., a one's research group) and as well consider themselves to be competent (competence) to engage in an uninteresting activity, the internalisation process will remain incomplete if the need for autonomy is not met (Bagheri & Milyavskaya, 2020; Milyasvkaya et al., 2014). The rationale behind this argument is that without the satisfaction of the need for autonomy, engaging in such activity might be driven by controlled forms of motivations such individuals desire to please others, seek approval, or avoid feeling guilty (Alsuwailem, 2023; Haerens et al., 2015).

3.2.2 Limitations of SDT

SDT has been successfully applied to a wide range of phenomena across different several domains such as gender, parenting, culture, education, age, sport, healthcare, and other socioeconomic areas of life which has resulted in emergence of better practices to foster higher quality of individuals' motivation, engagement, and satisfaction (Ryan, 2023). For instance, there is documentary evidence of SDT application in studies on gender (Egmond et al., 2020; Hofer & Bush, 2019; Xia et al., 2023), parenting (Petegem et al., 2019; Vasquez et al., 2016; Wüttke, 2020), culture (Marbell-Pierre et al., 2019), sport (Curran et al., 2013; Hermanson et al., 2021), marketing and sales (Good et al., 2022), artificial intelligence (Xia et al., 2023), age (Opdenakker, 2022), healthcare and social life (Chiu, 2022; Meilani et al., 2022).

This thesis has however noted that despite the volume of research that has been conducted on the SDT continuum aimed at facilitating our understanding on the underlying structure of academic motivation, scholars are yet to arrive at consensus on how this underlying structure of the motivation continuum should be characterised (Howard et al., 2017, 2018; Litalien et al., 2017), and more research on SDT application across more regions has been suggested (Ryan et al., 2023). Bearing this gap in literature in mind, while applying SDT, this thesis attempts to provide more insight into how researchers derive their motivation to engage in interaction with non-academic external partners within the research context.

3.2.3 Application of SDT

SDT is applied in this thesis by building on the existing work of Clauss et al. (2022), as this thesis examines the influence of not just individual factors but also that of institutional, organisational factors which were not considered in Clauss et al (2022). The Clauss et al (2022) framework is of interest to this thesis as it studied the motivational factors that influence engineering professors to engage in joint projects with industry partners using the theoretical lens of SDT. Their findings reveal that motivational factors (such as research funding, access to in-kind resources, reputation, academic freedom, congruence of researchers own agenda with that of industry) have a positive effect on the relationship between researchers' engagement with industry. Furthermore, their findings also revealed that individual factors (researchers' short-term orientation towards industry projects) have a negative moderating influence on researchers' intrinsic motivation and their willingness to engage with industry. However, their study reveals that research performance of researchers in terms of patents

have a positive moderating influence on researchers' intrinsic motivation, while it negatively moderates the influence of extrinsic motivation on researchers' willingness to engage with industry.

Literature has established that academic researchers will engage with industry if they consider that doing so will offer them attractive benefits (D'Este & Perkmann, 2011d; Perkmann & Walsh, 2008). Conditions that can facilitate or hinder academic researchers' willingness to engage with external partners are categorised as either intrinsic or extrinsic (Rossoni et al., 2023). In a choice experiment conducted with 3,145 researchers from Western Europe and North America, on how academic researchers select collaborative research projects, findings reveal that expected publication of research in scientific journals is the main reason for engaging in collaborative research with industry (Rijnsoever & Hessels, 2021). This then supports the argument that the motivation of individual academic researchers enables researchers to initiate, sustain and regulate these goal-directed behaviours (Holding et al., 2020). Lam (2011) suggests that individual researchers are susceptible to being extrinsically motivated to various degrees when they pursue an activity, and that this is subject to how they have internalised the values and regulatory structures that are connected to it. Further to this, Lam (2011) also stated further that the self-determination that an individual researcher possess is a vital factor that separates their intrinsically motivated behaviour (autonomous motivation) from that of extrinsic motivational behaviour (controlled motivation).

SDT suggests that different types of motivation exist and that understanding the quality or type of motivation of individuals and how it aligns with different aspects of the task is essential for predicting the outcome of their actions (Deci & Ryan, 2008). SDT delineates individual motivation into two main types – autonomous motivation and controlled motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2020). Studies have shown that autonomous motivation is positively associated with physical activity and engagement (Ryan et al., 2023). Following this position and relying on SDT, the theoretical framework for this thesis as presented in Figure 3.2, considers that a combination of individual factors, organisational and institutional factors predict academic researchers' engagement with industry (Perkmann et al., 2021). Also, individual researchers may engage with industry or non-academic external partners based on how their individual characteristics align with extrinsic motivation factors (driven by externally controlled motivation) or intrinsic motivation factors (driven based on autonomous motivation). The framework as well shows that organisational and institutional factors through the offer of supportive structures and incentives, will shape how researchers will engage with industry. These three elements are discussed in the subsequent section.



Figure 3.2: Theoretical Framework for the study

Adapted from (Clauss et al., 2022)

Extrinsic motivational factors

Research funding and academic engagement

Research funding is identified as a vital extrinsic motivational factor that drives individual researchers to involve in academic engagement (Hooi & Wang, 2020). Studies have shown that the opportunity to access external funding for research is one of the motives why researchers engage in research collaboration with external partners (D'Este et al., 2013; Hooi & Wang, 2020; Lee, 2021; Ubfal & Maffioli, 2011). The reason is that academic engagement provides researchers with additional funding to hire research support staff (e.g., graduate students) and purchase equipment and consumables for their research (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022; D'Este & Perkmann, 2011; Wang et al., 2023). Similarly, Iorio et al. (2017), in their study of the pro-social behaviour tendencies of Italian academic scientists, found out that the potential availability of funding predicts the intensity to which researchers will participate in external collaboration with a non-academic partner.

There is evidence that academic researchers motivated by monetary incentives (pecuniary benefit) are more eager to engage with external partners because such engagement will enable them to acquire more financial resources to supplement their income (Clauss et al., 2022; Lam, 2011; Orazbayeva et al., 2020). Such a case was found to be common with academic researchers motivated by the need for more research funding (Sormani et al., 2022). Also, studies reveal that researcher's motivation for academic engagement was not driven due the monetary rewards that comes with it, but rather because it will provide them means to disseminate their research result to the wider society (Taxt, 2023). In a study conducted by D'Este & Patel (2007) on researchers who received external funding, their findings suggest that the amount of funding for research sourced from industry will positively influence researchers to collaborate in the applied fields of disciplines. It is then likely that researchers' desirous of additional funding are likely to engage in an activity if they feel satisfied with the benefits that comes with such an activity (Ryan & Deci, 2020).

Non-financial resources and academic engagement

Literature argues that academic engagement offers researchers with access to non-monetary resources such as data, research facilities or equipment and new research projects (Carattoli et al., 2017; Perkmann et al., 2011) to advance their research and teaching roles. This is because more technical research may require researchers to possess matching equipment and skills which may not

be accessible at the home university. Academic engagement provides researchers with inspiration for novel research ideas (Garcia et al., 2019) that can advance their career. It could also enable researchers to improve their teaching and enhance learning experience for their students, and improve course contents, enable researchers to secure internships opportunities for their students (Wang et al., 2016). Therefore, due to the above reasons, researchers may be driven to engage with external partners where they perceive that doing such will offer them benefits and that such an opportunity will inspire extrinsically motivated researchers to pursue academic engagement. However, some studies have argued that monetary incentives often crowd out researchers to be more financially motivated (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022; Zheng et al., 2023).

Reputation and academic engagement

According to Merton (1957, 1973), the goal of researchers and scientists is to be seen as the pioneer of knowledge discovery and dissemination and consider recognition by the academic community, their peers, as a form of reward. In this form, peer recognition could be the number of publications recorded, or citations and prizes received. This peer recognition is described as a basic form of extrinsic reward in the science community, out of which other forms of extrinsic reward types are drawn, such as career advancement, salary increase and increased access to research-related resources. Lam (2011) argues that the ambition to gain recognition from peers fits best with the traditional model of meeting standards of academic excellence to advance one's career and explains why researchers may pursue academic engagement. Hence, researchers motivated based on the need for reputational gain will most likely be orientated strongly towards academic engagement because of its potential for career advancement (van Rijnsoever & Hessels, 2021). Such motivations fall under extrinsic motivation, according to the SDT. In an experiment to study how industry projects can stimulate academic engagement among engineering professors from selected US universities, Clauss et al. (2022) found that high reputational-based incentives positively influence a professor's willingness to engage in university-industry interaction. On the contrary, some studies have argued that incentivising academic engagement may have both direct and indirect effect on researchers' motivation to engage with other non-academic external partners (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2023).

Intrinsic Motivational factors

SDT argues that human function depends on the satisfaction of three basic psychological needs (need for autonomy, competence, and relatedness) and predicts their behavioural tendencies (Deci & Ryan,

2000; Ryan & Deci, 2020) according to these bases. Recent works from scholars have shown that the desire for autonomy, fulfilment of purpose and deriving a sense of meaning from the work they participate in are factors that intrinsically motivate a researcher to collaborate (Broeck et al., 2016; Fink et al., 2023; Kohtamäki, 2022; Litalien et al., 2017; Orazbayeva et al., 2021). Going by these identified desires means that satisfaction of these basic psychological needs of researchers, to an extent, will help predict their behaviour towards engaging with industry or other non-academic external partners. Wen-ting & Xin-hui (2013) applied SDT in their study of a selected group of researchers in China who were already engaging in collaboration activity. Their findings indicate that only autonomous motivation enhances the three positive outcomes out of the four types of autonomous-to-controlled motivation. Controlled motives do not positively relate to these outcomes. Therefore, extrinsically motivated individuals are easily stimulated by incentives, unlike in the case of intrinsic motivation. However, extant literature has shown a contradictory position to this claim. Some studies have shown that motivation to pursue academic engagement is determined mainly by individuals' basic psychological needs rather than extrinsic motivations such as incentives or financial rewards (Lam, 2011; Orazbayeva & Plewa, 2022). This thesis establishes the link between the three basic psychological needs within the SDT to understand why researcher may behave differently towards academic engagement. This is premised on the assumption that researchers who are more intrinsically motivated may interact with industry provided such engagement will facilitate satisfaction of their three basic psychological needs.

Need for competence

Evidence holds that perceived competence in university-business collaboration directly affects how much an individual is willing to pursue academic engagement (Orazbayeva et al., 2021). Researchers with high competence in their disciplinary field are more skilled, knowledgeable, and productive. However, evidence shows that about half of researchers in academia do not possess the technical and managerial skillsets needed to succeed in an engagement activity (Hayter, 2015). Also, a researcher's years of experience in the career is positively related to how successful they will perform in an academic engagement (Korff et al., 2019). Having established this fact, one can understand why the need for competence (self-efficacy) is considered one of the significant predictors of individual motivation for involving in academic engagement (Sormani & Rossano-Rivero, 2023).

Need for relatedness

Existing studies have shown that perceived relatedness is one of the factors that drives researchers towards academic engagement (Obschonka et al., 2012; Tartari et al., 2014). Relatedness has also been described to facilitate networking opportunities for researchers that could lead to future engagements (Taxt, 2023). There is also evidence that attempts by authorities that govern the conduct of individuals (for instance, government or universities or other non-state actors) to enforce a controls on them to engage in a task may result in a reduction in the level to which such an individual will perform in such task (Moss & St-Laurent, 2001; Porath & Erez, 2007, 2009). Perceived relatedness in university-business collaboration (UBC) has also been found to positively affect how an individual embraces academic engagement, especially in the case of education-driven UBC (Orazbayeva et al., 2021). Another study has found that researchers are unwilling to engage in knowledge exchange with industry due feeling of disinterestedness and organized scepticism (Queirós et al., 2022).

Need for autonomy (academic freedom)

Perceived autonomy has been found to positively influence researchers' willingness to engaging in collaborative projects with industry partners (Clauss et al., 2022). Within the context of educationdriven university-business cooperation, Orazbayeva et al. (2021) found perceived autonomy to influence academic engagement positively. This is because autonomy gives academic members the freedom to decide in selecting external partners they want to engage with rather than being imposed on them by their university leadership. This supports the claim by Cerasoli et al. (2016) that if an individual feels that they are granted freedom of choice as to engage or not to engage in a task, their level of participation in such task should increase. Contrary to this, there also the argument that perceived autonomy may lead to research misconduct depending on the ethical orientation of academic researchers (Fink et al., 2023). The authors explains that decision-making ability of academic researchers to effectively engage in research activity is underlined by their ethical orientation, organisational and institutional environment that they are embedded. Deci et al. (1999) argues that researchers are more intrinsically motivated to engage in an activity if they operate within an environment supporting their autonomy. However, that if engaging in such activity would thwart researchers' autonomy, they may lack the intrinsic motivation to engage in such activity.
Influence of Individual factors

Extant literature has shown that how academic researchers engage with industry or other nonacademic partners reflects the relationship between their motivation type (extrinsic or intrinsic) and individual characteristics such as gender, age, discipline, and academic rank. For instance, studies have confirmed the relevance of individual characteristics (gender, discipline, and seniority) in explaining how researchers interact in different forms of academic engagement (Queirós et al., 2022). Women researchers have been found to participate less than men in formal engagement, but in informal engagement, both women and men researchers participate equally (Ramos-Vielba & D'Este, 2023). The reasoning for this gender disparity was ascribed to higher personal cost such as time and attentional resources that engaging in project with industry demands and inadequate social support mechanisms for women researcher (Tartari & Salter, 2015).

Studies also supported that researchers' participation in academic engagement is mostly associated with individual level factors particularly age and academic discipline (Karlsdottir et al., 2023). Contrary to this claim, some studies argue that researchers are more motivated to engage with external partner when they perceive that their research outcome will influence public policymaking and practices, however in this case individual characteristics (gender, research productivity, career length, race and rank) tend to be of less significance (Bozeman et al., 2023; Nelson, 2024; Nelson et al., 2024). In terms of relationship between academic career cycle and their involvement in academic engagement, studies reveal that older generations of academic researchers are more engaged in patenting and licensing activities, while younger researchers engage in spin-off/start-up creation, and that for intermediate generation researchers, they participate more in giving public lectures/speeches and publications aimed towards the general public (Pekşen et al., 2021).

Influence of organisational factors

Extant literature has also linked organisational factors such as organisational culture and climate to how researchers engage with industry. In terms of university support structures, researchers engage in projects with industry when they satisfied with the support structures enabling academic engagement and with support structures for research commercialisation for example the TTO (Taxt, 2023). There is a perception that TTOs are more productive when staff working are a team of professionals and enjoy the needed autonomy to operate (Zhang et al., 2018). Another study reveals that researchers may involve themselves less in academic engagement because of their feelings of low safety and other structural-level barriers both individual and organisational, and this tends to drive

their extrinsic or intrinsic motivation (Kuchumova et al., 2023). University culture, scientific prestige and peer effects have been found to influence academic engagement especially in creation of university spin-offs (Houweling & Wolff, 2020). Universities that have academic peers working in industry can facilitate other researchers within their institution to engage with industry via their established contacts (Huyghe & Knockaert, 2015). Similarly, studies have further confirmed peer effects to be the most influencing factor that informs researchers decision to engage with industry (Moog et al., 2015). The argument is that researchers who have colleagues with experience in academic engagement serve as a positive role models. Studies have found that universities with departments having an entrepreneurial orientation facilitate the intentions of researchers towards academic engagement (Athreye et al., 2023). These findings emphasise that universities having strong institutional support motivates researchers to build intentions in engaging with external partners.

Influence of institutional factors

The role of policymakers is vital for strengthening knowledge capacity and the legitimisation of higher education institutions. Public policy has been found to foster interaction between innovation actors such as academia and industry within an innovation ecosystem (Zheng & Cai, 2022). Scholars have also argued that local contexts and the universities capacity are major determinants of the rate at which universities in Europe transform towards sustainable entrepreneurial universities (Cai & Ahmad, 2023). Studies have identified that governments provision of supportive mechanisms such as relational social capital and tax incentives facilitates academic engagement as the need for pursuit of innovative-driven outputs induces collaboration between academia and industry (Rossoni et al., 2023). This supports the argument that lack of information about academic engagement opportunities and lack of financial supports are the major barriers that prevents industry to collaborate with academic researchers (Kleiner-Schaefer & Schaefer, 2022). Government's provision of such incentives has been found to promote researchers' engagement in knowledge exchange with external actors (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2023). Government provision of subsidies, for example, encourages academic engagement because actors involve in these interactions that have received these subsidies are able to generate profits and produce research that are of social-economic benefits (Song et al., 2022). Therefore, insufficient incentive mechanism that will foster sustainable participation and partners commitment may hinder academic engagement (Zhuang & Shi, 2022).

In terms of disciplinary affiliation, some researchers are concerned that academic involvement with industry is pushing scientists to focus more on applied research, potentially neglecting fundamental, long-term basic research (Perkmann et al., 2013). D'Este et al. (2019) found no evidence of a significant

difference between researchers oriented towards interdisciplinary research and their propensity to engage with industry. However, another study finds a positive relationship between interdisciplinary research and societal visibility which is strongest among researchers who collaborate with nonacademic external partners (D'Este & Robinson-García, 2023). Academic engagement has been found to differ between Higher Education subsystems as researchers from private institutions engage less in informal interactions with industry (Queirós et al., 2022). Researchers in research-intensive universities were found to engage more with industry than their peers from teaching-oriented universities. Studies reveals that researchers from STEM disciplines or technical universities are found to engage more with industry than their peers from social sciences or comprehensive universities (Schneijderberg et al., 2022). The explanation for this is that hard disciplines, and applied research fields in particular, offer opportunities for research that has industrial applications, and this type of research tends to have more needs for resources from external sources (Perkmann et al., 2011).

3.3 Conclusion

In summary, this chapter outlines the theoretical framework that will guide this thesis. It identifies and justifies the selection of Self-Determination Theory (SDT) as the most relevant theoretical lens for analysing academic researchers' motivations to engage with non-academic external partners. This thesis adopts SDT with two primary objectives: first, to understand why researchers engage in such activities by examining the alignment of their extrinsic and intrinsic motivations; and second, to explore how individual, organizational, and institutional factors influence researchers' behaviour toward academic engagement. By integrating SDT into the study of academic engagement, this thesis aims to provide insights into the motivational dynamics of academic researchers in Irish universities which informs their decision to engage with external collaborators.

CHAPTER FOUR: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter, I explain the research methodology used to address the research question for this study. Addressing this will provide an insight into how academic researchers working in higher education institutions in Ireland derive their motivation for engaging with non-academic partners, and to understand their mode of interaction with these external partners. The research methodology used in this study follows the seven steps involved in a research process suggested by Onwuegbuzie & Leech (2005) which include (1) Research problem formulation, (2) Research aim/purpose, research question(s) and hypothesis development, (3) selection of a research design/method, (4) Data collection, (5) Data analysis, (6) Data interpretation and validation, and (7) Communication of findings.

4.2 Research problem

As discussed in chapter one, this study identifies a research problem and the need to address it considering its attendant benefits to all key stakeholders, became imperative. The research problem is motivated by the fact that in recent years, there has been an increasing interest by government and research funding bodies on the need for societal impact of research, hence demanding more engagement between academic researchers and non-academic external partners (Marzocchi et al., 2023). However, such demand may put more pressure on academic researchers considering that such interactions are an additional responsibility, alongside their research and teaching roles in the university (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022). This pressure for more economic and societal impact has seen academics engaging more with non-academic external partners, which often comes with benefits and costs. Based on this research problem, my thesis thus seeks to explore the motivations for and modes of academic engagement among academic researchers working in higher education institutions in the republic of Ireland.

4.3 Research Question

In this thesis, an overarching research question is: "Why and how do academics engage with nonacademic collaborators?" and are further sub-divided into four specific research questions which include:

- 1. Why are academic researchers motivated to engage with non-academic partners?
- 2. How do academic researchers engage with non-academic partners?
- 3. How do individual, organizational, and institutional factors influence academic researchers' engagement with non-academic partners?
- 4. How does academic freedom influence academic researchers' engagement with nonacademic partners?

These research questions consider the research problems, and the research gaps as identified in the extant literature discussed in this thesis. Based on review of literature, this study identifies two major research gaps. Firstly, recent studies highlight that our understanding of academic researchers' behaviour towards academic engagement is still limited, particularly regarding their motivations for and modes of engagement with non-academic external partners. Secondly, previous studies on academic engagement have predominantly focused on a limited group of external stakeholders, particularly industry partners, making it difficult to generalize findings across a broader range of external stakeholders, such as business firms, charity organizations, non-governmental organizations, and government agencies. Consequently, this study explores why academic researchers are motivated to collaborate with a diverse range of non-academic external partners and examines how these collaborations are conducted through various modes of engagement. Furthermore, it investigates how individual, organizational, and institutional factors influence these interactions and how academic freedom shapes researchers' engagement with non-academic external partners. By addressing these issues, the study contributes to filling the research gaps by expanding beyond the traditionally emphasized industry collaborations, offering new insights into a broader spectrum of non-academic external partners, and contributing to a more comprehensive understanding of researchers' behaviour in academic engagement.

Therefore, considering the intent of this study as discussed above, it is the expectation of this study that this broad research question, and its sub-questions, is thus, useful in exploring experiences of academic researchers affiliated with various academic institutions in Ireland who have engaged with wide range of external stakeholders at different stages of the career lifecycle.

4.4 Selection of research methodology and research design

There are three main research methodologies: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Creswell, 2018; Dawson, 2019). In this thesis, qualitative research methodology was used in line with suggestions from previous studies on academic engagement. For instance, as suggested by a recent

study on academic engagement (Noke et al., 2024), this methodology will enable me to gain more insight into understanding behaviour towards academic engagement as a phenomenon. Furthermore, a qualitative research methodology "supports theorising, problematisation of rigid or engrained ways of thinking, questioning of taken-for-granted knowledge, exploration of little-known phenomena or context" (Köhler et al., 2022: 184), which is appropriate for a study on academic engagement where we seek to question taken-for-granted knowledge and also explore the phenomenon of how academic freedom influences academic engagement. Using a qualitative research methodology in this study will help provide an in-depth exploration of the research topic and phenomenon in context. Also, qualitative research is considered exploratory in approach, which has the primary goal of enabling researchers to gain deeper insight into people's behaviours, perceptions, experiences, and opinions, which are difficult to explore using a quantitative research approach (Techo, 2016), or mixed method approach that can be more complex to use (Åkerblad et al., 2021; Dawadi et al., 2021; Onwuegbuzie & Johnson, 2004).

4.5 Data Collection

According to Onwuegbuzie & Leech (2005: 280), "the two central issues routinely presented in research texts that pertain to data collection issues are sampling and instrumentation". Using this structure, I discuss the data collection method employed in this study.

4.5.1 Sampling

Snowball sampling was used to identify and recruit potential interviewees who participated in the study. Researchers use snowball sampling technique when it is challenging to locate participants through other traditional sampling methods or when the population of interest is hard to access or difficult to enumerate (Etikan, 2016). Therefore, as it relates to my study which is exploratory in nature with the intent to gather deep insight rather than generalizable information, snowball sampling is the best fit. Also, considering that not all academic researchers in Ireland are involved in engaging with industry, adopting this technique becomes imperative. To start this sampling for participants, my supervisors sent out an introductory email to some researchers within their network who have engaged externally. I later followed up with these participants by sending them an email. This follow-up email contains a brief information on the purpose of the study and why the researcher is being contacted for an interview. Other relevant documents concerning the study such as interview guide,

consent form, and information sheet (see Appendix I, V, VI respectively) and a booking link for interview sessions, were attached to the follow-up emails to participants.

Subsequent participants were later recruited via referral from those interviewees who participated in different interview sessions. I asked each participant interviewed to refer their colleagues who they know have similar experience and meet the selection criteria for recruiting participants. At the inception of the recruitment, an estimated sample size of 20 participants was the target of this study. However, participants recruitment for the interview in this study stopped upon saturation in the data collection process when no new data to add to insights to the research question was found. In all, nineteen interviews were conducted.

The criteria for inclusion or exclusion of participants for interview in this qualitative research study include:

- i. All selected participants must have engaged with non-academic partners (industry, public sector, charity organisations) or have ongoing engagements with non-academic partners.
- ii. All participants must be permanent staff of an Irish university.
- iii. All participants must be based in Ireland.
- iv. There must be fair representation of participants across gender, disciplines, and career stage.

Despite the advantages of using snowball sampling technique which was one of the reasons for its selection for use in this study as discussed earlier, this sampling technique is not without its limitations. Some of these limitations as identified in literature on qualitative research methods (Etikan, 2016; Saldana, 2014) are that (i) the sample might not be representative of the broader population due to the non-random selection process. The technique tends to connect individuals who share similarities, potentially leading to bias. (ii) The researcher has limited control over the sample diversity and the sample's representativeness of the entire population; and (iii) The success of this method depends heavily on the willingness and ability of initial participants to recruit others. All these limitations were addressed during the data collection stage in my study. For instance, bias in sampling was avoided as researchers recruited were specifically asked to suggest other researchers within discipline, gender or university type that were under-represented. Also, I ensured that all interview sessions were handled professionally, including good time management of the interview sessions and communications with participants before, during and after the interview. Using this approach, every participant was satisfied and were very willing to recruit other potential researchers for consideration to be interviewed.

69

The participants for this study are individual academic researchers who are faculty members from higher education institutions in the Republic of Ireland, who either have or currently are engaged with non-academic partners. The choice of engaging these researchers in the research study was in line with the focus of this study which is to obtain their personal experiences engaging with industry, to collect data to address the research question. Table 4.1 presents information on academic researchers who participated in the interview. In terms of university type, interviewees are affiliated with either traditional or technological university in Ireland within the disciplinary fields of social sciences, physical sciences, life sciences, engineering, medicine, and humanities. Also, both male and female researchers who are at different stage of their career – early career, mid-career and late career stages were represented in the study. A more comprehensive description of the participants is presented in Appendix II.

Participant	University type	Discipline	Gender	Career Stage
P1	Traditional	Social Sciences	F	Mid-Career
P2	Traditional	Social Sciences	М	Early-Career
Р3	Traditional	Social Sciences	F	Early-Career
P4	Traditional	Physical Sciences	М	Late-Career
Р5	Technological	Physical Sciences	М	Late-Career
P6	Traditional	Social Sciences	М	Early-Career
P7	Technological	Engineering	М	Mid-Career
P8	Traditional	Medicine	М	Late-Career
P9	Technological	Social Sciences	М	Mid-Career
P10	Traditional	Social Sciences	F	Early-Career
P11	Traditional	Physical Sciences	М	Early-Career
P12	Traditional	Medicine	F	Mid-Career
P13	Traditional	Physical Sciences	М	Mid-Career
P14	Traditional	Social Sciences	F	Mid-Career
P15	Traditional	Life Sciences	М	Late-Career
P16	Technological	Social Sciences	М	Late-Career
P17	Traditional	Social Sciences	F	Late-Career
P18	Technological	Life Sciences	F	Early-Career
P19	Traditional	Humanities	F	Late-Career

Table 4.1: Profile of Interview participants

In line with the ethics approval guiding this study, detailed information of participants interviewed in this study were excluded to maintain anonymity and confidentiality. This study ensured a wide representation of participants so that data collected will be rich enough to provide experiences from various categories of research. Ensuring careful representation of participants for the study is important because the interest of this study is to explore why and how the motivation and mode of interaction varies across researchers in Ireland when they engage with non-academic external partners. Further information of selection criteria for participants is discussed under sampling technique hereafter.

4.5.2 Instrument and data collection procedure

Data used for this study was collected using a semi-structured interview guide with open-ended questions. In a qualitative research study, a semi-structured interview is used in many studies across a variety of disciplines and research areas (Polit & Beck, 2016) because it allows for in-depth exploration. Besides, a recent study suggested the need to conduct interview-based studies to gain richer insights into individual researchers' motivation choices in academic engagement (Noke et al., 2024). A total of nineteen (19) interviews were conducted with only one individual participants at every interview session between 19th January – 26th February 2024, each lasting an average of 42 minutes. Eighteen (18) of these interviews were conducted virtually via video conferencing on Microsoft Teams, while only one interview with participant 8 (P8) was conducted via audio Phone call based on the preference of the participant. Each interview session was recorded to provide data for analysis in the study. Conducting interview via this medium conforms with the approval received from the MU Ethics committee (see Appendix IV). Table 4.2 shows information on the interviews conducted.

Participant ID	Interview Date/Time	Interview Duration	Medium used	
P1	19-01-2024/ 12noon	45mins	MS Teams	
P2	22-01-2024/ 11am	39mins	MS Teams	
P3	22-01-2024/ 12noon	46mins	MS Teams	
P4	25-01-2024/ 2pm	38mins	MS Teams	
P5	29-01-2024/3:30pm	51mins	MS Teams	
P6	01-02-2024/ 1pm	57mins	MS Teams	
P7	06-02-2024/10am	40mins	MS Teams	
P8	07-02-2024/8:20am	29mins	Mobile Phone Call	
P9	07-02-2024/ 10:30am	57mins	MS Teams	
P10	09-02-2024/10am	42mins	MS Teams	
P11	12-02-2024/11am	30mins	MS Teams	
P12	12-02-2024/2pm	40mins	MS Teams	
P13	13-02-2024/10am	45mins	MS Teams	
P14	19-02-2024/9am	27mins	MS Teams	
P15	20-02-2024/11am	43mins	MS Teams	
P16	20-02-2024/12:30pm	44mins	MS Teams	
P17	21-02-2024/11am	45mins	MS Teams	
P18	23-02-2024/4pm	39mins	MS Teams	
P19	26-02-2024/4:30pm	44mins	MS Teams	

 Table 4.2: The study Interview details on duration and medium used

The semi-structured interview guide used for data collection in this study (see Appendix I) consists of six open-ended questions. These questions focus on exploring participants' experience of engaging with industry in the past; what motivates them to engage with industry and why these motivational factors matter to them; how organisational and institutional factors influence their engagement with non-academic external partners; problems participants encountered in their past engagement; their level of satisfaction in past engagement and suggestions of aspect of academic engagement that requires improvement going-forward. These open-ended questions were crafted such that I can get participants to share their experiences of their previous academic engagement, so that it can provide this thesis with useful data to address the study underlying research questions. In this study, a well organised and systematic procedure was used for conducting the interviews. Before contacting participants to solicit their interest in the study, approval was obtained from Maynooth University's Ethics Review Committee - the Social Research Ethics sub-committee - responsible for reviewing research projects involving the participation of humans. The documents submitted and approved include:

- i. Completed application form Maynooth University protocol for tier 2-3 ethical review of a research project involving participants of humans.
- ii. Interviewee consent form (Appendix V)
- iii. Interviewee information sheet (Appendix VI)
- iv. Interview guide (Appendix I)

4.6 Data Analysis

Analysis of interview data started immediately after the first two interviews were concluded. Researchers are advised to commence data analysis and preparation of field reports immediately after the first interview are concluded because "what emerges from the data analysis may shape subsequent sampling decisions" (Moser & Korstjens, 2018: 15). Indeed, adopting this analysis approach was helpful to this study considering that I was able to identify a better approach to asking interviewees questions based on the interview guide.

Qualitative data analysis is a process that requires sequential steps. As a result, Creswell (2018) suggested seven steps researchers can adopt when analysing interview data in qualitative research. As shown in Figure 4.1, these five steps include (i) Collect raw data (e.g., transcripts, fieldnotes, images), (ii) organise and prepare data for analysis, (iii) read through all data, (iv) coding of data

(manually or software use), (v) interrelate themes, (vi) interpretation of themes, (vii) validate data for accuracy of information (compare raw data with interpreted themes and quotes).



Figure 4.1: Data Analysis in Qualitative Research

Source: (Creswell, 2018: 269)

These seven steps guided analysis of interview data in my study. The initial raw data were from transcripts of the interviews conducted. These data were generated from video recordings from MS Teams for each session and were converted to audio files (MP3 format) and tagged with pre-defined labels (PI, P2, P3...P19) to ensure anonymity and to protect identity of participants in line with the MU Ethics guidelines as approved. Where interview was conducted via mobile call (voice call), the call was recorded, and the audio recording was also converted to MP3 format so that all data are in same format and for easy processing. These video and audio files were stored in cloud storage provided by Maynooth University. This storage choice of storage was to protect the integrity and privacy of data. Besides, this was the expected standard for storing data for all MU postgraduate students according to the university policy. To generate transcripts for these interview data (already in MP3 formats), I used "Dictate" button on the menu bar, on Microsoft Word. I did try to use MS Teams to transcribe, but the transcripts produced from the initial two interviews transcribed via MS Teams were not as accurate as those generated via Microsoft Word.

Upon transcribing the interview data, each transcripts file (docx format) was labelled as (PI, P2, P3.... P19) to ensure anonymity. Also, as part of the process to prepare data for analysis, I replaced all personal information in each transcript that could reveal the identity of participants. For instance, where a respondent's name was included in the transcript because of transcribing process, a pseudocode (Participant 1, 2,3...19) was used to replace the name. Also, other information in the text of the transcript that could reveal identity of the participants (e.g. where participants mentioned name of their university) were also replaced in each transcript. To complete this phase of the transcript process, I read through each transcript meticulously to ensure accuracy of all information against the original recording obtained. This was done to prevent misrepresentation of fact or assumption of my own ideas. Given the semi-structured nature of the data, Microsoft Excel was used as an aid for manual coding. Codes are assigned to the data based on themes identified from the interview transcripts. The coding process is essential because it allows me to identify and group themes based on their similarities, making it possible to interpret the data and provide evidence to answer the research questions. A codebook was created to facilitate the systematic analysis of data, detailing each identified theme and its description (see Appendix III).

4.7 Validation of data

The validity of the interview findings was ensured throughout the data handling phase of this study. To achieve this, I meticulously conducted all interview recordings and used a consistent process to collect and analyse participant data. I continuously verified all data before and after analysis. I maintained reliability by applying the same themes and codes to the data from all participants. Additionally, interview transcripts were created verbatim, without reflecting my own opinions. When the transcript text was unclear, I replayed the recordings to capture the original statements of the participants accurately.

4.8 Communication of findings

Upon analysis of data, to communicate the findings of this study, themes were grouped based on the two parts of the core research question ("why" and "how"). In the first group are those themes that falls under motivations (the "why") for research to engage with non-academic external partners which I tagged "rationale for engaging with non-academic external partners". The second group tagged "pattern used in engaging with non-academic external partners" are those themes which provides insights into "the how" aspect academic researchers engage with non-academic external partners. Such themes that were grouped under "rationale for engaging" were those attributes earlier identified in extant literature as the three determinants of academic engagement being individual characteristics,

organisational characteristics, and institutional characteristics. Detailed explanation on the interrelation and interpretation of these themes are presented and discussed in the next chapter (Chapter Four: Results and Discussion) of this thesis.

4.9 Conclusion

This thesis aims to explore the motivations for and modes of academic engagement among academic researchers working in higher education institutions in the Republic of Ireland. Based on this purpose, this thesis developed four main research questions: (i) Why are academic researchers motivated to engage with non-academic partners? (ii) How do academic researchers engage with non-academic partners? (iii) How do academic researchers engage with non-academic researchers' engagement with non-academic partners? (iv) How does academic freedom influence academic researchers' engagement with non-academic partners? (iv) How does academic freedom influence academic researchers' engagement with non-academic partners?

To answer these research questions, a qualitative research method was adopted to enable the study to gain more insight into understanding behaviour towards academic engagement as a phenomenon. Concerning research design, this thesis adopted the phenomenological approach as it will enable the study to gain insight into Irish academic researchers' "lived experiences".

The snowball sampling technique is used to identify and recruit potential interviewees who participated in the study. Snowball sampling is the best fit for this study as it is exploratory and intends to gather deep insight rather than generalisable information. This study's participants are academic researchers who are faculty members from higher education institutions in the Republic of Ireland who either have or are currently engaged with non-academic partners. Interviewees were selected based on a careful representation of male and female researchers at different career stages in various disciplines.

A semi-structured interview guide consisting of six open-ended questions, this study conducted nineteen qualitative interviews with academic researchers from diverse fields—social sciences, physical sciences, life sciences, engineering, medicine, and humanities—across several public universities in Ireland. Data analysis was done manually using Microsoft Excel, which was used to code data from all the interview transcripts. Before the data collection process commenced, ethical approval was obtained from Maynooth University's ethical committee. The interviews were conducted strictly according to this ethical guideline, while the confidentiality and anonymity of participants were strictly maintained. In conclusion, the research methodology used in this study effectively addressed the research questions, facilitating a thorough exploration and generating valuable findings that contribute to the field.

CHAPTER FIVE: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.1 Introduction

This chapter presents and discusses results from the thematic analysis of interview data for the study wherein Microsoft Excel was used mainly for coding interview data collected in the study (see Appendix III for the "code book" describing the codes and themes used in this study). In this chapter, I unpack the thesis's theoretical framework to guide analysis and discussion. For this purpose, Figure 5.1 links the theoretical framework presented in Chapter 3.2 to the analysis of the interview data presented in this Chapter 5.





Interpretation				
	Chapters 5.2.1 -5.2.5 (Research Funding - Relatedness)			
	Chapter 5.2.6 (Academic Freedom/Autonomy)			
	Chapter 5.3.1 (Individual Factors)			
	Chapter 5.3.2 (Organisational Characteristics)			
	Chapter 5.3.3 (Institutional Characteristics)			

The primary focus of this chapter is to draw insights from results analysed with a view to providing answers to the overarching research question for this study *"why and how do academics engage with non-academic collaborators?"* and by extension, for the four sub-questions which are as follows:

- 1. Why are academic researchers motivated to engage with non-academic partners?
- 2. How do academic researchers engage with non-academic partners?
- 3. How do individual, organizational, and institutional factors influence academic researchers' engagement with non-academic partners?
- 4. How does academic freedom influence academic researchers' engagement with nonacademic partners?

This chapter is organised into two main sections, each with associated sub-sections, where I present and discuss the study results. The two main sections are as follows:

- I. Rationale for non-academic collaboration ("Why").
- II. Pattern of engagement ("How")

It is noteworthy that the above organisation corresponds to research sub-questions 1 and then 2,3 and 4. The purpose of structuring the chapter in this way is to maintain a clear link between the study's research questions, theoretical framework, and the analysis of the results obtained.

5.2 Rationale for non-academic collaboration – The "Why"

There are numerous reasons why academics engage with non-academic collaborators that were identified from the interview data. Based on the analysis of the interview data, I identified the following themes as being most relevant: competence-building activities; access to funding; career benefits and reputation; networking; access to in-kind resources; contribution to society; affective duty; and academic freedom. Extant literature argues that "engaging with industry constitutes discretionary behaviour for academics" (D'Este & Perkmann, 2011: 320). Therefore, going by the findings of this study under the "rationale" for engagement, one could as well infer that such "discretionary behaviour" may likely be shaped by individual researchers motive for engaging with non-academic external partners, an attribute which differs from one researcher to another. Therefore, the focus of this section is to answer the following part of the research question *"why do researchers engage with non-academic external partners?*

5.2.1 Access to funding

The need to access external funding plays a major role as to why researchers engage with nonacademic external collaborators, however not all interviewees consider this as a major motivational factor. Interviewees show two ways in which funding drives researchers' engagement: (i) researchers' self-perception of the need for fund; and (ii) pressure from external funders. This insight gathered from interviewees who participated in my study thus agrees that one of the major concerns of individual researchers is accessibility to research funding (Aagaard et al., 2021; Fink et al., 2020; Taxt, 2023). One interviewee stated "Yes, so attraction of funding is also a reason why I do it [engage externally]" (P7). This aligns with the claim that researchers explore interaction with industry as an alternative means of sourcing for funding (Perkmann et al., 2021). Similarly, another interviewee noted that "often it enables you to access research funding in a way that you couldn't if you weren't engaging externally, and the funders weren't able to see the kind of the real-life value of the research" (P1). This supports findings from earlier studies that indeed, opportunity to access external funding for research is one of the motivations for researchers to engage with external collaboration (D'Este et al., 2013; Hooi & Wang, 2020; Ubfal & Maffioli, 2011). Researchers who have succeeded in securing funding previously are more motivated to seek more funding. According to an interviewee "I suppose one of the motivations behind me doing that was because certainly the first time I did it, I saw that this was a funding scheme that was available, that could provide a small amount of funding" (P19). This statement is consistent with the finding that availability of funding predicts the intensity to which researchers will engage with external collaborators (lorio et al., 2017). This finding also supports the claim that industry-funded projects motivate academic researchers to collaborate with industry partners (D'Este & Patel, 2007).

My study reveals that academic engagement significantly enhances researchers' success with their grant applications. For instance, one interviewee said, "*the primary motivator of putting together a consortium and a solid consortium is to get that application for grant through*". (P3). This finding thus extends the reasoning given by existing studies as to why researchers engage with external collaborators such as to secure additional funding to hire research support staff (e.g., graduate students) and purchase equipment and consumables for their research (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022; D'Este & Perkmann, 2011d; Wang et al., 2023).

Researchers seeking funding are often pressured by funding agencies to engage with external collaborators as a precondition for accessing funds. My study supports the claim that conditions that need to be met in grant applications influence academics behaviour in favour of academic engagement (Hooi & Wang, 2020). For instance, one interviewee said, *"Some of the European projects we've been*

78

involved in, it wasn't that we actively wanted an industry partner, but it was a requirement of the funding that there would be a minimum number of industry partners on the projects". (P16). Also, another interviewee said "it's a requirement from Funding Agency basically. So, you have to have someone from non-academics like industries as this is directly the call requirement. But I would say every call has its own requirement". (P18). "So for some funding, they would say that, OK, this funding is only available if you have an industrial partner...., so funding is one of the reasons as well, besides a direct impact..." (P2). These findings support that claim that the source of funding affects researchers' behaviour, as external funders impose various selection and evaluation criteria that often require researchers to adjust their collaboration partners to meet these criteria (Gulbrandsen & Smeby, 2005).

Also, this finding shows support that source of funding could impact on researchers' academic freedom. Previous studies have argued that restrictive funding sources constitute some form of pressure for researchers and could harm research (Gläser et al., 2022; Goduscheit, 2022; Kladakis et al., 2022; Zacharewicz et al., 2023). Further to the influence of industry preconditioning researchers to engage, interviewees also mentioned that their reason for engagement is because their employment contracts as provided by their university manager asked them to do so. Like one interviewee said, *"I had to collaborate with industry due to my [employment] contract" (P14)*. This finding suggests that the choice of performance evaluation metrics in use by university managers influences researchers to engage in adaptive behaviour termed "the Evaluation Game" (Kulczycki, 2023). Use of such metrics may also infringe on researchers' academic freedom.

5.2.2 Access to in-kind resources

Access to in-kind resources refers to those non-monetary resources which includes access to materials, research expertise and equipment. These resources are categorised as non-financial resources in my study. One interviewee gave account of how they were able to access materials for their research because of their collaboration with external partner. This position was stated as "so if you're doing research which requires let's say some kind of a soil sample, so and that's something that you know the industry partner that you're engaging with can provide. So, they're providing you the raw material for your research or they're helping you with some data that that can help facilitate an analysis and coming up with impactful findings from the research" (P3). This finding aligns with the position that researchers explore academic engagement to access non-monetary resources (Carattoli et al., 2017; D'Este & Perkmann, 2011).

Another finding which is worth mentioning is that interviewees mentioned that their engagement with external partners has enabled them to access participants for their research study and that these

participants are experts in the research area under study. "So, the first reason is that from a pragmatic point of view, access to participants. You cannot really get access easily to specific kinds of people, certainly from my experience, without going through this kind of official channels" (P17). Considering this insight, my finding however does not support the claim that researchers are more motivated to engage with external collaborators solely because it offers them access to monetary benefits (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022; Zheng et al., 2023), rather non-monetary resources shape the behaviour towards extrinsic motivational factors.

5.2.3 Career Benefits & Reputation

Findings from data analysed in my study have also revealed that individual researchers engage with external collaborators to benefit their career and to increase their reputation as researchers. In terms of career benefit, interviewees share their various reasons why they are motivated to engage in interaction with industry. There are those researchers whose reason for involvement in academic engagement was to achieve recognition. For instance, according to an interviewee "I would say is not just academic publication, because that's obviously very important for our career. But I think in any kind of reports you write, or any kind of practitioner focused publications, any kinds of blogs, any kinds of posts, any kind of media contribution, and their name is associated with the work shows impact. It shows that you're doing something real for real people, and you're helping these agencies to do their work better. So that's going to get you higher level impact recognition" (P17). Another interviewee stated that engaging with external partners was motived on the premise that it can enhance their career development in terms of academic promotion. "Having policy impact can be a factor that shows your esteem within an academy, and that's one of the factors that is taken into account for example in academic promotions. Umm, so you know, that's another area within which it has benefited my career because being able to show the depth and breadth of my research I think has been helpful in terms of my own career development" (P19). This supports the claim that the ambition to gain recognition and have an impact outside academia is an extrinsic motivational factor why researchers pursue academic engagement (Lam, 2011).

Another interesting quote from an interviewee shows that the need to attain status or raise their profile for themselves motivates them to engage with external partners. In support of this position an interviewee affirms that "....*it is the need to also you know gain status from your side or to develop, you know, your profile or your ranking because you need to get published and to get published you need the industry experience"* (P6). This finding coincides with cited motivators in the literature (Dietz & Bozeman, 2005; Siegel et al., 2004). Aside from attaining personal status, there are researchers who

80

engage for the sake of raising the profile of their universities as claimed by another interviewee "I'm doing that ... to kind of raise the profile of the [department name]. It gives us more opportunities and it gives our students more opportunities" (P13). This finding seems to agree with an earlier study which also found that researchers engage with industry because they want to further outreach missions of their universities (Zhang et al., 2017).

Furthermore, on career benefits of academic engagement, my study also revealed that interaction with external partners is beneficial to attaining promotion. In this regard two interviewees' insights become relevant. According to an interviewee "So, I've recently been promoted ... a number of the promotion criteria are about research engagement or engaged research" (P1). Similarly, another interviewee also said "I suppose from a promotion perspective it's key driver of promotion within the academic sector. So, from a personal perspective, a lot of the driver I suppose is career drivers. So, I suppose that's the personal motivation to engage because you would not achieve, you know, really in all aspects now, you need to have stakeholder engagement" (P12). This finding supports the idea that incentivising academic engagement can have a direct or indirect effect on researchers' motivation to engage with non-academic external partners (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2023). Further to this finding, one could note that this direct or indirect effect of engagement may be more felt in relation to a researchers need for career advancement. In such a case, researchers who are still at an earlier stage of their career will be more interested to engage in external interaction to achieve promotion. Furthermore, universities that mandate researchers to engage with external partner will extrinsically motivate such researchers to pursue academic engagement. The need to attain academic reputation was another extrinsic motivation factor that my study found. Insight given by an interviewee is that "there are multiple reasons for engaging with external partner, obviously personal reputation is one of them" (P15). My finding agrees with the claim that researchers who are motivated based on the need for reputational gain will most likely be orientated strongly towards academic engagement because of its potential for career advancement (Rijnsoever & Hessels, 2021).

Researchers are often motivated to engage with external collaborators when their research outcomes have the potential to contribute to evidence-based policymaking. An interviewee highlighted this motivation, stating, *"You're doing your research or something that can inform policy"* (P3). This reflects findings in recent literature, such as those by Clauss et al. (2022), which suggest that enhancing their reputation and being seen as contributors to impactful policy decisions can significantly drive researchers' willingness to interact with industry and other external entities. There is the perception that beyond publication metrics, the impact on policymaking serves as another valuable indicator of researchers' level of productivity. For instance, there are researchers who may be publishing less papers but then may make contributions to policymaking which does not only reflect performance but

81

also, this is earn them a positive reputation among their peers in the academic community. Researchers with such extrinsic desire will thus, be more willing to engage with industry or other nonacademic partners.

5.2.4 Competence-building activities

Thematic analysis conducted on interview data collected in this study reveals a broad theme of competence-building activities which explains part of the motivation as to why Irish academic researchers engage with non-academic external partners. These sub-themes include knowledge generation and enhancing; problem solving, knowledge application, and technology development. These competence-building activities are considered as an important intrinsic motivation driver for individual academic researchers who are more inclined towards building their research capacity or satisfying their intellectual curiosity. So, to achieve this knowledge-building capacity, they tend to explore potential opportunities in academic engagement. I found these themes to align with insight from previous literature which shows that these competence-building related activities associated with collaborative research projects between academic researchers and industry can be categorised into four groups — knowledge generation, idea testing, technology development and problem solving (Perkmann & Walsh, 2009). Also, all these items in the sub-theme fit into the description of "need for competence", which is a major component of intrinsic motivation factor in the SDT theoretical framework of this study (see Figure 5.1).

Insight gathered from the interview data analysed indicates that researchers whose motive is to achieve more competency in their research engage with non-academic external partners in those activities that will enhance their knowledge and as well facilitate learning. According to an interviewee, *"the reason to collaborate with industry is to be able to kind of build your own knowledge, you know around the domain and to build your knowledge[...]you need to hear from the people that have experience in the domain that one is researching or in the particular area that one needs to find knowledge or develop knowledge around" (P6). This aligns with findings from previous studies that found that where academic researchers whose interest is to advance knowledge are motivated to be involved in academic engagement (Bhullar et al., 2019; D'Este & Perkmann, 2011).*

Further insights gathered from interviewees relate to knowledge generation because interaction with industry enables them to explore new lines of research and generate interesting research questions. "So, I think you get much better research questions when you engage with industry or external because their questions are usually based in the lived reality. You know, whereas mine are probably more stemming from the kind of theoretical puzzles and challenges [...] I think you get really, really

interesting and relevant research questions that serve both the academic community and the real-life practitioners" (P1). This finding supports literature arguing that collaboration with industry benefits academic researchers because they can generate new ideas and research lines for their research through the engagement with non-academic partners (Tartari & Breschi, 2012). Moreover, the ability to create new lines of research enables researchers develop new skills and be more competent (Orazbayeva et al., 2020; Orazbayeva & Plewa, 2022).

There are also some researchers whose interest is to solve industry problems. In this regard, researchers with such motives are more willing to engage with industry as this engagement will offer them opportunity to address their own interests. This study finds support for this assertion based on interviewees' responses to what motivates them to engage with non-academic collaborators. For instance, an interviewee explains that "You're doing your research [with an industry partner] on something which can solve a problem that a particular industry is facing, or a consumer group is facing...." (P3). Similarly, another interviewee reveals that "I'm interested in addressing challenges, problems and things like that ... So I'm interested not necessarily in contributing to academic knowledge, but I'm interested in contributing to improving systems and getting better outcomes" (P16). These perceptions are congruent with the idea that engagement between academic researchers and industry depends on individual researchers' intrinsic motivations and their goal to solve industry problems (Bodas Freitas et al., 2013; D'Este et al., 2018; Figueiredo & Ferreira, 2022; Perkmann et al., 2013). By implication, the desire to solve industry problems is a major motivation why academic researchers engage with industry partners.

Also, before industry problems can be solved, researchers need to be well-informed and develop indepth understandings about the nature of these problems. Therefore, to get a deeper understanding of a problem that the industry partner is facing, academic researchers tend to engage with industry. Perceptions gathered from an interviewee provide insights related to this argument; " *So and when we collaborate with industry, it provides the platform or the opportunity to understand what is actually going on rather than what we know from the literature*" (P6). This study's findings thus support the claim that the need to gain knowledge about industry problems motivates academic researchers to interact with non-academic external partners (Zhang et al., 2017).

Regarding the application of knowledge or idea testing, one of the interviewees from an applied research discipline stated that "...personally I've always had an interest in the application side of the research so that that also drew me to that kind of collaborations" (P4). Similarly, another interviewee also cited the need to explore the application-side of research within a real-world context. According to one of the interviewees " So if industry is involved in my research, it means there is a real-world quick application" (P11). Considering both instances, this research thus supports the claim that

academic researchers are motivated to engage externally with non-academic partners, because of the desire to apply the knowledge of test their research ideas within an industry (Austin et al., 2021; D'Este & Perkmann, 2011; Zhang et al., 2017).

Findings from the interviews also revealed that researchers engaged in collaborative projects with industry to gain insight into industry partners' technological needs. There was a case where an interviewee revealed that " *So I just wanted to know about the technology, that's only my aim to know about technology and what is the perspectives in the future of that particular technology*" (P18). This study thus supports that indeed, researchers' involvement in external collaborative projects will be dependent on whether they are more interested in basic research projects or applied projects aimed at problem solving (McKelvey et al., 2015).

Another interviewee reveals that collaboration with non-academic partners makes him more innovative and this satisfies his intrinsic personal desire "*If I was to say which has the most enjoyment, it's where I get to invent things. So, I would have several patents and licences. Be looking at developing new technologies for new applications*" (P5). Findings from the interviews are consistent with the claim that satisfaction of researchers' intrinsic motivation rather than extrinsic motivations is the rationale driving researchers to pursue academic engagement with industry (Lam, 2011; Orazbayeva & Plewa, 2022; Sormani & Rossano-Rivero, 2023). Likewise, another interviewee stated that engaging with industry has assisted him in developing technologies and innovation solutions. "*I really like working with people outside of academia, I think they bring an innovation, they bring a new way of thinking to a project that you wouldn't get from an academic group just writing on their own*". (P12). My finding thus disagrees the criticism that academic engagement could hinder research and innovation (Collyer, 2015), but instead it is advantageous to research and academic researchers (Bhullar et al., 2019; D'Este & Perkmann, 2011; O'Dwyer et al., 2023).

5.2.5 Networking

Researchers desire to build and expand their personal or professional network and exploring academic engagement can enable them to achieve this purpose. Interviewees in my study emphasized that their need to form or build new networks enhances their connections with external collaborators. Taking this reasoning into account, networking thus represents the need for "relatedness" which is one of the intrinsic motivational factors included in the theoretical framework for this study. According to an interviewee, "there are multiple reasons why I engage externally, obviously [...] to build my own network is one [of the reasons]" (P15). In this instance, my study thus establishes that indeed,

researchers would be driven towards academic engagement because of their perceived relatedness as an intrinsic motivational factor (Obschonka et al., 2012; Tartari et al., 2014) congruent with SDT.

Another interviewee also shared a similar motive for engaging with industry. "I'm doing that for public engagement and for networking and to try to make contacts that you know might be useful for future projects "(P13). This finding supports the idea that researchers build their networks to attract future projects with external partners (Taxt, 2023). An interviewee stated that the reason for building connections with industry is to maintain close contact, especially since they had worked there before joining the university. "Prior to becoming a university lecturer, I was involved in industry and uh when I became a lecturer. I was very, very conscious that I wanted to maintain that industry connection, not just to be a lecturer" (P7). While this finding supports the claim that relatedness positively influences researchers' involvement in academic engagement (Orazbayeva et al., 2021), however, it does not agree with the argument that researchers are not interested in building networks with industry (Queirós et al., 2022). Another interesting observation which my study found was that researchers are eager to build their network with various non-academic external partners including charity partners. This suggests that various researchers despite their choice of external engagement partners, do have in common the need to relatedness as an intrinsic motivation factor for academic engagement. It also shows the benefit of adopting a wide sampling frame for the interviewees.

5.2.6 Academic Freedom

Academic freedom, which implies researchers' autonomy to make decisions about their own research agenda, was found to be another important rationale that informs why researchers interact with non-academic external partners. Based on experiences shared by a number of interviewees (P8, P15, P19, P13, P14, P10, P12, P16) who participated in my study, they agree that the academic freedom landscape in Ireland is supportive. "*So in Ireland, under the Universities Act, which is a university government instrument, we have protected academic freedom, so as an academic with tenure in Ireland, one is able to work with whom one wants and in whatever topic they wish"* (P8). This finding agrees with extant studies that have rated Ireland's country score for Academic Freedom Index (AFI) as indeed conducive, particularly for its higher education institutions (Berggren & Bjørnskov, 2022a; Kinzelbach, Saliba, & Spannagel, 2021; Kinzelbach et al., 2021; Maassen et al., 2023; Sandström & Besselaar, 2018).

Another interviewee noted that academic freedom in Ireland may not be absolute. This is contrary to the generally perceived opinion about the academic freedom landscape in Ireland. An account of this was given by an interviewee that "In Ireland, we don't try to, or we don't interact in any the research

that could be harmful for human being or for the society. So, we try to avoid such research" (P11). This finding shows evidence for worries by some scholars that the Higher Education Authority Act 2022 may affect academic freedom in practice, particularly freedom to research, teach and study, within the context of Ireland (Maassen et al., 2023). In essence, it is because of such worries that scholars have called for the need that Ireland's policy on higher education institutions in the future must endeavour to provide a conducive structure that will encourage knowledge exchange among researchers in Irish higher educational institutions (Zhang et al., 2017). My findings also support the extent to which researchers perceive the need for academic freedom which can as well inform their behaviour towards academic engagement. For instance, an interviewee stated that "In my own capacity as researcher now, I do have autonomy over who I want to partner with. It's important to have that autonomy because that allows you to keep ownership of your own research agenda and not be working on other people's research agenda" (P16). With this finding, my study found support for the claim that perceived autonomy has a positive influence on researchers' willingness to engage with non-academic external collaborators (Clauss et al., 2022). Another interviewee has also described how important academic freedom is to their research activities and motivation for engaging in collaborative projects with non-academic external partners. An account of this claim was substantiated by a particular interviewee who stated that "I would quard jealously that academic freedom you know and so for example when I talk about those reports when I send those reports to my external partners for review, I always promised the external partners that they will have an opportunity to review the reports before they're made publicly available and that they'll be free to comment on those and suggest edits but they don't have editorial control over the reports [...] So I will always decide what the end report looks like" (P1). This finding also supports the positive relationships between perceived autonomy and academic engagement as earlier claimed in extant literature (Orazbayeva et al., 2021).

It is thus important to say that such autonomy does not only enable researchers to be actively motivated to pursue academic engagement, but it can as well make them more innovative and perform better in such collaborative projects. The reasoning for this claim is because researchers who are intrinsically motivated are more likely to be strategic in the kind of engagement projects they get involved in or the partners they select (Deci et al., 1999). There is the likelihood that such researchers would be less interested in academic engagement projects that will thwart their academic freedom. For instance, an interviewee mentioned that "*It's my choice if I want to get involved in research that's going to have a dissemination issue*" (P16), which agrees with the position that individual researchers have the volition to choose which engagement activity they want to participate in and also the level to which they may want to partake in such task (Cerasoli et al., 2016). Interviews from my study also revealed the role of the Irish government in restricting research in certain areas to prevent unethical

practices among researchers involved in collaborative projects with industry. An interviewee shared with me, "the most significant example for me is the tobacco industry. In the field of Medicine and Health Sciences, there are certain groups we prefer not to collaborate with due to their unethical and questionable scientific practices in the past" (P8). This finding underscores the importance of stringent ethical guidelines and oversight in research collaborations. Fink et al. (2023) argue that without adequate regulation and proper checks and balances from government or university managers, there is a risk that researchers might engage with industries known for unethical practices, such as the tobacco industry. Also, this reinforces the need for careful selection of partners, particularly for researchers in the fields of Medicine and Health Sciences, to maintain ethical integrity.

According to a different interviewee, "There are ethical concerns regarding the direction of our research. For example, government legislation restricts our development of technology or collaboration with industries when the results might have dual uses. A technology might be intended for medical purposes but could also be applied to military weapons. Therefore, we must be cautious about the end user and the potential applications of the technology. While commercial regulations may exist to some extent, they definitely impact our work." (P8). Such regulations could negatively impact on the researcher's independence to pursue fundamental research (Rijnsoever & Hessels, 2021), which makes some scholars to also call for concerns as to the attendant negative implications of such regulations on individual researchers academic freedom (Tartari & Breschi, 2012), and their ability to promote research reproducibility and integrity (Davis et al., 2011; Jasny et al., 2017). On account of this finding, academic freedom does, at least in part, determine individual researchers' behaviour towards academic engagement (Moraes et al., 2023), a relationship that the theoretical framework for my study also considers necessary for informing researchers, and in particular those with intrinsic motivation, self-determination to willingly participate in collaborative projects with external partners.

5.2.7 Contribute to Society

Researchers interviewed mentioned that the desire to contribute to society through engaging in research activities that will benefit other people in society motivates them to engage in interactions with non-academic external collaborators. Although this theme was not directly included in the theoretical framework for my study, however, my broad analysis of motivation factors for engagement had identified this as "prosocial" motivation. According to insight given by an interviewee, the need to contribute to society by engaging in research projects that seek to address societal problems drives their motivation towards academic engagement. This interviewee stated that "a lot of my research is around trying to have a societal benefit"...."I really wanted to do research that was benefit to society.

I saw charity partners as also having a similar challenge as wanting to do that work" (P19). This finding is consistent with the findings from existing research which suggested prosocial motivation as the fourth motivational factors geared towards engaging in research for the sole purpose of benefitting the society (Grant, 2008; Iorio et al., 2017; Orazbayeva & Plewa, 2022; Sormani & Uude, 2022).

Also, further insight from interviewees shows that such researchers with prosocial motivation are mostly driven by such academic engagement projects that will enable them to have real-life impacts. Following this line of thought, an interviewee said *"they (external partners) are looking for such research outputs that can help solve a problem, or that can help improve the lives of people at some stage, in some shape or form...So that's essentially the motivator for not just doing research for the sake of publishing papers or having theses, but also having a real-life impact" (P3). This finding further supports the assertion of the findings from other studies which identified prosocial motivation behaviour of researchers towards external engagement (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022). Therefore, the need to contribute to society is considered as an important intrinsic motivational factor that could drive researchers to engage with non-academic collaborators.*

5.2.8 Affective duty

Findings from my study has revealed that researchers engage with external partners based on their desire to fulfil their affective duty. In this regard, affective duty entails researchers who derive motivation towards academic engagement to teach their students better, secure jobs and training for students, invite talks from industry experts, or co-supervise student projects. This finding is another interesting motivational factor which was not envisaged in my theoretical framework but was identified in chapter two where I discussed academic engagement in the literature. An interviewee said, "*So I did interact with industry to get some partial links for my PhD students and also just then in the future to give them a route to have placement or internship in the industry, so they have multiple experiences, not just sitting on one desk and doing PhD*". (P11). This supports the position that academic engagement offers students a placement opportunity in industry (Lee & Miozzo, 2015), as such this could as well inform researchers rationale to engage with external collaborators.

The need to enable researchers to deliver their teaching programmes as an affective duty motivated researchers to engage with industry. An account attributed to an interviewee shows that "*From an education perspective, we have a requirement to engage with industry partners in order to deliver our programmes and to facilitate competency for healthcare practitioners*" (P12). My study thus supports the claim that interaction with industry enables university researchers to draw on those activities that

could help them deliver their academic (teaching) programmes to their students more effectively (Butcher & Jeffrey, 2007; Wang et al., 2016).

Similarly, another interviewee revealed the desire to co-supervise graduate students was a major motivation for their engagement with industry. This interviewee said "So in the case of our university, actually the way that Master's degree was structured like every project was supposed to have this industry engagement of one sort or another, including in some cases like a government department engagement. So, it was just part of my normal job to co-supervise those projects" (P13). My findings support the claim that there is a significant positive relationship between knowledge interaction with external partners and supervision of students (Reymert & Thune, 2022). However, while their findings claim that such engagement is more prominent with partners from public sector organisations as against industry partner, my finding shows that such engagement is the other way round in that industry partners are more preferred for interactions.

5.3 Pattern of engagement – The "How"

In this section, I present and discuss findings of the interview data analysed. Hence, the focus of this section is to answer the part of the research question around *"how do researchers engage with non-academic external partners?* To aid the interpretation and discussion of results from this study, data collected from participants who were interviewed (see Appendix II) and this was compared with findings from extant literature reviewed earlier in sections 2.2 and 2.4.4 of chapter 2 of this thesis.

5.3.1. Individual Characteristics

Individual characteristics that shape or determine how academic researchers in Irish higher education institutions engage with industry or other non-academic have been identified. These characteristics discussed under this sub-section include gender, career stage, and prior experience in academic engagement.

Gender

Gender of academic researchers interviewed also provided insight as to how researchers engage with non-academic external collaborators. A study conducted on Italian professors found male academic researchers to engage more with industry (Abramo & D'Angelo, 2022). Finding from my study on Irish

89

researchers found support for this claim however unlike their male counterparts who engage with industry, female participants (P1, P3, P10, P12, P14, P17, P18, & P19) engage more with NGOs, charity organisations, and civil society organisations (see Appendix II). My observation for this pattern of engagement in terms of choice of engagement partner type for female researchers is because they seem to be more interested in research around children and youth, and evidence for this statement was clear from the interview transcripts. For example, a female interviewee provided more evidence on this reasoning. "*So, some of the work I would do would be around children's Rights. So, I would do some outreach work, you know, going to schools, talking to them about their Rights. Other ones that I've worked with is with LGBT youth and I do some work around relationships and sexuality education*" (P10). My finding also supported an earlier study conducted on researchers in the United Kingdom which claims male academic researchers to engage more with industry (Abreu & Grinevich, 2017).

Further insight shows that the desire to influence policy making and practices explains why female researchers prefers to engage with NGOs. A female interviewee who prefers engaging with NGOs said *"a very high level international organisation might be looking at particular scientific policy issues and would invite in academics as key speakers or you know experts ... mostly as a voluntary roles whereby we would give or I would give an invited presentation to that body about my own research and then that sometimes has been cited in a follow on report by them and that feeds into how they translate policy findings in a field" (P19). While this finding supports the idea that the opportunity to influence public policy making and practices motivates researchers to engage with external partners, my research finding contradicts the claim in previous studies that gender plays no significant role (Bozeman et al., 2023; Nelson et al., 2024). My study reveals that researchers aiming to influence policy are predominantly female, whereas male researchers, at least in my sample, show less interest in such engagement. This indicates that gender may significantly affects how Irish researchers collaborate with non-academic external partners, particularly NGOs and charitable organizations. My study, therefore, contributes important new insights into the impact of gender on academic engagement.*

In terms of the type/mode of academic engagement mostly preferred across gender, data analysed shows male researchers engage more in joint research. For instance, a male interviewee said "*My* engagement externally is probably more like joint research. So that means that we talk to employees in the company to understand what they're working on and to understand their data sets. And at the same time, we do set joint goals for the project" (P13). While my finding does not support the claim that male researchers engage more in contract research and consultancy services (Abreu & Grinevich, 2017), however, based on a female researchers' account "*I* do some advisory work with them (NGOs and Charity organisations) as well" (P10), I found support that female researchers prefer to engage with non-academic partners through channels such as public engagement, meetings, and informal

advice. While this pattern of engagement aligns with submission of previous studies where female academic researchers have been found to participate less in than the male researchers in formal engagement (Ramos-Vielba & D'Este, 2023) my study did not find support for equal participation in informal engagement as claimed in the literature.

Reasons for disparity in gender participation in formal academic engagement has been attributed to barriers associated with time and resources (Tartari & Salter, 2015). Findings from my study also supports this, according to a female academic researcher who I interviewed "*I think the problem sometimes engaging with industry projects is in terms of time and resources*" (P17). Another female interviewee said industry projects have strict timelines and are too demanding in report "*It's very, very tough to work with industries, they are very restricted with the time, you have to deliver on time, you have to give updates every week. You have to communicate very nicely, and you don't break the communication. So, communication should be very good. You have to meet the deadline*" (P18). Issues of "unrealistic expectations" and "conflicting timelines" have been reported in previous studies as barriers limiting academic researchers from collaborating with industry (Austin et al., 2021). It is possible that university managers can help bridge this gender gap if female researchers are provided with adequate social support structures.

Career stage

Insight gathered from my interview data shows that researchers' career stage determines their behaviour towards academic engagement. An interviewee in his early career stage who has engaged with industry and government agencies through joint research and consulting said "*So with industry I am working from the last 7 to 8 years in different form or in different roles [...] I started working as a postdoctoral researcher in a research work with the industry. Being a project manager of one of the Horizon 2020 project, I did interact with the government agencies"* (P11). Another interviewee in her mid-career stage engages via joint research mainly "*I've also collaborated with outside partners, but maybe not so much industry but NGO*" (P14). However, my study observed that Irish researchers at their late stage of their career have more intensity of engagement working with industry. An interviewee in his late stage of career who has engaged extensively with industry through joint research, contract research and consulting said "*I suppose you would define me as a late-stage career person. I've been working in industry and in academia I think now for a combination of over 30 years. I've been in XYZ university now for about 26 years and over that time, <i>I've collaborated a lot with industry in all sorts of collaboration projects* " (P15). This finding supports the claim by a previous study conducted among Italian researchers where researchers in their late career stage have been associated

to have higher intensity of engagement with industry partners via several engagement channels (Abramo & D'Angelo, 2022).

Further exploration into why researchers engage in particular patterns of activity reveals that the creation of spinoff companies can often be linked to the career stage of the researchers. Contrary to some existing literature, my findings from the interview data present a different perspective to the extant view from the literature. One researcher, in his late career at a technological university who has successfully launched spinoff companies and secured patents and licenses, shared, 'I'm not driven by publication because publications are only important if you want an academic career to strengthen your case for tenure. That's not my interest. I'm more focused on developing technologies where patents, licenses, or spinoff companies are more appealing. New papers are of less interest, although I still publish frequently' (P5). This contradicts earlier studies suggesting that researchers in their late career stages are less successful or interested in creating spinoffs, unlike their peers at the early or mid-career stages (Hayter et al., 2017). Thus, my findings support the idea that researchers at this stage can indeed successfully create spinoffs (Peksen et al., 2021; Shane, 2004). Another researcher in his late career stage said "I worked with industry partners while in the university. Yes, I have done it in a number of ways. I have done it on a consultancy basis. I have done it where they have been funded through Enterprise Ireland through something like an innovation. I've also done it where we have had Joint projects, at least one of which has led to commercialization" (P8). Therefore, the reasoning that researchers in their later stage of career, in contrast to those in the early or mid-career stages, would have more commercialisation experience accumulated over the years of their career (Bercovitz & Feldman, 2008) and also field specific experience in that time (Mõttus & Lukason, 2021) and this is relevant for this pattern of engagement.

Prior experience in academic engagement

When discussing their satisfaction with previous academic engagements, interviewees expressed positive feelings. All the nineteen Interviewees who participated in the study expressed their satisfaction with the past engagements and are more interested to work with external partners in the future. Previous studies have shown that researchers' prior experiences in engaging with industry are linked to their future behaviour towards industry engagements. An interviewee shares his experiences as, *"Overall, I would say I'm very satisfied. You know, I'd say it's 8 out of 10"* (P13). This finding supports the claim that positive past engagements can influence continued interest and involvement in industry collaborations (D'Este & Patel, 2007; Scandura & Jammarino, 2022).

Researchers who have achieved commercialisation of their innovations during their past engagement with industry are often more likely to develop interest in working industry subsequently. According to an interviewee, "I would say the one thing that probably drives me to collaborate with industry is the fact that I worked in industry initially and I can always see how knowledge can benefit commercialization or innovation" (P15). Similarly, previous studies identify academic researchers' previous experiences in patenting and other commercialisation activities as a predictor of their participation in academic engagement in the future (Bekkers & Bodas Freitas, 2008; Scandura & lammarino, 2022). Therefore, prior experience in academic engagement is an important individual characteristic which can inform researchers behaviour towards academic engagement, especially in terms of working with other external partners aside industry.

5.3.2. Organisational Characteristics

In terms of those characteristics that determine how academic researchers working or associated with Irish higher educational institutions engage externally are discussed in this sub-section. Such organisational characteristics include university type, peer effect, departmental quality, university research policy and strategy, support structure, and formal incentives.

University type

Researchers who participated in my interviews were drawn from two university type: traditional universities and technological universities in Ireland. Analysis of the data has also shown that university type that a researcher belongs to shapes their behaviour towards collaborating with non-academic external partners. An interviewee from technological university gave reason for this behaviour. "*So, we are a technological university which has come from the old institutes of technology. Typically, our teaching loads are very high. We are required to teach about between 16 and 18 hours per week. So, this is quite a large amount of teaching. If you compare ourselves to some of the traditional universities, the traditional universities have much lower teaching requirement, which is why they can do more engagement with industry. However, for us in technological universities, we are expected to teach our students and at the same time engage in research with industry. This puts more pressure on us [technological universities] making us have less time for external engagement " (P7). My finding seems to differ from claim research-intensive universities such as technological universities were more active in academic engagement than their peers in traditional universities who are teaching-oriented (Perkmann et al., 2011; Schneijderberg et al., 2022) though this is most likely due to the differing*

definitions of these types of universities across the world, and the peculiarities of the Irish system. My study could not clarify if researchers from private institutions engage less with industry (Queirós et al., 2022), because all interviewees who participated in my study were all affiliated with publicly funded universities in Ireland. There are no fully fledged private universities in Ireland thus this type of researcher was not available for interview in the Irish context. Private institutions have a predominantly teaching remit in Ireland and are mainly focussed on the social sciences and then mainly in business education. Thus, future studies in other jurisdictions may want to fill-in this research gap to provide more evidence.

Peer effect

Peer effect is another organisational characteristic that extant literature has identified that informs researchers behaviours and patterns of collaboration with non-academic external partners. On the one hand this is the case where researchers were influenced to engage externally because they have mentorship assistance from more experienced senior peers in their university research group or department. According to interviewees, "My supervisor for my PhD, were very, very externally engaged. So, you know, I suppose the environment in which I grew up as a as a researcher was very externally engaged" (P1). Another interviewee shares a similar experience in this regard. "My mentor at that stage was the Centre Manager and he had worked in industry, done his PhD through industry and worked continually on industrial problems. So, he would like to generate new knowledge, but his primary goal was always to work with industry. So, as a result. It was very easy for me to join there because I had worked with industry. Therefore, working in that environment, the mentorship I received from my supervisor, my first boss was very important, and it was for maybe eight years" (P5). My finding is consistent with previous studies that peer effect, particularly from senior colleagues informs younger researchers' behaviour towards academic engagement (Houweling & Wolff, 2020; Huyghe & Knockaert, 2015; Moog et al., 2015). Although while some of these previous studies also claim that peer effect may influence younger researchers to create more spinoffs (Houweling & Wolff, 2020), because senior colleagues will provide them mentorship (Moog et al., 2015), my study could not substantiate this claim given the small number of participants with spinoff experience.

On the other hand, insights from the interviews indicate that in the absence of senior colleagues with substantial experience in industry engagement, younger colleagues within the same department or university often step in to provide peer support. An interviewee described this dynamic, stating, *"there was no kind of senior mentorship in terms of senior professors supporting that. It's really been colleagues and frequently colleagues at the same level as me, you know, so assistant professors who*

have connections or at a conference having conversations with people or just people working in the same area or with the same interests as you, and building up connections that way" (P10). This highlights how peer effect, particularly among early-career academics, compensates for the lack of traditional mentorship and may foster professional development through shared experiences and interests.

Another interview provided more insights into this kind of scenario "*What influences me is often the people I work with, who have similar, you know, agendas and particular interests and we often stimulate each other. So you're often swayed, shaped by the people you work with, and this is very important*" (P17). Considering the importance of peer influence, researchers were seen to seek inspiration and social approval from their peers, which could shape their pattern of engagement and choices they make in their in the research group they belong to in the department (Tartari et al., 2014). Therefore, my findings on peer effect thus provide more insight that researchers could as well seek mentorship from colleagues on the same career level as themselves provided such colleagues have the requisite experience.

Departmental quality

Departmental quality has been found to have a positive effect on engagement with industry because department with high-quality researchers may likely facilitate interest in academic engagement for other researchers in that department (Scheulke-Leech, 2013). Experiences gathered from interviewees provided more support and explanation for this claim. An interview would recount; "*it's (academic engagement) quite strong due to the fact that we have a lot of associate faculties and they often come directly from industry to teach. So, let's say you have a programme, let's say half of the lecturers would be, you know, associate faculty which have a lot of industry experience*" (P14). Another interviewee gave insight into how network effect within their department plays a vital role in external collaboration. "*so connections from colleagues filters through my network and the other way around...There is a network effect that supports individuals like myself in getting those connections*" (P4). Previous studies argues that academic researchers in high-quality department may be willing to engage in joint research with industry if such interaction will enable them to pursue novel research, source for ideas and generate research outputs that are considered publishable in top-rated academic journals (D'Este & Perkmann, 2011).

Existing research emphasizes the significance of a research group's size for academic researchers (Olmos-Peñuela et al., 2014). Insights from another interview further elucidate this point, highlighting the pivotal role of a robust research network over the individual quality of research for effective

95

academic engagement. The interviewee explained: "So individuals who are within my groups have had a huge impact on my research, because the opportunities that you get for research engagement with industry or funding are quite a lot dependent on the network that you have. Especially in large scale funding, even getting into a good consortium is merely dependent on your research network rather than the quality of your research" (P2). This observation aligns with the theory that the broader and more connected a researcher's network, the better their chances of securing industry engagement and funding. However, it also introduces a nuanced perspective against previous findings suggesting that higher overall university quality may decrease the likelihood of individual academic industry engagement (Ponomariov, 2008). My findings suggest a re-evaluation of this perspective. It appears that the size and connectivity of a network, rather than the inherent quality of individual researchers, are more decisive for successful academic engagement. This interpretation aligns with recent findings from a study on UK researchers in the applied sciences, which indicates that while network size is crucial, this correlation might not extend uniformly across all scientific disciplines, particularly outside the applied sciences (Scandura & Iammarino, 2022).

University research policy and strategy

My study also explores the role of university research policy and strategy to gain an understanding of how this potentially shapes the engagement behaviour of Irish academic researchers. "*My university has an intellectual property policy in place to specifically encourage researchers to engage with industry practitioners, so that is certainly an underpinning relevance to the universities policies*" (P8). Previous studies have emphasised the need for university managers to implement effective policy framework that will encourage academic engagement, for example in the distribution of income generated from commissioned research projects between academic researchers and the university (Link et al., 2007; Ponomariov & Craig Boardman, 2008). Researchers are entertaining fears of engaging with industry due to perceived disadvantage they may be exposed to. An interviewee's account reveals that "*A lot of researchers maybe overwhelmed to engage with industry, because we don't want them stealing our IP*" (P9). Through far-reaching policies on issues relating to royalties and equity of commercial outputs such as patents, university managers can enable broader participation in academic engagement among their academic researchers (Haeussler et al., 2014; Thursby & Thursby, 2011). Knowing that such perceptions have also been raised in previous studies, this piece of evidence as gathered from my interviews with some Irish academic researchers becomes noteworthy.

The need for university managers to ensure fairness in their policy towards encouraging academic engagement is also imperative. Irish researchers have displayed more interest in seeing that research

policies and strategies entrenched in their higher educational institutions are more flexible and accommodating. Insight shared from one of the interviewees support my position on this, "Our academic contracts don't have that much built in time for research. So that that can be a difficulty as well, there remain barriers" (P7), though it should be noted that this interviewee was located in a technological university which has a predominantly teaching responsibility. This finding aligns with the position from a recent study where academic researchers consider fairness in university policy over a policy oriented towards providing pecuniary incentives as a way of inducing external engagement (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022). It is worth noting that due to differences in the motivation alignment of researchers, these policies may not work for all researchers but will depend on whether they are intrinsically or extrinsically motivated.

Support structures

Extant literature suggested that establishment of technology parks, business incubators and industry liaison offices are supportive structures that university managers provide can stimulate their academic researchers to interact with industry (Moraes et al., 2023; Ribeiro & Nagano, 2021; Tootell et al., 2021). Findings from my study also support this, considering the experience of one interviewee who noted that "Yes, we have a knowledge transfer office, and we have industry liaisons and we do have all of those structures in place [...] they certainly do help" (P7). Another interviewee also affirms the benefit of having a knowledge transfer office in place "KTO [Knowledge Transfer Office] Is crucial for knowledge generation. It is crucial that your knowledge transfer office staff know what you do, know what interests you and know what is required by the company. So, they are a liaison and a vital part of the research system" (P5). Similar opinion was reflected in a recent study which suggested that TTOs serve as a strategic intermediary for knowledge interaction and can also effectively link academic researchers and engineers in the industry by organising sensitization workshops and seminars (Shen et al., 2022). On the claim that TTOs are helpful to organise workshops and seminars for researchers in university, my study also finds provide support for this considering an interviewee's insight that "there is a bit of support from the consultancy manager in my university. He is very helpful in terms of networking, you know, some sort of backing up if I need some help to sit in meetings with industries [...] he can say to me, ok, we can talk to this person, he/she might be helpful for your research" (P18). These findings are consistent with extant literature.

Extant literature has also pointed out the need for university managers to ensure that TTOs and KTOs must be constituted by competent staff who can support researchers adequately. Analysis of interviewee's perception on this testify to this. For instance, an interviewee said "*there are excellent*

supports for research and for funding proposals in our TTO. For example, there are finance people, HR people, business development, people who like. I talked to them regularly and they help me to solve kind of administrative problems within the project, which I could not do by myself...So that is part of the support of the university" (P13). This finding thus supports the claim that TTOs are more productive when staff working there is constituted by a team of professionals and enjoys autonomy to operate (Zhang et al., 2018).

My study also took note of researchers working in universities without adequate structural support and how this affects their academic engagement behaviour. Experiences shared by interviewees is as follows: "They (our university management) encourage our engagement with industry, but they don't maybe support it or facilitate it particularly well at the moment because again primarily due to things like our contracts. So, they want you to do engage with industry, it is part of our key performance indicators, but some of the systems are not yet in place. I know the university is working on them in order to really make it easy for people to be engaged in industry projects or research. There are deficiencies in the system" (P7). This supports findings from recent study which reveals that researchers involve less in academic engagement because of their feelings of low safety and other structural-level barriers, and this tends to impact their behaviour towards academic engagement (Kuchumova et al., 2023). Researchers who face such barriers, where for example organisational support structures are inadequate, may decide to pursue collaboration with external partners based on their extrinsic or intrinsic motivation. Findings from results gathered in my study also reflect n researchers' satisfaction with support structure provided by their university management where this is available: "there is a team of very capable experts within the university who provide administrative support and commercial advice when it comes to engaging with industry and all of that makes the pathway to working with people in the industry much smoother than it would be if those were not present" (P8). This finding is consistent with extant studies which suggest that researchers have the propensity to engage in projects with industry when they satisfied with the support structures enabling academic engagement (Taxt, 2023).

Similarly, another Interviewee who participated said "So the research office often will publicise research schemes which involve external partner or NGO partners and academics, that you can apply for. So, they're very good to publicise those types of funding schemes that might be available" (P19). Lack of information about academic engagement opportunities and lack of financial supports are the major barriers that prevents industry to collaborate with academic researchers (Kleiner-Schaefer & Schaefer, 2022). Findings from my study thus support that provision of information on academic engagement opportunities will bridge the communication gap between researchers and industry or other non-academic external partners.
Formal incentives

To facilitate academic engagement among their academic researchers, higher education managers have introduced several incentives (Pinheiro et al., 2015) such as incentives relating to promotion or pay rises (Van de Burgwal et al., 2019). Such incentives provide researchers with opportunities that will promote researchers' willingness to participate in academic engagement. Findings from my study support this argument. For instance, according to an interviewee "*I believe that stakeholder engagement (collaboration with non-academic external partners) is a key driver of promotion within the academic sector. Personally, a major motivation for me is career advancement. Engaging with stakeholders (non-academic externally) is essential for achieving success in all aspects of my work*" (P12). However, scholars believe there are discrepancies between how the universities design these incentives and how academic researchers perceive them as helpful enough to motivate them to engage with external partners (Jong et al., 2015).

University managers foster researcher participation in external collaborations by implementing formal incentive systems within the institution. One such incentive is the flexibility to 'buy out' teaching hours using funds obtained from industry projects, as explained by an interviewee: "there are systems and structures that allow us to participate in research. It's called "buying out our teaching hours" and it's directly related to the amount of funding available. So typically, if we do an industry project and it attracts an amount of funding, we can use that money to hire somebody else to do my teaching, basically. So that's the way the system works. It's a direct correlation between the amount of funding, sometimes it happens, sometimes it doesn't happen. Sometimes the funding just comes in and it can be used for equipment and different things. But, yes, you can use that funding to reduce your teaching hours basically" (P7). This supports the notion that provision of incentives by university management will motivate researchers (Caldera & Debande, 2010; Lach & Schankerman, 2008; Van De Burgwal et al., 2019), as against incentives being counterproductive (Göktepe-Hulten & Mahagaonkar, 2010; Lahikainen et al., 2019). More importantly, my findings thus provide clarity on this ambiguity as it shows that indeed incentives are an extrinsic factor that will impact how researchers participate in academic engagement. This incentive structure not only supports researchers in dedicating more time to their external research projects but also underscores the direct benefits of securing industry funding, aligning financial resources with reduced teaching obligations to enhance research productivity and engagement.

5.3.3. Institutional Characteristics

Institutional characteristics constitute the deliberate actions taken by the government of Ireland to foster the promotion of knowledge interaction between academic researchers working in various higher educational institutions and other non-academic external partners. Hence, such institutional characteristics which my thesis will discuss in this sub-section based on interview data collected include disciplinary affiliation, public policy and regulations, and incentives from a system perspective.

Disciplinary Affiliation

Interviewees who participated in my study were affiliated to six disciplines including social sciences, physical sciences, life sciences, engineering, medicine, and humanities (see Appendix II). Extant literature suggests that researchers' disciplinary affiliation is another institutional characteristic that shapes how they collaborate with non-academic external partners (Perkmann et al., 2021; 2013). Some interviewees highlighted that their engagement is predominantly with NGOs and charity organizations, utilizing joint research as the primary method of collaboration. This preference stems from their disciplinary affiliations within the social sciences, which influence the nature of their external partnerships. One interviewee explained, *"I suppose that's because of my own discipline and being more social science oriented. I'm not working directly necessarily with commercial industry players"* (P19). This finding implies that researchers in the social sciences have a lower level of engagement with traditional industry partners than those in other fields. Consequently, the results of my study support previous research that asserts academic researchers in the social sciences engage less with traditional industry than their peers in the engineering field (Sigl & Leišytė, 2018).

My thesis also seeks to understand the reason behind variation in engagement across discipline. Previous studies have recorded that the way academic researchers interact with other non-academic external partners varies across countries, disciplines, and academic fields (De Jong & Balaban, 2022; Karlsdottir et al., 2023). Findings from my study thus show support that, indeed, variations in external engagement exist across disciplines and two reasons were found to be responsible for this. Firstly, my study found out the researchers in various disciplines engagement differently with external partners because of the need to gain societal visibility. According to an interviewee from social science field who engage predominantly with NGOs through advisory service channel said "So when we're disseminating our research, sometimes it's hard to then disseminate to NGOs or policymakers or whoever it might be. So, if you're working in collaboration, that is quite beneficial because they're the people who've been involved in the research "(P10). This supports the claim that academic researchers

from interdisciplinary research field engage with non-academic external partners to achieve societal visibility (D'Este & Robinson-García, 2023).

Secondly, the nature of research will also inform the pattern of engagement across discipline. For instance, an interviewee from social science field who engages mostly with NGOs and civil society organisations (CSOs) said "I have less experience with industry per se and more with what we would call non-government bodies or CSOs only because that has been the nature of the research that I've engaged in, particularly in recent years" (P17). This finding is in line with the claim that depending on the disciplinary affiliation of a researchers, the nature of research strongly influences their engagement with non-academic external partners (Perkmann et al., 2021), especially those in fields involved in fundamental research (Lawson et al., 2019). A similar insight was share by an interviewee from social science who said that her engagement with NGOs mostly was due to the nature of her research in the area of social inequalities. "I've collaborated with outside partners, but maybe not so much industry but NGO. Recently I've started collaborating more with NGOs because I was doing a data collection on social inequality that are caused by AI artificial intelligence" (P14). Interestingly, another interviewee from the disciplinary field of humanities stated that her reasons for engaging with NGOs mostly and not industry is because her research is within the area of evidence-based policymaking. "So my work is around policy implications, so it's not developing technologies. It's more coming from trying to understand the impacts of various commercial factors and various laws, policies on access to technology. So for that reason, I suppose a lot of my work to date in terms of collaborations has been with charity partners. non-governmental organisations and also offering voluntary presentations" (P19). Considering both instances, my study supports the claim based on a study on UK researchers that engagement with industry is not practised by academic researchers in hard disciplinary fields alone (Abreu & Grinevich, 2013; Hughes & Kitson, 2012).

Another interesting finding drawn from my study is how academic engagement has shifted the research agenda of researchers from basic sciences to the applied field although previous studies have argued on how this shift in research agenda is reflected across disciplinary boundaries (O'Dwyer et al., 2023; Olmos-Peñuela et al., 2014). Two interviewees shared their experiences on how their involvement academic engagement has shifted their research focus. "*my research, which might have been more theoretical at start, have become more applied now. So I would rather be at a place where I'm taking someone else's theory and applying on a problem rather than developing theory myself"* (P2). In another interview, a researchers express how her engagement activities has changed her research from knowledge-seeking to problem-solving for business consumers. "*I've evolved from someone who is very interested in understanding consumers and how businesses can do marketing better. My interest now is to know how can marketing help somehow in critical issues, address societal*

challenges, and enable and empower vulnerable people" (P17). These findings support the concern that involvement in academic engagement, particularly with industry partners, could shift the agendas of academic researchers towards applied research at the expense of long-term basic research (Perkmann et al., 2013). Based on these findings, my study contributes to knowledge by sharing the effect of disciplinary affiliation on the interaction with wider non-academic external partners such as NGOs, charity organisations. This contribution is significant as previous studies have been reported to focused on interaction with industry (Pekşen et al., 2021), hence potentially limiting our understanding of this phenomenon.

Public policy and regulation

In a bid to achieve economic growth, sustainable development and regional competitiveness, various governments have taken steps to strengthen its innovation actors within its innovation system. The realisation of such objective can become attainable when there is a concerted effort by government in implementing policies and regulatory initiatives that aim to promote inter-organisational collaboration, with provision of tax incentives for research, funding support for joint research, creation of science parks and innovation hubs as examples of such strategic measures (Bastos et al., 2021). Therefore, considering the importance of public policy and regulation in building and strengthening knowledge producers (university) and knowledge users (industry partners) in a country such as Ireland, my study therefore asked researchers to share their experiences about the influence of Irish government policy on their interaction with non-academic external partners. According to an interviewees experience, "the Irish Government through Enterprise Ireland provides funding to the universities for creation of technology transfer offices and that funding directly impacts the services of their academic researchers to be more innovative and produce more intellectual property when they engage with industry" (P8). This finding agrees with the suggestion that public policy plays a pivotal role for building interaction between innovation actors within an innovation ecosystem (Zheng & Cai, 2022).

Furthermore, information gathered from the interviews also points to the fact that Irish government have various schemes in place to encourage knowledge interaction. Such schemes which are backed by policies and regulations include the establishment of Enterprise Ireland and the introduction of Innovation vouchers which is a form of grant that the Irish government give to industry to support their research and development initiatives. An interviewee's experience in this regard is "*So I think there are some very good funding programmes in place in Ireland through Enterprise Ireland that actively encourage in industry engagement such as the innovation vouchers. I think the programmes*

are good, they're not overly bureaucratic, which is good. Also, the innovation vouchers are relatively easy for companies to get. They're not too onerous for academics and for the universities to access as well. So, they're a very good starting point for industry engagement, yeah" (P7). This finding supports the position that to transform universities in Europe towards attaining a status of sustainable entrepreneurial university, government needs to support its universities to build capacity (Cai & Ahmad, 2023). Therefore, I would say that initiatives that will promote inter-institutional partnerships are a step in the right direction for governments to take to achieve higher levels of performance within its innovation system.

My study also explores the negative implications of governments policies and regulation on engagement activities within Ireland. Gaining insight into this aspect is necessitated because previous studies have argued that government policies and regulations could significantly negatively impact the extent and nature of engagement between academic researchers and external partners (Amaral et al., 2011; Caloghirou et al., 2001). This study found out that some policies of Irish government restrict research into some areas considered to be harmful or insensitive to the wellbeing of the society. For instance, according to an interviewee, "In Ireland, we don't interact in any research that could be harmful for human being or for the society. So, we try to avoid such research" (P11). This finding provides insight into how institutional practices of government may have a complimentary or a detrimental effect on university collaborative research (Duiveman, 2020). While my study might have been able to provide some evidence for this claim, the extent and nature to which this impact on research needs further insight. For instance, previous knowledge of the literature has highlighted such areas of research mostly restricted to include genetically modified products, military/defence research, and tobacco research.

Incentives

My study also explores the kind of incentives provided by the policies of the Irish government which can support knowledge interaction between academic researchers and non-academic external partners. Previous studies have reported how governments incentives such as provision of research subsidies can informs researchers behaviour towards involving in knowledge interaction (Song et al., 2022; Zhuang & Shi, 2022). Interviewees provided various ways government of Ireland has supported research. An interview provided insight into how government has subsidized research in Ireland, *"there are Tax incentives, Capital gains tax, and other incentives to support start-up or spin out companies. All of those have an impact on engagement with industry*" (P8). This finding is consistent with the claim that government's provision of social capital and tax incentives induces academic engagement (Rossoni et al., 2023).

Similarly, another interviewee gave account of how government has provided a conducive environment for research and also supported the establishment of Centres of Excellence in some Irish universities. "Government attitude towards industry and multinational is very positive and I think that's reflected in research. The government wants universities to work with multinationals and industry and they promote it. The supporting structures would obviously be joint financing of collaborative projects with industry, so the state would partially and sometimes to a high percentage fund work carried out with companies. once state funding comes into a project, the company agrees that the technology is then owned by the university. Uh, which all companies are happy to do now but that was a problem originally. So funding is one area in terms of infrastructure. The state has certainly sought to establish centres of excellence in different areas, Life Sciences, Chemistry, Immunology, Quantum computing, ICT, and across a broad area. They've certainly sought to enhance centres of excellence in the country" (P15). Government's provision of such incentives has been found to promote researchers' engagement in knowledge exchange with external actors (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2023), however with this insight, my thesis contributes to existing knowledge by providing evidence on the impacts of Irish government incentives to support academic engagement.

5.4 Conclusion

The results from interviews conducted in this study provide insights into why and how academic researchers in various Irish universities engage with non-academic external collaborators. The study identifies several motivational factors for non-academic collaboration, including competence-building activities, access to funding, career benefits, reputation, networking, access to in-kind resources, contribution to society, affective duty, and academic freedom. Additionally, the mode of engagement is influenced by individual characteristics (such as gender, career stage, and prior experience), organizational factors (such as university type, peer effects, departmental quality, research policy and strategy, support structures, and formal incentives), and institutional factors (such as disciplinary affiliation, public policy and regulation, and incentives for inter-sectoral collaborations). Finally, the study reveals that individual Irish academic researchers' motivation types, be they intrinsic or extrinsic, influence choice of external partners by researchers and their collaboration channels with non-academic external partners.

CHAPTER SIX: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

6.1 Introduction

This thesis seeks to answer the over-arching research question, "Why and how do academics engage with non-academic collaborators?" A fundamental research problem that inspires this study is that in recent years, there has been an increasing interest by government and research funding bodies on the need for increased societal impact of research, hence demanding more engagement between academic researchers and non-academic external partners. There is a perception that such demand could put more pressure on academic researchers, considering that such interactions are an additional responsibility, along with their research and teaching roles in the university. It is also assumed that academic engagement often comes with benefits and costs. Based on this research problem, this thesis explores the motivations for and modes of academic engagement among academic researchers working in higher education institutions in the Republic of Ireland. In this chapter, I present a summary of the key findings and contributions of this study, limitations, areas for further research, and recommendations. To provide structure and organization to this conclusion chapter, I will present the findings of this study based on the four research questions for the thesis, as interpreted in the thesis's theoretical framework (see Figure 3.2 in Chapter 3), which is built on Self-Determination Theory (SDT).

6.2 Summary of key findings and contributions

6.2.1 Motivation for engagement

This study reveals several factors that motivate Irish academic researchers to engage with nonacademic external partners. These motivational factors reflect a combination of attributes that can be broadly categorised under extrinsic and intrinsic motivation (Deci & Ryan, 2008), showing whether the motivation is externally controlled or autonomously controlled (Ryan & Deci, 2020) respectively. This study reveals those extrinsic motivation to include access to funding, access to in-kind (non-financial) resources, career benefits & reputation. Competence-building, affective duty, networking, contribute to society, and desire for academic freedom were those intrinsic motivational factors revealed from the findings of this study.

Extrinsic motivation: This study reveals accessibility to research funding as one of the motivations Irish academic researchers engage with non-academic external partners, which is consistent with previous studies (Aagaard et al., 2021; Fink et al., 2020; Taxt, 2023). An interesting insight this study revealed is

that academic researchers' motivation for engaging in external activity is based on two factors – researchers' self-perception of the need for funding and pressure from external funders. In the first instance, Irish researchers' self-perception of the need for funding motivates them to willingly engage with non-academic external partners, as such interactions provide access to research funds. This finding is consistent with previous studies on collaboration (D'Este et al., 2013; Hooi & Wang, 2020; Ubfal & Maffioli, 2011; Perkmann et al., 2021). In the second instance, Irish academic researchers engage with non-academic external partners not perhaps willingly but due to pressure from external funders, though there was no evidence of unwillingness in the data from the interviewees. Further insights from this study reveal that funding agencies often require inclusion of external partners on projects as a precondition for researchers to succeed with grant applications. This study also reveals that employment contracts for Irish academic researchers require them to engage externally as part of their teaching responsibilities. Previous studies have shown such restrictive issues around research funding constitute pressure to researchers and a threat to their academic freedom (Gläser et al., 2022; Goduscheit, 2022; Kladakis et al., 2022; Zacharewicz et al., 2023), though this does not seem to be the case with the interviewees in this study.

Consistent with findings from previous research (Carattoli et al., 2017; D'Este & Perkmann, 2011), this thesis reveals that access to in-kind resources such as data, expertise, and equipment motivates Irish academic researchers to engage with non-academic external partners. This thesis contributes to the understanding of researcher motivations by challenging the claim that engagement with external collaborators is primarily driven by access to monetary benefits (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022; Zheng et al., 2023) Instead, my findings indicate that non-monetary resources play a significant role in this regard. This study reveals that the desire for career benefits and reputation is another motivation for engagement between Irish academics and non-academic external partners. Further exploration indicates that the desire to achieve recognition in their career motivates researchers to engage externally because such interaction offer researchers opportunity to contribute and make impact outside academia earning them more recognition. Previous studies have also indicated ambition to gain recognition and have an impact outside academia as a factor that motivates researchers to collaborate with non-academic external partners (Lam, 2011).

The desire to attain academic reputation was also another motive this study reveals: a factor identified to motivate researchers very strongly towards academic engagement because of its potential for career advancement (Rijnsoever & Hessels, 2021). This study also shows that the desire for promotion motivates Irish researchers to engage externally. Researchers involved in projects with non-academic partners often participate in research that leads to publications, which is a key metric for promotion in universities. This finding is consistent with previous studies (Dietz & Bozeman, 2005; Siegel et al.,

2004). This study reveals another motivational factor, the interest to contribute to evidence-based policing making, which is an indicator of productivity significant for career advancement and reputational benefits. Clauss et al. (2022) argues that ability to contribute to impactful policy decisions can significantly drive researchers' willingness to interact with non-academic external partners.

Intrinsic motivation: This study reveals several intrinsic factors that can facilitate competence-building as another motivator for Irish academic researchers to collaborate with external partners. The reasoning for this is that Irish researchers are motivated to engage with partners outside of academia with the expectation that doing so will build their research capacity to be more competent researchers. Previous studies also identify the desire for knowledge generation, idea testing, technology development, and problem-solving as intrinsic motivations for researchers' interest in academic engagement, as these activities build researchers' competence (Perkmann & Walsh, 2009). Findings from this study identify that Irish researchers gave the reason that such external interaction with their non-academic partners offers them the opportunity to explore new lines of research and generate interesting research questions. Previous studies have also shared this same argument which this thesis has found support for as well (Tartari & Breschi, 2012; Orazbayeva et al., 2020; Orazbayeva & Plewa, 2022).

This study's finding also shows that the desire to solve industry problem is another motive for Irish researchers' collaboration with non-academic partners. The reasoning given for this motive is that academic engagement offers the opportunity to get a deeper understanding of problems that the nonacademic external partner is facing, which makes researcher better informed to solve such problems. Previous studies also suggests that the interest to solve industry problems motivates researchers to involve in academic engagement (Bodas Freitas et al., 2013; D'Este et al., 2018; Figueiredo & Ferreira, 2022; Perkmann et al., 2013). Furthermore, this study also reveals another motive which is the desire to apply knowledge or test an idea. Researchers interviewed explained that involving non-academic partner, such as industry, in research projects offers the opportunity to test the applicability of their research ideas within a real-world context. Previous studies also support this reasoning (Austin et al., 2021; D'Este & Perkmann, 2011; Zhang et al., 2017). The findings from this study also reveal that the desire to be more innovative is another motivation for Irish academic researchers' interaction with external partners. The reasoning given is that such interactions provide researchers with a platform for new ways of thinking allowing them to develop new technologies for various applications. This, in turn, leads to the creation of several patents and licenses. Previous studies also argues that satisfaction of researchers' intrinsic desire motivates them to engage with non-academic external partners (Lam, 2011; Orazbayeva & Plewa, 2022; Sormani & Rossano-Rivero, 2023) This thesis makes a significant contribution by demonstrating that academic engagement does not hinder research and innovation (Collyer, 2015) but that instead, it is advantageous to research (Bhullar et al., 2019; D'Este & Perkmann, 2011; O'Dwyer et al., 2023).

This study reveals that the desire to build networks and public engagement which is same as "relatedness" in the theoretical framework for this thesis, is another motivation for Irish academics to engage with external collaborators. The reason given is that interaction with non-academic external partners offers researchers the opportunity to make new contacts or sustain existing ones, which might be useful for securing external collaborative projects in the future. This thesis makes a significant contribution by showing support to the claim that relatedness positively influences researchers' involvement in academic engagement (Orazbayeva et al., 2021), contrary to the perception in some studies (Queirós et al., 2022). Finding from this study identify interest for affective duty as another intrinsic motivator for researchers' engagement with non-academic external collaborators. As noted in this study, Irish academics motive for engaging with non-academic collaborators is partially because they want to secure placement or internship for their PhD students, a finding that is consistent with some earlier studies (Lee & Miozzo, 2015) Another motive identified was the intent to enhance teaching. Academic engagement offers Irish researchers the opportunity to invite external practitioners to share practical and recent knowledge from a real-world perspective with their students. In essence, over time, researchers have built strong relationships with external partners outside academia through their involvement in academic engagement, making it easier to secure invited talks from practitioners. This finding is supported by previous studies (Butcher & Jeffrey, 2007; Wang et al., 2016).

This study reveals that the desire to contribute to society is another motive for Irish researchers to engage with external collaborators. The reasoning behind this is that academic engagement provides opportunities to for researchers to collaborate with external partners particularly in areas that can solve societal problems, improve lives, and have a real-life impact. Previous studies suggest that researchers are motivated to engage with non-academic external partners due to their prosocial intent (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022). This study also reveals that the perceived need for autonomy, which can be partially equated to academic freedom, is another motive for researchers to engage externally. Previous studies have argued that perceived autonomy motivates researchers' willingness for (Clauss et al., 2022; Orazbayeva et al., 2021), or determines their behaviour towards (Moraes et al., 2023), academic engagement. More findings on academic freedom are discussed in section 6.2.4 of this thesis chapter.

6.2.2 Mode of engagement.

This study reveals several channels through which Irish academic researchers engage with nonacademic external partners and these include Joint research, contract research, consultancy, patent, advisory services, Joint thesis supervision, Invited lectures/talks, and global citizenship education through public lectures. This finding is consistent with academic engagement channels identified in previous studies (D'Este et al., 2019; Dutrénit & Arza, 2010; Perkmann et al., 2021).

Exploring the type of external partners Irish researchers engage with, this study reveals them to industry partner, NGOs, charity organisations, government agencies, and civil society organisations. Berggren & Bjørnskov (2022) identifies these partners as "external actors" who operate outside the university. Gläser et al. (2022) and Berggren & Bjørnskov (2022) emphasise that the level of influence that these external actors exhibit on researchers' academic freedom can determine how they will be willing to pursue academic engagement. This thesis makes a significant contribution to knowledge by providing insights into researchers' interactions with a broader range of external partners, an area that previous studies have identified as underexplored and in need of further research (Marzocchi et al., 2023; Noke et al., 2024; Taxt, 2023) While previous studies have mostly focused on industry partners (Ankrah et al., 2013; Bekkers & Freitas, 2008), this research expands the scope to include other external stakeholders.

6.2.3 Impact of individual, organisational and institutional factors

Previous literature suggests a combination of factors - individual factors, organisational and institutional, that impact on how academic researchers engage with non-academic external partners (Perkmann et al., 2021) Consequently, this study explores these three factors based on experiences from Irish researchers within the sample.

Individual factors: This study reveals that researchers' gender influences the types of external partners they interact with and the modes of engagement they use. The finding from this study on Irish researchers found support for this claim as unlike their male counterparts who engage with industry, female participants engage more with NGOs, charity organisations, and civil society organisations, hence supporting the claim that male academic researchers to engage more with industry partners as found in among researchers in Italy (Abramo & D'Angelo, 2022), and in the UK (Abreu & Grinevich, 2017). Further analysis shows that the desire to influence policy making and practices explains why female researchers prefers to engage with these non-traditional industry partners. Concerning mode of engagement, this study reveals that male researchers engage more in joint research versus claims

in a previous study that male researchers engage more through contract research and consultancy services (Abreu & Grinevich, 2017). This study reveals that female researchers prefer to engage with non-academic partners through channels such as public engagement, meetings, and informal advice. Time and resource constraints are reasons given for this disparity in gender participation (Tartari & Salter, 2015). My study did not find support for equal participation in informal engagement as claimed in a recent study (Ramos-Vielba & D'Este, 2023).

This study explored how career stage of researchers influence type of partner and mode of engagement. The findings shows that Irish researchers at their late stage of their career have more intensity of engagement working with industry partners, which confirms findings from previous study conducted on Italian researchers. (Abramo & D'Angelo, 2022). Irish researchers with previous experiences in patenting and other commercialisation activities with industry partners develop more interest to engage with industry partner in future, a finding that is in line with previous studies (Bekkers & Bodas Freitas, 2008; Scandura & Iammarino, 2022).

By exploring organisational factors that influence academic engagement, this study records several insights. On the basis of the university type that a researcher is affiliated with, this study reveals that unlike researchers working in technological universities, researchers in traditional universities are involved more in academic engagement. The reasoning for this disparity is that researchers in technological universities are required to spend more time on teaching as part of their teaching contracts. This finding contradicts earlier studies that researchers in technical universities were more active in academic engagement than their peers in traditional universities who are teaching-oriented (Perkmann et al., 2011; Schneijderberg et al., 2022), though this result is perhaps an artefact of the way that the traditional and technological universities are set up in Ireland.

This study also reveals that peer effect impacts researcher engagement with non-academic external partners. I find that Irish researchers tend to get mentorship assistance from more experienced senior peers in their research group or department. Previous studies also assert the influence on peer effect on external engagement (Houweling & Wolff, 2020; Huyghe & Knockaert, 2015; Moog et al., 2015). The findings also reveal that Irish researchers in departments with researchers who have extensive industry experience engage more with external partners. A prior study asserts that departments with high-quality researchers may likely facilitate interest in academic engagement for other researchers in that department (Scheulke-Leech, 2013) and the data from this research supports this assertion. The reasoning behind this is that researchers of higher quality tend to attract more research funding and collaborative projects from external partners. This is because they have built extensive networks over the years through their engagement throughout their academic career.

The study also reveals the role of university research policy and strategy in determining the existence of academic engagement with non-academic partners. Insight from this study indicate that a university that has fair policy on intellectual property in place encourages researchers to engage with industry practitioners. The reasoning behind such policies is that they are equitable in addressing issues related to royalties and equity of commercial outputs, such as patents, which often become areas of conflict in external engagement as identified in previous studies (Atta-Owusu & Fitjar, 2022). Findings from this study indicate that Irish universities that provide supportive structures such as TTOs. Knowledge Transfer Offices and industry liaison offices stimulate Irish researchers to engage more with non-academic external partners and this is particularly the case for engagement with industry partners. The reasoning given is that these support structures are helpful to support researchers in preparing funding proposals and create awareness on open calls for grant submissions. Such supportive structures have been found to encourage participation in academic engagement (Taxt, 2023).

In terms of institutional factors, this study reveals that researchers in the social sciences have a lower level of engagement with industry partners than those in other fields. Researchers in social science field engage mostly with NGOs and civil society organisations. Consequently, the outcomes of my study support previous research that asserts academic researchers in the social sciences engage less with industry than their peers in the engineering field (Sigl & Leišytė, 2018). This study finds two reasons for these variations. Firstly, the need to gain societal visibility, consistent with previous studies (D'Este & Robinson-García, 2023), is important for these researchers and secondly, the nature of the research pursued (Perkmann et al., 2021) is more focussed on non-industry stakeholders.

Irish government policy and regulations provide a conducive innovation-oriented ecosystem that positively influences Irish academics researchers to engage with non-academic partners. Some of those policy-led supports and incentives include establishment of Enterprise Ireland which among other things provide access to innovation vouchers, establishment of centres of excellence in some Irish universities, provision of tax incentives, capital gains tax, and other incentives to support start-up/ spin out companies. Previous studies show that public policy plays a pivotal role in building interaction between innovation actors within an innovation ecosystem (Cai & Ahmad, 2023; Zheng & Cai, 2022) This thesis extends our knowledge of academic researchers' behaviour in engaging with non-academic external collaborators. The theoretical framework adapted from the previous works of Clauss et al., (2022), which relies on self-determination theory, was limited to individual factors only. This thesis includes all three factors - individual, organisational, and organisational- hence providing a more comprehensive understanding of how these three factors influence academic researchers' behaviour in engaging with non-academic external partners.

6.2.4 Role of academic freedom

Findings from this study indicate that Irish academic researchers are satisfied with the academic landscape in Ireland. This satisfaction stems from the supportive environment provided by the Universities Act and the HEA Act, which protect researchers' academic freedom. Previous studies have also rated Ireland's Academic Freedom Index (AFI) score as positive especially in relation to higher education (Berggren & Bjørnskov, 2022a; Kinzelbach, Saliba, & Spannagel, 2021; Kinzelbach et al., 2021; Maassen et al., 2023; Sandström & Besselaar, 2018).

In terms of freedom to decide on the choice of external partner to collaborate with, findings from this study reveals that Irish researchers have autonomy over the partner they engage with. Previous studies assert that researchers would be less interested in academic engagement projects that will thwart their academic freedom, especially for those researchers that are intrinsically motivated because they are more strategic in the kind of engagement projects they get involved in or partners they select (Deci et al., 1999) This thesis thus supports that perceived autonomy indeed has a positive influence on researchers' willingness to engage with external collaborators (Clauss et al., 2022).

In terms of freedom to decide on research topics, a key finding from this study is that Irish government policy places restrictions on certain areas, such as tobacco-related research and some aspects of medicine and health science. The reasoning behind such restrictive policies is to prevent unethical practices among researchers involved in collaborative projects with certain industry partners, such as the tobacco industry, which could pose harm or incentives detrimental to societal well-being. This finding is consistent with those of earlier studies (Duiveman, 2020; Fink et al. 2023). This study also reveals that Irish government legislation restricts development of technology or collaboration with industries when the results might have dual uses such as in the field of medicine. Previous studies have also argued such regulations could negatively impact on the researcher's independence to pursue fundamental research (Rijnsoever & Hessels, 2021), and academic researchers' ability to promote research reproducibility and integrity (Davis et al., 2011; Jasny et al., 2017).

Findings from this study show that Irish academic researchers have the freedom to disseminate research findings without restrictions from external partners. Researchers indicated that they could choose not to engage in projects with external partners if such interactions would hinder their academic freedom to share their research results with the wider public. Previous studies have also argued that individual researchers should have the volition to choose which engagement activities they want to participate in and the extent to which they wish to partake in such tasks (Cerasoli et al., 2016).

In conclusion, this thesis establishes that the motivation for and mode of engagement between academic researchers and non-academic external partners are influenced by a blend of intrinsic and extrinsic factors, deeply intertwined with individual, organisational and policy-related institutional elements. This thesis thus suggests the need for a tailored strategies that considers these diverse motivations and contextual dynamics to optimize the interaction between researchers and non-academic external partners within Ireland's innovation ecosystem. Lastly, this study is not without any limitations, and as a result, the next section suggests areas for consideration in further research studies. By addressing these limitations and exploring these areas for further research, future studies can deepen our understanding of academic engagement with non-academic partners and contribute to advancement of theory, more effective policies, and practices.

6.3 Limitations and Future Research

One of the limitations of this study is related to the type of university the Irish academic researchers who participated in this study are affiliated with. My study could not clarify if academic researchers from private institutions engage less with industry, as Queirós et al., (2022) suggested. All academic researchers that participated in my study were affiliated with publicly funded universities in Ireland. Future studies may want to fill this research gap to provide more comprehensive evidence. Private institutions in Ireland typically do not have a research mandate and focus mainly on teaching of social science subjects such as business. This is a marked contrast to the USA, for example, where full private universities exist.

Another limitation concerns the peer effect. While previous studies claim that peer influence may encourage younger researchers to create more spinoffs due to mentorship from senior colleagues (Houweling & Wolff, 2020; Moog et al., 2015), my study could not substantiate this claim due to the small number of participants with spinoff experience. Further research with a larger sample size and focusing on spinoff experiences could provide more insights into the peer effect on younger researchers.

The impact of public policy on the freedom to research is another area that warrants further investigation. This study found that specific Irish government policies restrict research in areas deemed harmful or insensitive to societal well-being. Such policies can have either a complementary or detrimental effect on university collaborative research (Duiveman, 2020). While my study provided some evidence for this claim, the extent and nature of this impact require further exploration. Previous literature has highlighted that restricted research areas often include genetically modified products, military/defence research, and tobacco research (Legro, 2011; Smith & Walsh, 2023; Varma &

Sabharwal, 2018). Future studies should investigate how such policies shape research directions and collaborations across broader external partners in those particular industries. Given Ireland's neutrality and lack of manufacturers of tobacco, there is perhaps a smaller likelihood of these industries being part of the range of organisations that Irish researchers may engage with.

Findings from this study are primarily based on experiences from a limited set of researchers from specific disciplinary fields, with engineering and medicine not well represented. Hence, the results from this thesis are not generalizable since researchers from all disciplinary fields or private universities were not covered. Additionally, only nineteen researchers participated in this study, limiting the sample size and diversity. Nineteen interviews did provide a set of rich data and theoretical saturation was reached. However more interviews with a more diverse set of researchers could have yielded other results.

Another limitation is that this study captures motivations at a particular point in time, but researchers' motivations for engaging with non-academic partners may evolve due to changing academic, industry, and policy environments, which is beyond the scope of this study. Consequent to this limitation, several potential areas are worth exploring in future research are based on these limitations. Future studies could investigate similar motivations in different cultural or national contexts to understand how a country's policies, academic practices, culture, or industry structures influence academic engagement. It would also be insightful for future studies to conduct longitudinal research into how motivations and engagement strategies evolve and respond to dynamics within research environments.

Additionally, larger-scale surveys could provide a more representative picture of the situation in Ireland and other European countries for comparison. Future research could explore how motivations vary across different academic disciplines, particularly engineering and medicine, which this study did not cover well. Following researchers over their career paths is very interesting to improve our understanding of factors influencing why and how researchers start with academic engagement in the first place and how their engagement develops over their careers.

6.4 Recommendations

Based on insight gathered from this study, some vital recommendations are suggested to the major stakeholders in external engagement in Ireland. These recommendations are:

6.4.1 Recommendations to University Managers

My study with academic researchers in Ireland highlighted several areas where university managers can make significant improvements to enhance academic engagement and collaboration with external partners. Addressing these issues will facilitate better research outcomes and strengthen the university's position as a collaborative and supportive institution.

Firstly, it is crucial to streamline the internal bureaucratic processes within the university. Participants indicated that delays and lack of responsiveness from the business development office significantly hindered their ability to secure and maintain trust with potential industry partners. An example cited involved a one-month delay in response from the business development office, which resulted in lost opportunities and diminished trust with a European company. Implementing more efficient communication channels and ensuring prompt responses to researchers' inquiries and potential collaborations can mitigate these issues.

Secondly, the study revealed substantial administrative burdens that complicate the execution of research projects. Researchers noted that excessive administration, often exacerbated by how the university interacts with funding programs, diverts time and energy away from the core research activities. Simplifying administrative procedures and providing dedicated administrative support for researchers involved in externally funded projects can alleviate these burdens and enable researchers to focus more on their primary research tasks.

Thirdly, there is a notable lack of adequate support from university managers despite encouraging industry engagement. While engagement with industry is part of key performance indicators, the necessary systems and support structures to facilitate this engagement seem not to be entirely in place. It is recommended that university managers invest in developing robust support systems and an infrastructure that can effectively facilitate industry collaborations. This includes addressing deficiencies in current systems and creating an environment where researchers feel adequately supported in their external engagements.

Furthermore, the issue of inadequate time allocation for research within academic contracts was frequently mentioned, though this was mainly noted in the interviews with those from the technological universities. Researchers face significant time constraints, balancing teaching, administration, and research responsibilities. Revisiting academic contracts to ensure sufficient time is allocated for research and external engagement activities can help alleviate this barrier, though it is acknowledged that government has a part of play in the writing and negotiation of contracts in public institutions. Providing flexible scheduling options or reducing non-research-related responsibilities during critical project phases could also be beneficial.

Additionally, concerns were raised regarding the fear of intellectual property (IP) loss and the implications of General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and ethics. Researchers are apprehensive about potential IP theft when engaging with industry and the stringent regulations around GDPR when working with specific demographics, such as minors. Developing clear guidelines and support for managing IP and navigating GDPR and ethical considerations can build researchers' confidence in engaging with external partners without fearing legal repercussions or IP loss.

Limited financial resources for travel and the difficulty in finding suitable industry partners were also highlighted. Providing more funding opportunities for travel and collaboration and establishing dedicated units or platforms to assist researchers in finding and connecting with potential industry partners can address these challenges. Facilitating networking events and partnerships can also expand researchers' international engagement opportunities.

Another issue was the difficulty in hiring research support staff due to the competitive job market. To attract talented researchers, universities could consider offering competitive salaries, benefits, and career development opportunities that make academic positions more appealing than industry roles. Power asymmetries between partners were identified as a potential source of collaboration conflict. Establishing clear partnership guidelines and fostering equitable relationships can help mitigate these issues, ensuring all parties feel valued and fairly treated.

Lastly, the study highlighted the need for the university to commit more resources, including funding and access to facilities and equipment, to support researchers' collaborative efforts. Ensuring that researchers have the necessary resources and institutional backing will significantly enhance their ability to engage effectively with external partners.

In summary, addressing these identified issues through strategic policy changes, enhanced support systems, streamlined administrative processes, and adequate resource allocation will foster a more supportive and efficient environment for academic engagement and collaboration with external partners.

6.4.2 Recommendations to Industry

Based on the findings from this study, several key recommendations can be made to industry practitioners to enhance collaboration and mutual benefits with academic researchers. A significant barrier identified is the reluctance of industry partners to genuinely engage unless there is a clear monetary or government-driven incentive. To foster more productive collaborations, industry practitioners should broaden their perspectives on the benefits of academic engagement. By

recognizing the long-term value of research, such as innovation, improved processes, and potential future profits, industry partners can appreciate the advantages beyond immediate financial returns. Creating joint initiatives with academic institutions that align with research goals and industry needs can also lead to more sustainable and mutually beneficial collaborations.

Researchers highlighted that strict collaboration requirements can be a significant obstacle, especially with larger multinational companies. Industry practitioners should consider adopting more flexible and open collaboration frameworks that allow more fluid interaction with academic researchers. This flexibility can help accommodate the varying needs and processes of academic research, enhancing collaborative projects' effectiveness and outcomes. The study revealed that the workload and time required for industry collaboration can negatively impact researchers' ability to publish and progress in their academic careers. Industry partners should be aware of these constraints and work towards creating collaborative frameworks that minimize administrative burdens and streamline processes. For instance, simplifying reporting requirements and being considerate of academic timelines can help alleviate some of the pressure on researchers.

Collaborations with industry often come with confidentiality agreements that can limit researchers' ability to publish their findings. Industry practitioners must balance protecting proprietary information and allowing academic researchers to publish their work. Establishing clear guidelines at the outset of the partnership regarding what can be published and when can help manage expectations and promote transparency. High expectations from industry partners regarding the speed and comprehensiveness of research results can strain collaborations. Industry practitioners need to set realistic timelines and expectations for research outcomes. Understanding the academic research process and its inherent complexities can lead to more reasonable demands and a more collaborative approach. Time delays and the busy schedules of industry partners can hinder effective collaboration. Industry practitioners should ensure timely communication and allocate dedicated resources to manage collaborative projects. This commitment can improve the responsiveness and overall efficiency of the partnership. Furthermore, limited financial resources and resource constraints can impede the success of collaborative projects. Industry practitioners must honour their financial commitments and allocate adequate resources to support the research. This support is crucial for maintaining trust and ensuring the smooth progression of the projects.

6.4.3 Recommendations to non-industry partners

This thesis reveals that one of the main challenges that researchers face is identifying which NGOs or charity organisations might be interested in collaborating. NGOs and charity organisations can address

this by being more proactive in their outreach to academic institutions. Creating clear, accessible information about their interests and research priorities on their websites and through networking events can help researchers easily identify potential partners. In summary, by implementing these recommendations, industry practitioners and NGOs/charity organisations can enhance their collaborations with academic researchers, leading to more successful and impactful research outcomes.

REFERENCES

- Akerlind, G. S., & Kayrooz, C. (2003). Understanding academic freedom: The views of social scientists. *Higher Education Research and Development*, *22*(3), 327–344. https://doi.org/10.1080/0729436032000145176
- Aagaard, K., Bloch, C., & Schneider, J. W. (2015). Impacts of performance-based research funding systems: The case of the Norwegian publication indicator. *Research Evaluation*, 24.
- Aagaard, K., Mongeon, P., Ramos-Vielba, I., & Thomas, D. A. (2021). Getting to the bottom of research funding: Acknowledging the complexity of funding dynamics. *PLoS ONE*, *16*(5 May). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0251488
- Abdel Latif, M. M. M. (2014). Academic freedom: problems in conceptualization and research. *Higher Education Research & Development*, *33*(2), 399–401. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2014.881766
- Aberbach, J. D., & Christensen, T. (2018). Academic Autonomy and Freedom under Pressure: Severely Limited, or Alive and Kicking? *Public Organization Review*, *18*(4), 487–506. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11115-017-0394-2
- Abramo, G., & D'Angelo, C. A. (2022). Drivers of academic engagement in public–private research collaboration: an empirical study. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, *47*(6), 1861–1884. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-021-09884-z
- Abramo, G., D'Angelo, C. A., Costa, F., & Solazzi, M. (2009). University–industry collaboration in Italy: A bibliometric examination. *Technovation*, 29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2008.11.003
- Abramo, G., D'Angelo, C. A., & Di Costa, F. (2009). Research collaboration and productivity: Is there correlation? *Higher Education*, *57*(2), 155–171. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-008-9139-z
- Abreu, M., & Grinevich, V. (2013). The nature of academic entrepreneurship in the UK: Widening the focus on entrepreneurial activities. *Research Policy*, *42*(2), 408–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2012.10.005
- Abreu, M., & Grinevich, V. (2017). Gender patterns in academic entrepreneurship. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, 42(4), 763–794. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-016-9543-y
- Aghion, P., Dewatripont, M., & Stein, J. C. (2008). Academic freedom, private-sector focus, and the process of innovation. *RAND Journal of Economics*, *39*(3), 617–635. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1756-2171.2008.00031.x
- Åkerblad, L., Seppänen-Järvelä, R., & Haapakoski, K. (2021). Integrative strategies in mixed methods research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *15*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689820957125
- Akrich, M., & Rabeharisoa, V. (2023). on the Multiplicity of Lay Expertise: an Empirical and Analytical Overview of Patient Associations' Achievements and Challenges. *The Oxford Handbook of Expertise and Democratic Politics*, 103–133. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190848927.013.5
- Albats, E., Fiegenbaum, I., & Cunningham, J. A. (2018). A micro level study of university industry collaborative lifecycle key performance indicators. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, *43*(2), 389–431. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-017-9555-2
- Albuquerque, E., Suzigan, W., Kruss, G., & Lee, K. (2015). Developing national systems of innovation: University–Industry interactions in the global south. In *Developing National Systems of Innovation:* University–Industry Interactions in the Global South. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781784711108

- Alsuwailem, M. (2023). Sustaining Work–Home Enrichment Experience in the Academic Sector: The Role of Intrinsic versus Extrinsic Motivations. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, *15*(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/su15076145
- Amara, N., Landry, R., & Halilem, N. (2013). Faculty consulting in natural sciences and engineering: Between formal and informal knowledge transfer. *Higher Education*, 65(3), 359–384. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-012-9549-9
- Amaral, M., Ferreira, A., & Teodoro, P. (2011). Building an entrepreneurial university in Brazil: the role and potential of university-industry linkages in promoting regional economic development. *Ind High Educ*, 25. https://doi.org/10.5367/ihe.2011.0061
- Ankrah, S., & AL-Tabbaa, O. (2015). Universities-industry collaboration: A systematic review. *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, *31*(3), 387–408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scaman.2015.02.003
- Ankrah, S. N., Burgess, T. F., Grimshaw, P., & Shaw, N. E. (2013). Asking both university and industry actors about their engagement in knowledge transfer: What single-group studies of motives omit. *Technovation*, 33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2012.11.001
- Apa, R., De Marchi, V., Grandinetti, R., & Sedita, S. R. (2021). University-SME collaboration and innovation performance: the role of informal relationships and absorptive capacity. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, *46*(4), 961–988. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-020-09802-9
- Appiagyei-Atua, K., Beiter, K., & Karran, T. (2016). A Review of Academic Freedom in African Universities through the Prism of the 1997/ILO/UNESCO Recommendation. *AAUP Journal of Academic Freedom*, 7(2016), 1–23.
- Arvanitis, S., Kubli, U., & Woerter, M. (2008). University-industry knowledge and technology transfer in Switzerland: What university scientists think about co-operation with private enterprises. *Research Policy*, 37(10), 1865–1883. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2008.07.005
- Arza, V., & Carattoli, M. (2017). Personal ties in university-industry linkages: a case-study from Argentina. Journal of Technology Transfer, 42(4), 814–840. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-016-9544-x
- Aschhoff, B., & Grimpe, C. (2014). Contemporaneous peer effects, career age and the industry involvement of academics in biotechnology. *Research Policy*, *43*(2), 367–381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2013.11.002
- Asheim, B. T., & Coenen, L. (2005). Knowledge bases and regional innovation systems: Comparing Nordic clusters. *Research Policy*, *34*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2005.03.013
- Athreye, S., Sengupta, A., & Odetunde, O. J. (2023). Academic entrepreneurial engagement with weak institutional support: roles of motivation, intention and perceptions. *Studies in Higher Education*, *48*(5), 683–694. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2023.2184789
- Atta-Owusu, K., & Fitjar, R. D. (2022). What motivates academics for external engagement? Exploring the effects of motivational drivers and organizational fairness. *Science and Public Policy*, *49*(2), 201–218. https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/scab075
- Atta-Owusu, K., & Fitjar, R. D. (2023). Incentivizing knowledge exchange engagement: direct and indirect benefits of external engagement. *Studies in Higher Education*, *48*(5), 758–769. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2023.2185601
- Austin, D., May, J., Andrade, J., & Jones, R. (2021). Delivering digital health: the barriers and facilitators to university-industry collaboration. *Health Policy and Technology*, *10*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hlpt.2020.10.003
- Azoulay, P., Ding, W., & Stuart, T. (2009). The impact of academic patenting on the rate, quality and direction of (public) research output. *The Journal of Industrial Economics*, *57*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6451.2009.00395.x

- Bagheri, L., & Milyavskaya, M. (2020). Novelty-variety as a candidate basic psychological need: New evidence across three studies. *Motivation and Emotion*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-019-09807-4
- Banal-Estañol, A., Jofre-Bonet, M., & Lawson, C. (2015). The double-edged sword of industry collaboration: Evidence from engineering academics in the UK. *Research Policy*, 44(6), 1160–1175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2015.02.006
- Barlösius, E., Paruschke, L., & Philipps, A. (2023). Peer review's irremediable flaws: Scientists' perspectives on grant evaluation in Germany. *Research Evaluation*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1093/reseval/rvad032
- Bastos, E. C., Sengik, A. R., & Tello-Gamarra, J. (2021). Fifty years of university-industry collaboration: a global bibliometrics overview. *Sci Public Policy*, *48*. https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/scaa077
- Bate, A. F., Wachira, E. W., & Danka, S. (2023). The determinants of innovation performance: an incomebased cross-country comparative analysis using the Global Innovation Index (GII). *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, *12*(20), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13731-023-00283-2
- Battaglia, D., Paolucci, E., & Ughetto, E. (2021). Opening the black box of university Proof-of-Concept programs: Project and team-based determinants of research commercialization outcomes. *Technovation*, *108*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2021.102334
- Beaud, O. (2020). Reflections on the concept of academic freedom. *European Review of History*, 27(5), 611–627. https://doi.org/10.1080/13507486.2020.1823650
- Bekkers, R., & Bodas Freitas, I. M. (2008). Analysing knowledge transfer channels between universities and industry: To what degree do sectors also matter? *Research Policy*, *37*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2008.07.007
- Belderbos, R., Braito, N., & Wang, J. (2024). Heterogeneous university research and firm R&D location decisions: research orientation, academic quality, and investment type. In *Journal of Technology Transfer* (Issue 0123456789). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-024-10066-w
- Belitski, M., Aginskaja, A., & Marozau, R. (2019). Commercializing university research in transition economies: Technology transfer offices or direct industrial funding? *Research Policy*, 48(3), 601–615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.10.011
- Berbegal-Mirabent, J., & Sabate, F. (2015). Balancing basic and applied research outputs: a study of the trade-offs between publishing and patenting. *Technology Analysis and Strategic Management*, 27(10), 1143–1158. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537325.2015.1060313
- Bercovitz, J., & Feldman, M. (2008). Academic entrepreneurs: Organizational change at the individual level. *Organization Science*, 19.
- Bercovitz, J., & Feldmann, M. (2006). Entrepreneurial universities and technology transfer: A conceptual framework for understanding knowledge-based economic development. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *31*.
- Berdahl, R. (1990). Academic freedom, autonomy and accountability in British universities. *Studies in Higher Education*, *15*(2), 169–180. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079012331377491
- Berggren, N., & Bjørnskov, C. (2022a). Academic freedom, institutions, and productivity. *Southern Economic Journal*, *88*(4), 1313–1342. https://doi.org/10.1002/soej.12561
- Berggren, N., & Bjørnskov, C. (2022b). Political institutions and academic freedom: evidence from across the world. *Public Choice*, *190*(1–2), 205–228. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11127-021-00931-9
- Berry, B. (1994). The relationship between infringements on the freedom to research and teach and poor sociological practice. *The American Sociologist*, 25(3), 53–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02692582

- Bhullar, S. S., Nangia, V. K., & Batish, A. (2019). The impact of academia-industry collaboration on core academic activities: assessing the latent dimensions. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2019.04.021
- Bianchini, S., Lissoni, F., Pezzoni, M., & Zirulia, L. (2016). The economics of research, consulting, and teaching quality: theory and evidence from a technical university. *Economics of Innovation and New Technology*, *25*(7), 668–691.
- Bidault, F., & Hildebrand, T. (2014). The distribution of partnership returns: Evidence from co-authorships in economics journals. *Research Policy*, *43*(6), 1002–1013. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2014.01.008
- Bjørnåli, E. S., & Gulbrandsen, M. (2010). Exploring board formation and evolution of board composition in academic spin-offs. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, *35*(1), 92–112. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-009-9115-5
- Blumenthal, D., Campbell, E. G., Causino, N., & Louis, K. S. (1996). Participation of life science faculty in research relationships with industry. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *335*. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199612053352305
- Blumenthal, D., Campbell, E. G., Gokhale, M., Yucel, R., Clarridge, B., Hilgartner, S., & Holtzman, N. A. (2006). Data withholding in genetics and the other life sciences: Prevalences and predictors. *Academic Medicine*, *81*(2), 137–145. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001888-200602000-00008
- Boardman, P. C., & Ponomariov, B. L. (2009). University researchers working with private companies. *Technovation*, 29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2008.03.008
- Bodas Freitas, I. M., Geuna, A., & Rossi, F. (2013). Finding the right partners: institutional and personal modes of governance of university–industry interactions. *Res Policy*, *42*.
- Bolzani, D., Munari, F., Rasmussen, E., & Toschi, L. (2021). Technology transfer offices as providers of science and technology entrepreneurship education. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *46*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-020-09788-4
- Bonnell, A. G. (2021). Corporate power and academic freedom. *Australian Universities Review*, *63*(1), 19–25.
- Bozeman, B., Bretschneider, S., Lindsay, S., Nelson, J. P., & Didier, N. (2023). Reports of practitioners' use of public affairs faculty published research. *Studies in Higher Education*, *48*. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2023.2184787
- Bozeman, B., & Gaughan, M. (2007). Impacts of grants and contracts on academic researchers' interactions with industry. *Research Policy*, *36*(5), 694–707. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2007.01.007
- Bozeman, B., Lindsay, S., Nelson, J. P., & Bretschneider, S. (2023). Speaking truth to power...or to the lvory Tower? Public affairs researchers reports of practitioners' use of their research. *Public Management Review.* https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2023.2252819
- Breuning, M., Backstrom, J., Brannon, J., Gross, B. I., & Widmeier, M. (2015). Reviewer fatigue? Why scholars decline to review their peers' work. *Political Science and Politics*, 48.
- Brezis, E. S., & Birukou, A. (2020). Arbitrariness in the peer review process. Scientometrics, 123.
- Broeck, A., Ferris, D. L., Chang, C. H., & Rosen, C. C. (2016). A review of self-determination theory's basic psychological needs at work. *Journal of Management*, 42.
- Bruneel, J., D'Este, P., & Salter, A. (2010). Investigating the factors that diminish the barriers to universityindustry collaboration. *Research Policy*, *39*(7), 858–868. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2010.03.006

- Butcher, J., & Jeffrey, P. (2007). A view from the coal face: UK research student perceptions of successful and unsuccessful collaborative projects. *Research Policy*, *36*(8), 1239–1250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2007.04.009
- Cadez, S., Dimovski, V., & Zaman Groff, M. (2017). Research, teaching and performance evaluation in academia: the salience of quality. *Studies in Higher Education*, *42*(8), 1455–1473. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2015.1104659
- Cai, Y., & Ahmad, I. (2023). From an Entrepreneurial University to a Sustainable Entrepreneurial University: Conceptualization and Evidence in the Contexts of European University Reforms. *Higher Education Policy*, *36*(1), 20–52. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41307-021-00243-z
- Cain, T. R. (2023). Accreditation, Academic Freedom, and Institutional Autonomy: Historical Precedents and Modern Imperatives. *AAUP Journal of Academic Freedom*, *14*, 1–12.
- Caldera, A., & Debande, O. (2010). Performance of Spanish universities in technology transfer: An empirical analysis. *Research Policy*, *39*(9), 1160–1173.
- Calderini, M., Franzoni, C., & Vezzulli, A. (2007). If star scientists do not patent: The effect of productivity, basicness and impact on the decision to patent in the academic world. *Research Policy*, *36*.
- Callaert, J., Landoni, P., Van Looy, B., & Verganti, R. (2015). Scientific yield from collaboration with industry: The relevance of researchers' strategic approaches. *Research Policy*, *44*(4), 990–998. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2015.02.003
- Caloghirou, Y., Giotopoulos, I., Kontolaimou, A., Korra, E., & Tsakanikas, A. (2021). Industry-university knowledge flows and product innovation: How do knowledge stocks and crisis matter? *Research Policy*, *50*(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2020.104195
- Caloghirou, Y., Tsakanikas, A., & Vonortas, N. S. (2001). University-industry cooperation in the context of the European framework programmes. *J Technol Transf, 26*. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1013025615518
- Canhoto, A. I., Quinton, S., Jackson, P., & Dibb, S. (2016). The co-production of value in digital, universityindustry R&D collaborative projects. *Ind Mark Manag*, *56*.
- Carayol, N., & Matt, M. (2004). Does research organization influence academic production? Laboratory level evidence from a large European university. *Research Policy*, *33*(8), 1081–1102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2004.03.004
- Carvalho, T., & Diogo, S. (2018). Exploring the relationship between institutional and professional autonomy: A comparative study between Portugal and Finland. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, 40.
- Cerasoli, C. P., Nicklin, J. M., & Nassrelgrgawi, A. S. (2016). Performance, incentives, and needs for autonomy, competence, and relatedness: a meta-analysis. In *Motivation and Emotion* (Vol. 40, Issue 6). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-016-9578-2
- Chalit Hernandez, B., & Luzbetak, A. (2023). Fat in food & environment justice: lessons from fat studies scholarship. *Fat Studies*, *12*(1), 55–71. https://doi.org/10.1080/21604851.2021.1965707
- Chankseliani, M. (2023). Who funds the production of globally visible research in the Global South? *Scientometrics*, *128*(1), 783–801. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-022-04583-4
- Charms, R. (1968). Personal causation: the internal affective determinants of behavior. Academic Press.
- Chartres, N., Fabbri, A., & Bero, L. A. (2016). Association of industry sponsorship with outcomes of nutrition studies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *176*(12), 1769–1777.

- Chirkov, V., Ryan, R. M., Kim, Y., & Kaplan, U. (2003). Differentiating autonomy from individualism and independence: A self-determination theory perspective on internalization of cultural orientations and well-being. *Journal Of Personality And Social Psychology*, 84.
- Chiu, T. K. F. (2022). Applying the self-determination theory (SDT) to explain student engagement in online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, *54*(S1), S14–S30. https://doi.org/10.1080/15391523.2021.1891998
- Chryssou, C. E. (2020). University-industry interactions in the Sultanate of Oman: challenges and opportunities. *Ind High Educ*, *34*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0950422219896748
- Clauss, T., Spieth, P., Klusmann, C., Issah, W. B., & Kesting, T. (2022). How industry projects can stimulate academic engagement: an experimental study among U.S. engineering professors. *Industry and Innovation*, *29*(1), 74–101. https://doi.org/10.1080/13662716.2021.1976626
- Cohen, W. M., Nelson, R. R., & Walsh, J. P. (2002). Links and impacts: The influence of public research on industrial R&D. *Management Science*, *48*(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.48.1.1.14273
- Coker, F. W. (1954). Academic Freedom and the Congressional Investigations: Free Speech and the Silent Professor. *The Journal of Politics*, *16*(3), 491–508. https://doi.org/10.2307/2126005
- Collie, R. J. (2022). Perceived social-emotional competence: A multidimensional examination and links with social-emotional motivation and behaviors. *Learning and Instruction, 82*(January), 101656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2022.101656
- Collins, P., Shaffer, H. J., Ladouceur, R., Blaszszynski, A., & Fong, D. (2020). Gambling research and industry funding. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *36*, 989–997.
- Collyer, F. M. (2015). Practices of conformity and resistance in the marketisation of the academy: Bourdieu, professionalism and academic capitalism. *Critical Studies in Education*, *56*. https://doi.org/10.1080/17508487.2014.985690
- Compagnucci, L., & Spigarelli, F. (2020). The Third Mission of the university: A systematic literature review on potentials and constraints. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *161*(September), 120284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2020.120284
- Confraria, H., Blanckenberg, J., & Swart, C. (2020). Which factors influence international research collaboration in Africa? *Africa and the Sustainable Development Goals*, 243–255.
- Crescenzi, R., Filippetti, A., & lammarino, S. (2017). Academic inventors: Collaboration and proximity with industry. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 42.
- Creswell, J. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. Sage publications.
- Curran, T., Hill, A. P., & Niemiec, C. (2013). A conditional process model of children's behavioral engagement and behavioral disaffection in sport based on Self-Determination Theory. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, 35.
- Cuvero, M., Granados, M. L., Pilkington, A., & Evans, R. (2023). Start-ups' use of knowledge spillovers for product innovation: the influence of entrepreneurial ecosystems and virtual platforms. *R and D Management*, *53*(4), 584–602. https://doi.org/10.1111/radm.12567
- Czarnitzki, D., Grimpe, C., & Pellens, M. (2015). Access to research inputs: open science versus the entrepreneurial university. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *40*(6), 1050–1063. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-015-9392-0
- Czarnitzki, D., Grimpe, C., & Toole, A. A. (2015). Delay and secrecy: Does industry sponsorship jeopardize disclosure of academic research? *Industrial and Corporate Change*, *24*(1), 251–279. https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/dtu011

- Czerwińska-Lubszczyk, A., Grebski, M., & Jagoda-Sobalak, D. (2020). Cooperation of universities with business in Poland and the USA—perspective of scientific environment. *Manag Syst Prod Eng*, 28. https://doi.org/10.2478/mspe-2020-0007
- Dabić, M., Maley, J., Dana, L. P., Novak, I., Pellegrini, M. M., & Caputo, A. (2020). Pathways of SME internationalization: a bibliometric and systematic review. *Small Business Economics*, *55*(3), 705–725. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-019-00181-6
- Davey, T., Rossano, S., & van der Sijde, P. (2016). Does context matter in academic entrepreneurship? The role of barriers and drivers in the regional and national context. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, 41(6), 1457–1482. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-015-9450-7
- David, P. A. (2004). Understanding the emergence of 'open science'institutions: functionalist economics in historical context. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, *13*(4), 571–589.
- Davis, L., Larsen, M. T., & Lotz, P. (2011). Scientists' perspectives concerning the effects of university patenting on the conduct of academic research in the life sciences. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *36*.
- Dawadi, S., Shrestha, S., & Giri, R. A. (2021). Mixed-Methods Research: A Discussion on its Types, Challenges, and Criticisms. *Journal of Practical Studies in Education*, *2*(2), 25–36. https://doi.org/10.46809/jpse.v2i2.20
- Dawson, C. (2019). Introduction to research methods 5th edition: A practical guide for anyone undertaking a research project. Robinson.
- De Fuentes, C., & Dutrénit, G. (2012). Best channels of academia-industry interaction for long-term benefit. *Research Policy*, *41*(9), 1666–1682. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2012.03.026
- De Jong, S. P. L., & Balaban, C. (2022). How universities influence societal impact practices: Academics' sense-making of organizational impact strategies. *Science and Public Policy*, *49*(4), 609–620. https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/scac012
- Deci, E. L., Koestner, R., & Ryan, R. M. (1999). A meta-analytic review of experiments examining the effects of extrinsic rewards on intrinsic motivation. *Psychol. Bull.*, 25.
- Deci, E. L., Olafsen, A. H., & Ryan, R. M. (2017). Self-Determination Theory in Work Organizations: The State of a Science. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, *4*, 19– 43. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032516-113108
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). *Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior*. Plenum Press. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-2271-7
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2000). The "what" and "why" of goal pursuits: Human needs and the selfdetermination of behavior. *Psychological Inquiry*, *11*(4), 227–268. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327965PLI1104_01
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2008). Facilitating optimal motivation and psychological well-being across life's domains. *Canadian Psychology*, 49. https://doi.org/10.1037/0708-5591.49.1.14
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2015). Self-Determination Theory. In *International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences: Second Edition* (pp. 486–491). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-097086-8.26036-4
- Defazio, D., Lockett, A., & Wright, M. (2009). Funding incentives, collaborative dynamics and scientific productivity: Evidence from the EU framework program. *Research Policy*, *38*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2008.11.008
- D'Este, P., & lammarino, S. (2010). The spatial profile of university-business research partnerships. *Papers in Regional Science*, *89*(2), 335–350.

- D'Este, P., Llopis, O., Rentocchini, F., & Yegros, A. (2019). The relationship between interdisciplinarity and distinct modes of university-industry interaction. *Research Policy*, *48*(9), 103799. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2019.05.008
- D'Este, P., & Patel, P. (2007). University-industry linkages in the UK: What are the factors underlying the variety of interactions with industry? *Research Policy*, *36*(9), 1295–1313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2007.05.002
- D'Este, P., & Perkmann, M. (2011). Why do academics engage with industry? The entrepreneurial university and individual motivations. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, *36*(3), 316–339. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-010-9153-z
- D'Este, P., Ramos-Vielba, I., Woolley, R., & Amara, N. (2018). How do researchers generate scientific and societal impacts? Toward an analytical and operational framework. *Science and Public Policy*, *45*.
- D'Este, P., Rentocchini, F., Grimaldi, R., & Manjarrés-Henríquez, L. (2013). The relationship between research funding and academic consulting: An empirical investigation in the Spanish context. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *80*(8), 1535–1545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2013.04.018
- D'Este, P., & Robinson-García, N. (2023). Interdisciplinary research and the societal visibility of science: The advantages of spanning multiple and distant scientific fields. *Research Policy*, *52*(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2022.104609
- Dias, A., & Selan, B. (2023). How does university-industry collaboration relate to research resources and technical-scientific activities? An analysis at the laboratory level. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, 48(1), 392–415. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-022-09921-5
- Dietz, J. S., & Bozeman, B. (2005). Academic careers, patents, and productivity: Industry experience as scientific and technical human capital. *Research Policy*, *34*.
- Dip, J. A. (2021). What does U-multirank tell us about knowledge transfer and research? *Scientometrics*, *126*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-020-03838-2
- Dodgson, M., & Staggs, J. (2012). Government policy, university strategy and the academic entrepreneur: The case of Queensland's smart state institutes. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, *36*(3), 567–585. https://doi.org/10.1093/cje/bes004
- Drolet, M. J., Rose-Derouin, E., Leblanc, J. C., Ruest, M., & Williams-Jones, B. (2023). Ethical Issues in Research: Perceptions of Researchers, Research Ethics Board Members and Research Ethics Experts. *Journal of Academic Ethics*, 21(2), 269–292. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10805-022-09455-3
- Drummond Otten, C., & Fischhoff, B. (2022). Assessing broader impacts of funded research: The US National Science Foundation v. Lamar Smith. *Science and Public Policy*, *49*(2), 313–323. https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/scab082
- Duiveman, R. (R M.). (2020). Institutionally embedded research; how academic and governmental practices enable and constrain collaborative research. *Science and Public Policy*, *47*(6), 855–864. https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/scaa049
- Dutrénit, G., & Arza, V. (2010). Channels and benefits of interactions between public research organisations and industry: comparing four Latin American countries. *Science and Public Policy*, *37*(7), 541–553.
- Duval-Couetil, N., Ladisch, M., & Yi, S. (2021). Addressing academic researcher priorities through science and technology entrepreneurship education. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, *46*(2), 288–318. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-020-09787-5
- Dzhengiz, T., & Patala, S. (2024). The role of cross-sector partnerships in the dynamics between places and innovation ecosystems. *R and D Management*, *54*(2), 370–397. https://doi.org/10.1111/radm.12589

- Egmond, M. C., Omarshah, T., Berges, A. N., Benton, J., Zalira, U., & Morrell, F. (2020). The relationship between caregivers' gender equality norms and girls' need satisfaction and self-esteem under conditions of resource scarcity. *Motivation and Emotion*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-019-09808-3
- Etikan, I. (2016). Comparision of Snowball Sampling and Sequential Sampling Technique. *Biometrics & Biostatistics International Journal*, *3*(1), 1–2. https://doi.org/10.15406/bbij.2016.03.00055
- Etzkowitz, H., & Leydesdorff, L. (2000). The dynamics of innovation: From National Systems and "mode 2" to a Triple Helix of university-industry-government relations. *Research Policy*, *29*(2), 109–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-7333(99)00055-4
- Faulkner, W., & Senker, J. (1994). Making sense of diversity: Public–private sector research linkage in three technologies. *Research Policy*, 23. https://doi.org/10.1016/0048-7333(94)90017-5
- Fernández-Esquinas, M., Pinto, H., Yruela, M. P., & Pereira, T. S. (2016). Tracing the flows of knowledge transfer: Latent dimensions and determinants of university–industry interactions in peripheral innovation systems. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *113*, 266–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2015.07.013
- Fernández-Pérez de la Lastra, S., Foncubierta-Rodríguez, M. J., & Sánchez-Gardey, G. (2023). Toward classification of transfer research: an exploratory analysis based on indicators of academic engagement of knowledge transfer in academia–industry. *Journal of Technology Transfer,* 0123456789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-023-10015-z
- Ferreira, J. J., & Carayannis, E. G. (2019). University-industry knowledge transfer-unpacking the "black box": An introduction. *Knowledge Management Research & Practice*, 17. https://doi.org/10.1080/14778238.2019.1666514
- Figueiredo, N. L., & Ferreira, J. J. M. (2022). More than meets the partner: a systematic review and agenda for university-industry cooperation. *Manag Rev Q*, 72. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11301-020-00209-2
- Filippetti, A., & Savona, M. (2017). University–industry linkages and academic engagements: individual behaviours and firms' barriers. Introduction to the special section. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, 42(4), 719–729. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-017-9576-x
- Fink, M., Gartner, J., Harms, R., & Hatak, I. (2023). Ethical Orientation and Research Misconduct Among Business Researchers Under the Condition of Autonomy and Competition. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 183(2), 619–636. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-022-05043-y
- Fink, M., Hatak, I., Scholz, M., & Down, S. (2020). He who pays the piper calls the tune? Setting the stage for an informed discourse on third-party funding of academic business research. *Review of Managerial Science*, 14(2), 335–343. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11846-019-00364-1
- Franco, M., & Haase, H. (2015). University–industry cooperation: researchers' motivations and interaction channels. *J Eng Technol Manag*, *36*.
- Frickel, S., Gibbon, S., Howard, J., Kempner, J., Ottinger, G., & Hess, D. J. (2010). Undone science: Charting social movement and civil society challenges to research agenda setting. *Science Technology and Human Values*, 35(4), 444–473. https://doi.org/10.1177/0162243909345836
- Fudickar, R., Hottenrott, H., & Lawson, C. (2018). What's the price of academic consulting? Effects of public and private sector consulting on academic research. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 27(4), 699– 722. https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/dty007
- Fulda, A., & Missal, D. (2022). Mitigating threats to academic freedom in Germany: the role of the state, universities, learned societies and China. *International Journal of Human Rights*, 26(10), 1803–1821. https://doi.org/10.1080/13642987.2021.1989412

- Gagné, M., & Deci, E. L. (2005). Self-determination theory and work motivation. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *26*(4), 331–362. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.322
- Gambardella, A., Khashabi, P., & Panico, C. (2020). Managing autonomy in industrial research and development: A project-level investigation. *Organization Science*, *31*(1), 165–181. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.2019.1294
- Gans, J. S., & Murray, F. (2011). Funding scientific knowledge: Selection, disclosure and the public-private portfolio. In *The Rate and Direction of Inventive Activity Revisited* (pp. 51–103). University of Chicago Press.
- Garcia, R., Araújo, V., Mascarini, S., Santos, E. G., & Costa, A. R. (2019). How the benefits, results and Barriers of collaboration affect University engagement with industry. *Science and Public Policy*, *46*(3), 347–357. https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/scy062
- Garn, A. C., Morin, A. J. S., & Lonsdale, C. (2019). Basic psychological need satisfaction toward learning: A longitudinal test of mediation using bifactor exploratory structural equation modeling. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 111.
- Genest, C., & Thibault, C. (2001). Investigating the concentration within a research community using joint publications and co-authorship via intermediaries. *Scientometrics*, *51*(2), 429–440. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1012761903614
- George, R. T. D. (2003). Ethics, Academic Freedom and Academic Tenure. *Journal of Academic Ethics*, 1(6), 11–24.
- Gerlese S Akerlind, M. T. carole K. (2007). Autonomy in Social Science Research: the View from United Kingdom and Australian Universities. In *International Perspectives on Higher Education Research* (Vol. 4).
- Gibbs, A. (2016). Academic freedom in international higher education: right or responsibility? *Ethics and Education*, *11*(2), 175–185. https://doi.org/10.1080/17449642.2016.1181844
- Giuri, P., Munari, F., Scandura, A., & Toschi, L. (2019). The strategic orientation of universities in knowledge transfer activities. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *138*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.09.030
- Gläser, J., Ash, M., Buenstorf, G., Hopf, D., Hubenschmid, L., Janßen, M., Laudel, G., Schimank, U., Stoll, M., Wilholt, T., Zechlin, L., & Lieb, K. (2022). The Independence of Research—A Review of Disciplinary Perspectives and Outline of Interdisciplinary Prospects. In *Minerva* (Vol. 60, Issue 1). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11024-021-09451-8
- Gläser, J., & Laudel, G. (2016). Governing Science: How Science Policy Shapes Research Content. *European Journal of Sociology*, *57*(1), 117–168. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1017/S0003975616000047
- Glenna, L. L., Lacy, W. B., Welsh, R., & Biscotti, D. (2007). University administrators, agricultural biotechnology, and academic capitalism: Defining the public good to promote university-industry relationships. *Sociological Quarterly*, *48*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1533-8525.2007.00074.x
- Goduscheit, R. C. (2022). No Strings Attached? Potential Effects of External Funding on Freedom of Research. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *176*(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-020-04686-z
- Göktepe-Hulten, D., & Mahagaonkar, P. (2010). Inventing and patenting activities of scientists: in the expectation of money or reputation? *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *35*, 401–423.
- Goldacre, B. (2014). Bad pharma: how drug companies mislead doctors and harm patients. Macmillan.
- Goldfarb, B. (2008). The effect of government contracting on academic research: Does the source of funding affect scientific output? *Research Policy*, *37*(1), 41–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2007.07.011

- Golhasany, H., & Harvey, B. (2022). Academic freedom, the impact agenda, and pressures to publish: understanding the driving forces in higher education. *SN Social Sciences*, *2*(8), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43545-022-00468-8
- Gómez, A., Canales, A. F., & Balmer, B. (2016). *Science Policies and Twentieth-Century Dictorships: Spain, Italy and Argentina*. Taylor & Francis Group, Routledge New York and London.
- González-Alcaide, G., Menchi-Elanzi, M., Nacarapa, E., & Ramos-Rincón, J. M. (2020). HIV/AIDS research in Africa and the Middle East: Participation and equity in North-South collaborations and relationships. *Globalization and Health*, *16*(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-020-00609-9
- Gonzalez-Brambila, C. N., Veloso, F. M., & Krackhardt, D. (2013). The impact of network embeddedness on research output. *Research Policy*, *42*(9), 1555–1567. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2013.07.008
- Good, V., Hughes, D. E., Kirca, A. H., & McGrath, S. (2022). A self-determination theory-based metaanalysis on the differential effects of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation on salesperson performance. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, *50*(3), 586–614. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-021-00827-6
- Grant, A. M. (2008). Does Intrinsic Motivation Fuel the Prosocial Fire? Motivational Synergy in Predicting Persistence, Performance, and Productivity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *93*(1), 48–58. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.93.1.48
- Gregorio, D., & Shane, S. (2003). Why do some universities generate more start-ups than others? *Research Policy*, *32*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-7333(02)00097-5
- Grimpe, C., & Hussinger, K. (2013). Formal and informal knowledge and technology transfer from academia to industry: Complementarity effects and innovation performance. *Industry and Innovation*, 20. https://doi.org/10.1080/13662716.2013.856620
- Gulbrandsen, M., & Smeby, J. C. (2005). Industry funding and university professors' research performance. *Research Policy*, *34*(6), 932–950. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2005.05.004
- Haerens, L., Aelterman, N., Vansteenkiste, M., Soenens, B., & Petegem, S. (2015). Do perceived autonomysupportive and controlling teaching relate to physical education students' motivational experiences through unique pathways? Distinguishing between the bright and dark side of motivation. *Psychology of Sport & Exercise*, 16.
- Haeussler, C. (2011). Information-sharing in academia and the industry: A comparative study. *Research Policy*, 40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2010.08.007
- Haeussler, C., Jiang, L., Thursby, J., & Thursby, M. (2014). Specific and general information sharing among competing academic researchers. *Research Policy*, 43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2013.08.017
- Hagger, M. S., & Chatzisarantis, N. L. D. (2011). Causality orientations moderate the undermining effect of rewards on intrinsic motivation. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 47.
- Harman, G. (2001). University-industry research partnerships in Australia: extent, benefits and risks. *Higher Education Research & Development*, *20*(3), 245–264.
- Harman, G. (2002). Producing PhD graduates in Australia for the knowledge economy. *Higher Education Research & Development*, *21*(2), 179–190.
- Hasche, N., Höglund, L., & Linton, G. (2020). Quadruple helix as a network of relationships: creating value within a Swedish regional innovation system. *Journal of Small Business and Entrepreneurship*, *32*(6), 523–544. https://doi.org/10.1080/08276331.2019.1643134
- Hayden, M., & Thiep, L. Q. (2007). Institutional autonomy for higher education in Vietnam. *Higher Education Research and Development*, *26*(1), 73–85. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360601166828

- Hayter, C. S. (2015). Public or private entrepreneurship? Revisiting motivations and definitions of success among academic entrepreneurs. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *40*, 1003–1015.
- Hayter, C. S., Lubynsky, R., & Maroulis, S. (2017). Who is the academic entrepreneur? The role of graduate students in the development of university spinoffs. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *42*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-016-9470-y
- Hedgecoe, A. (2016). Reputational risk, academic freedom and research ethics review. *Sociology*, *50*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038515590756
- Heinsch, M., Cootes, H., & Tickner, C. (2023). Another implementation science is possible: engaging an 'intelligent public' in knowledge translation. *Health Sociology Review*, 32(1), 5–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/14461242.2023.2174897
- Hemmert, M., Bstieler, L., & Okamuro, H. (2014). Bridging the cultural divide: trust formation in university– industry research collaborations in the US, Japan, and South Korea. *Technovation*, *34*.
- Heng, K., Hamid, M. O., & Khan, A. (2020). Factors influencing academics' research engagement and productivity: A developing countries perspective. *Issues in Educational Research*, *30*(3), 965–987.
- Heng, K., Hamid, M. O., & Khan, A. (2022). Research engagement of academics in the Global South: the case of Cambodian academics. *Globalisation, Societies and Education*. https://doi.org/10.1080/14767724.2022.2040355
- Hermanson, I., McKelvey, M., & Zaring, O. (2021). Organising an early phase of academic engagement: a case study of interactions between engineering and equestrian sports. *Innovation: Organization and Management*, *23*(2), 266–286. https://doi.org/10.1080/14479338.2020.1759427
- Hess, D., Breyman, S., Campbell, N., & Martin, B. (2008). Science, Technology, and Social Movements. In *The handbook of science and technology studies* (p. 473).
- Hofer, J., & Bush, H. (2019). Women in power-themed tasks: Need for power predicts task enjoyment and power stress. *Motivation & Emotion*, 43.
- Holding, A. C., St-Jacques, A., Verner-Filion, J., Kachanoff, F., & Koestner, R. (2020). Sacrifice—but at what price? A longitudinal study of young adults' sacrifice of basic psychological needs in pursuit of career goals. *Motivation and Emotion*, 44(1), 99–115. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-019-09777-7
- Hong, W., & Walsh, J. P. (2009). For money or glory? Commercialization, competition and secrecy in the entrepreneurial university. *Sociological Quarterly*, *50*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1533-8525.2008.01136.x
- Hooi, R., & Wang, J. (2020). Research funding and academic engagement: a Singapore case. *Knowledge Management Research and Practice*, 18(2), 162–174. https://doi.org/10.1080/14778238.2019.1638739
- Horbach, S. P. J. M., Tijdink, J. K., & Bouter, L. M. (2022). Partial lottery can make grant allocation more fair, more efficient, and more diverse. *Science and Public Policy*, *49*(4), 580–582.
- Hottenrott, H., & Lawson, C. (2017). Fishing for complementarities: Research grants and research productivity. *International Journal of Industrial Organization*, *51*, 1–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijindorg.2016.12.004
- Hottenrott, H., & Thorwarth, S. (2011). Industry funding of university research and scientific productivity. *Kyklos, 64*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6435.2011.00519.x
- Houlfort, N., Cécire, P., Koestner, R., & Verner-Filion, J. (2022). Managing the work-home interface by making sacrifices: Costs of sacrificing psychological needs. *Motivation and Emotion*, *46*(5), 658–671. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-022-09971-0

- Houweling, S., & Wolff, S. (2020). The influence of scientific prestige and peer effects on the intention to create university spin-offs. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, *45*(5), 1432–1450. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-019-09747-8
- Howard, J. L., Gagné, M., & Bureau, J. S. (2017). Testing a continuum structure of self-determined motivation: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000125
- Howard, J. L., Gagné, M., Morin, A. J. S., & Forest, J. (2018). Using Bifactor Exploratory Structural Equation Modeling to Test for a Continuum Structure of Motivation. *Journal of Management*, 44(7), 2638– 2664. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316645653
- Höyssä, M., Bruun, H., & Hukkinen, J. (2004). The co-evolution of social and physical infrastructure for biotechnology innovation in Turku, Finland. *Research Policy*, 33(5), 769–785. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2003.12.003
- Huang, M.-. H., Yang, H.-. W., & Chen, D.-. Z. (2015). Industry–academia collaboration in fuel cells: A perspective from paper and patent analysis. *Scientometrics*, *105*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-015-1748-6
- Huggins, R., Prokop, D., & Thompson, P. (2020). Universities and open innovation: The determinants of network centrality. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, 45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-019-09720-5
- Hughes, A., & Kitson, M. (2012). Pathways to impact and the strategic role of universities: new evidence on the breadth and depth of university knowledge exchange in the UK and the factors constraining its development. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, *36*(3), 723–750. https://doi.org/10.1093/cje/bes017
- Hughes, A., Lawson, C., Kitson, M., Salter, A., Bullock, A., & Hughes, R. (2016). *The changing state of knowledge exchange: uk academic interactions with external organisations 2005-2015.*
- Hunt, E. (2010). The rights and responsibilities implied by academic freedom. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 49(4), 264–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2010.01.011
- Huyghe, A., & Knockaert, M. (2015). The influence of organizational culture and climate on entrepreneurial intentions among research scientists. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *40*(1), 138–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-014-9333-3
- Innovation Working Group. (2015). *Support to Innovation and Innovation Systems*. https://www.sida.se/globalassets/sida/eng/publications/position_paper_support_to_innovation.pdf
- Iorio, R., Labory, S., & Rentocchini, F. (2017). The importance of pro-social behaviour for the breadth and depth of knowledge transfer activities: An analysis of Italian academic scientists. *Research Policy*, 46(2), 497–509. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2016.12.003
- Ito, T., Kaneta, T., & Sundstrom, S. (2016). Does university entrepreneurship work in Japan?: A comparison of industry-university research funding and technology transfer activities between the UK and Japan. *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, 5.
- Jackson, L. (2020). Academic freedom of students. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857.2020.1773798
- Jacobsson, S., & Vico, E. P. (2010). Towards a systemic framework for capturing and explaining the effects of academic R&D. *Technology Analysis and Strategic Management*, *22*(7), 765–787. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537325.2010.511140
- Jain, S., Islam, H. A., Goossen, M. C., & Nair, A. (2023). Social movements and institutional entrepreneurship as facilitators of technology transition: The case of free/open-source software. *Research Policy*, 52(2), 104672. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2022.104672

- Jang, D., Doh, S., Kang, G.-M., & Han, D.-S. (2017). Impact of alumni connections on peer review ratings and selection success rate in national research. *Science, Technology, & Human Values, 42*(1), 116– 143.
- Jasny, B. R., Wigginton, N., McNutt, M., Bubela, T., Buck, S., Cook-Deegan, R., Gardner, T., Hanson, B., Hustad, C., & Kiermer, V. (2017). Fostering reproducibility in industry-academia research. *Science (80-)*, 357.
- Jensen, P., Rouquier, J. B., Kreimer, P., & Croissant, Y. (2008). Scientists who engage with society perform better academically. *Science and Public Policy*, *35*. https://doi.org/10.3152/030234208X329130
- Jensen, R., Thursby, J., & Thursby, M. (2010). University-Industry Spillovers, Government Funding, and Industrial Consulting. https://doi.org/10.3386/w15732
- Johnson, M., Monsen, E. W., & MacKenzie, N. G. (2017). Follow the Leader or the Pack? Regulatory Focus and Academic Entrepreneurial Intentions. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, *34*(2), 181– 200. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpim.12355
- Johnson, M. T. (2022). The knowledge exchange framework: understanding parameters and the capacity for transformative engagement. *Studies in Higher Education*, 47(1), 194–211. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2020.1735333
- Johnson, R. B., & Christensen, L. B. (2004). *Educational Research: Quantitative, Qualitative, and Mixed Approaches*. Allyn and Bacon.
- Jong, S. P. L., Smit, J., & Drooge, L. (2015). Scientists' response to societal impact policies: A policy paradox. *Science and Public Policy*, 43.
- Kalgin, A., Kalgina, O., & Lebedeva, A. (2019). Publication metrics as a tool for measuring research productivity and their relation to motivation. *Voprosy Obrazovaniya / Educational Studies Moscow*, 2019(1), 44–86. https://doi.org/10.17323/1814-9545-2019-1-44-86
- Karlsdottir, V., Torfason, M. T., Edvardsson, I. R., & Heijstra, T. M. (2023). Barriers to academic collaboration with industry and community: Individual and organisational factors. *Industry and Higher Education*, 37(6), 792–809. https://doi.org/10.1177/09504222231173953
- Karran, T., Beiter, K., & Appiagyei-Atua, K. (2017). Measuring academic freedom in Europe: a criterion referenced approach. *Policy Reviews in Higher Education*, 1(2), 209–239. https://doi.org/10.1080/23322969.2017.1307093
- Karran, T., Beiter, K. D., & Mallinson, L. (2022). Academic freedom in contemporary Britain: A cause for concern? *Higher Education Quarterly*, *76*(3), 563–579. https://doi.org/10.1111/hequ.12346
- Karran, T., & Mallinson, L. (2019). Academic Freedom and World-Class Universities: A Virtuous Circle? *Higher Education Policy*, *32*(3), 397–417. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41307-018-0087-7
- Kearns, C. E., Schmidt, L. A., & Glantz, S. A. (2016). Sugar industry and coronary heart disease research: a historical analysis of internal industry documents. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *176*(11), 1680–1685.
- Kidd, C. V. (1963). The Implications of Research Funds for Academic Freedom. *Law and Contemporary Problems*, *28*(3), 613–624. https://doi.org/10.2307/1190648
- Kifor, C. V., Benedek, A. M., Sîrbu, I., & Săvescu, R. F. (2023). Institutional drivers of research productivity: a canonical multivariate analysis of Romanian public universities. *Scientometrics*, *128*(4), 2233–2258. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-023-04655-z
- Kim, H. S., Dobson, K. S., & Hodgins, D. C. (2016). Funding of gambling research: Ethical issues, potential benefit and guidelines. *Journal of Gambling Issues*, *32*, 111–132.
- Kinzelbach, K., Lindberg, S. I., Pelke, L., & Spannagel, J. (2023). Academic Freedom Index 2023. FAU Erlangen-Nürnberg and V-Dem Institute Journal, 90(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.23696/vdemds23.1

- Kinzelbach, K., Saliba, I., & Spannagel, J. (2021). Global data on the freedom indispensable for scientific research: towards a reconciliation of academic reputation and academic freedom. *The International Journal of Human Rights*, *0*(0), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13642987.2021.1998000
- Kinzelbach, K., Saliba, I., Spannagel, J., & Quinn, R. (2021). Putting the Academic Freedom Index Into Action. *Global Public Policy Institute, March 2021*, 1–29.
- Kladakis, A., Aagaard, K., & Hansen, J. (2022). Maneuvering through a Changing Funding Terrain: Biomedical University Scientists in Positive and Negative Feedback Loops. *Engaging Science, Technology, and Society*, 8(2), 105–132. https://doi.org/10.17351/ests2022.959
- Klarl, T., Karpa, D. F., Leusin, M. E., & Rochlitz, M. (2023). Authoritarian Surveillance, Innovation and Growth. *SSRN Electronic Journal, November*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4594849
- Kleiner-Schaefer, T., & Schaefer, K. J. (2022). Barriers to university–industry collaboration in an emerging market: Firm-level evidence from Turkey. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, 47(3), 872–905. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-022-09919-z
- Kluwer, E. S., Karremans, J. C., Riedijk, L., & Knee, C. R. (2019). Autonomy in relatedness: How need fulfillement interacts in close relationships. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167219867964
- Knudsen, M. P., Frederiksen, M. H., & Goduscheit, R. C. (2021). New forms of engagement in third mission activities: a multi-level university-centric approach. *Innovation: Organization and Management*, 23(2), 209–240. https://doi.org/10.1080/14479338.2019.1670666
- Köhler, T., Smith, A., & Bhakoo, V. (2022). Templates in Qualitative Research Methods: Origins, Limitations, and New Directions. *Organizational Research Methods*, *25*(2), 183–210. https://doi.org/10.1177/10944281211060710
- Kohtamäki, V. (2022). Autonomy-driven segmentation for competition among Finnish universities: leaders' perceptions. *Studies in Higher Education*, *47*(1), 67–79. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2020.1730314
- Kongsted, H., Tartari, V., Cannito, D., Norn, M. T., & Wohlert, J. (2017). *University researchers' engagement with industry, the public sector and society*.
- Korff, N., Plewa, C., & Baaken, T. (2019). The Role of Experience of Academics in University Engagement: Looking at University-Industry Linkages. *Developing Engaged and Entrepreneurial Universities: Theories, Concepts and Empirical Findings*, 213–229.
- Kosmützky, A., & Krücken, G. (2023). Governing Research: New Forms of Competition and Cooperation in Academia. In *Research in the Sociology of Organizations* (Vol. 86, pp. 31–57). Emerald Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/S0733-558X2023000086002
- Kronfeldner, M. (2021). The freedom we mean: A causal independence account of creativity and academic freedom. *European Journal for Philosophy of Science*, *11*(2), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13194-021-00373-6
- Krummel, M., Blish, C., Kuhns, M., Cadwell, K., Oberst, A., Goldrath, A., Ansel, K. M., Chi, H., O'Connell, R., Wherry, E. J., & Pepper, M. (2019). Universal principled review: A community-driven method to improve peer review. *Cell*, *179*.
- Kuchumova, G., Bilyalov, D., & Jonbekova, D. (2023). Faculty engagement in university-industry research partnerships: findings from a developing country. *Studies in Higher Education*, *48*(9), 1455–1467. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2023.2203135
- Kulczycki, E. (2023). Research Evaluation: Unraveling the Metrics-Driven Pressures. *International Higher Education*, 115, 28–29.

- Kwestel, M., & Milano, E. F. (2021). Protecting academic freedom or managing reputation? An evaluation of university social media policies. *Journal of Information Policy*, 10, 151–183. https://doi.org/10.5325/JINFOPOLI.10.2020.0151
- Lacetera, N. (2009). Different missions and commitment power in R&D organizations: Theory and evidence on industry-university alliances. *Organization Science*, 20(3), 565–582.
- Lach, S., & Schankerman, M. (2008). Incentives and invention in universities. *The RAND Journal of Economics*, *39*(2), 403–433.
- Lahikainen, K., Kolhinen, J., Ruskovaara, E., & Pihkala, T. (2019). Challenges to the development of an entrepreneurial university ecosystem: The case of a Finnish university campus. *Industry and Higher Education*, 33(2), 96–107.
- Lam, A. (2011). What motivates academic scientists to engage in research commercialization: "Gold", "ribbon" or "puzzle"? *Research Policy*, 40(10), 1354–1368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2011.09.002
- Landry, R., Amara, N., & Rherrad, I. (2006). Why are some university researchers more likely to create spinoffs than others? Evidence from Canadian universities. *Research Policy*, *35*(10), 1599–1615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2006.09.020
- Landry, R., Traore, N., & Godin, B. (1996). An econometric analysis of the effect of collaboration on academic research productivity. *Higher Education*, *32*(3), 283–301. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00138868
- Laursen, K., Reichstein, T., & Salter, A. (2011). Exploring the effect of geo- graphical proximity and university quality on university–industry collaboration in the United Kingdom. *Regional Studies*, 45. https://doi.org/10.1080/00343400903401618
- Lawson, C., Kitson, M., & Hughes, R. B. (2016). *The Changing State of Knowledge Exchange* (Issue February). http://www.ncub.co.uk/reports/national-survey-of-academics.html
- Lawson, C., Salter, A., Hughes, A., & Kitson, M. (2019). Citizens of somewhere: Examining the geography of foreign and native-born academics' engagement with external actors. *Research Policy*, 48(3), 759– 774. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.11.008
- Lee, B. (2009). Introduction: The future of universities and the fate of free inquiry and academic freedom. *Social Research*, *76*(3), 791–793.
- Lee, H. fen, & Miozzo, M. (2015). How does working on university–industry collaborative projects affect science and engineering doctorates' careers? Evidence from a UK research-based university. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, 40(2), 293–317. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-014-9340-4
- Lee, S., & Bozeman, B. (2005). The impact of research collaboration on scientific productivity. *Social Studies of Science*, *35*(5), 673–702. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306312705052359
- Lee, Y. H. (2021). Determinants of research productivity in Korean Universities: the role of research funding. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, *46*(5), 1462–1486. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-020-09817-2
- Legro, R. S. (2011). Barriers to conducting clinical research in reproductive medicine: United States of America. *Fertility and Sterility*, *96*(4), 817–819. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.09.013
- Leisyte, L., Enders, J., & De Boer, H. (2008). The freedom to set research agendas Illusion and reality of the research units in the Dutch Universities. *Higher Education Policy*, *21*(3), 377–391. https://doi.org/10.1057/hep.2008.14
- Leydesdorff, L., & Meyer, M. (2006). Triple helix indicators of knowledge-based innovation systems: Introduction to the special issue. *Research Policy*, *35*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2006.09.016
- Libaers, D. (2014). Foreign-born academic scientists and their interactions with industry: Implications for university technology commercialization and corporate innovation management. *Journal of Product Innovation & Corporate & Corpora& & Corpora& & Corporate & Corporate & Corporate & Corporate*
- Link, A. N., Siegel, D. S., & Bozeman, B. (2007). An empirical analysis of the propensity of academics to engage in informal university technology transfer. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, *16*(4), 641–655. https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/dtm020
- Litalien, D., Morin, A. J. S., Gagné, M., Vallerand, R. J., Losier, G. F., & Ryan, R. M. (2017). Evidence of a continuum structure of academic self-determination: A two-study test using a bifactor-ESEM representation of academic motivation. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *51*, 67–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2017.06.010
- Louderback, E. R., Wohl, M. J. A., & LaPlante, D. A. (2021). Integrating open science practices into recommendations for accepting gambling industry research funding. *Addiction Research and Theory*, 29(1), 79–87. https://doi.org/10.1080/16066359.2020.1767774
- Love, J. H., & Ganotakis, P. (2013). Learning by exporting: Lessons from high-technology SMEs. International Business Review, 22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2012.01.006
- Low, S., Baum, C. M., & Sovacool, B. K. (2022). Undone science in climate interventions: Contrasting and contesting anticipatory assessments by expert networks. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 137(September), 249–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2022.08.026
- Lowe, R., & Gonzalez-Brambila, C. (2007). Faculty entrepreneurs and research productivity: A first look. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, 32.
- Luukkonen, T. (2012). Conservatism and risk-taking in peer review: Emerging ERC practices. *Research Evaluation*. https://doi.org/10.1093/reseval/rvs001
- Luukkonen, T., & Thomas, D. A. (2016). The "Negotiated Space" of University Researchers' Pursuit of a Research Agenda. *Minerva*, 54(1), 99–127. https://doi.org/10.1007/s
- Maassen, P., Martinsen, D., Elken, M., Jungblut, J., & Lackner, E. (2023). *State of play of academic freedom in the EU Member States: Overview of de facto trends and developments* (Issue March). https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2861/466486
- Macfarlane, B. (2012). Re-framing student academic freedom: A capability perspective. *Higher Education*, 63(6), 719–732. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-011-9473-4
- Macfarlane, B. (2016). Freedom to learn: The threat to student academic freedom and why it needs to be reclaimed. *Freedom to Learn: The Threat to Student Academic Freedom and Why It Needs to Be Reclaimed*, 1(1), 1–139. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315529455
- MacGregor, S. P., Marques-Gou, P., & Simon-Villar, A. (2010). Gauging readiness for the quadruple helix: A study of 16 European organizations. *Journal of the Knowledge Economy*, *1*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13132-010-0012-9
- Malfroy, J. (2011). The impact of university–industry research on doctoral programs and practices. *Studies in Higher Education*, *36*(5), 571–584.
- Marbell-Pierre, K. N., Grolnick, W. S., Stewart, A. L., & Raftery-Helmer, J. N. (2019). Parental autonomy support in two cultures: The moderating effects of adolescents' self-construals. *Child Development*, *90*.
- Martela, F., & Riekki, T. J. J. (2018). Autonomy, competence, relatedness, and beneficence: A multicultural comparison of the four pathways to meaningful work. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*(JUN), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01157

- Martínez, C., & Parlane, S. (2023). Academic scientists in corporate R&D: A theoretical model. *Research Policy*, *52*(5), 104744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2023.104744
- Marzocchi, C., Kitagawa, F., Rossi, F., & Uyarra, E. (2023). Reconceptualising knowledge exchange and higher education institutions: broadening our understanding of motivations, channels, and stakeholders. *Studies in Higher Education*, *48*(5), 673–682. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2023.2184791
- Mascarenhas, C., Mendes, T., Galvão, A. R., Marques, C. S., & Ferreira, J. J. (2024). Academic researchers' motivations to engage in university–industry collaboration in cross-border regions. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 0123456789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-024-10082-w
- McAdam, M., Miller, K., & McAdam, R. (2018). Understanding Quadruple Helix relationships of university technology commercialisation: a micro-level approach. *Studies in Higher Education*, *43*(6), 1058–1073. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2016.1212328
- McKelvey, M., & Rake, B. (2020). Exploring scientific publications by firms: what are the roles of academic and corporate partners for publications in high reputation or high impact journals? In *Scientometrics* (Vol. 122, Issue 3). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-020-03344-5
- McKelvey, M., Zaring, O., & Ljungberg, D. (2015). Creating innovative opportunities through research collaboration: An evolutionary framework and empirical illustration in engineering. *Technovation*, *39*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2014.05.008
- Mcpherson, M. S., & Schapiro, M. O. (1990). *The Effect of Government Financing on the Behavior of Colleges and Universities*.
- Meilani, Y., Bernarto, I., &, & Nahar, F. H. (2022). THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN AUTONOMY, PERFORMANCE OF FEMALE LECTURERS AT PRIVATE UNIVERSITIES DURING PANDEMIC COVID-19. *Journal of Applied Management (JAM)*, 20(3), 477–487.
- Merton, R. K. (1957). Priorities in scientific discovery: a chapter in the sociology of science. *American Sociological Review*, 22(6), 635–659.
- Merton, R. K. (1973). *The sociology of science: Theoretical and empirical investigations*. University of Chicago press.
- Messeni Petruzzelli, A., & Murgia, G. (2020). University-Industry collaborations and international knowledge spillovers: A joint-patent investigation. *The Journal of Technology Transfer, 45*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-019-09723-2
- Messeni Petruzzelli, A., & Rotolo, D. (2015). Institutional diversity, internal search behaviour, and jointinnovations: Evidence from the US biotechnology industry. *Management Decision*, *53*. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-05-2014-0256
- Miller, K., McAdam, R., & McAdam, M. (2018). A systematic literature review of university technology transfer from a quadruple helix perspective: Toward a research agenda. *R&D Management*, *48*. https://doi.org/10.1111/radm.12228
- Milyasvkaya, M., Nadolny, D., & Koestner, R. (2014). Where do self-concordant goals come from? The role of domain-specific psychological need satisfaction. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 40.
- Moog, P., Werner, A., Houweling, S., & Backes-Gellner, U. (2015). The impact of skills, working time allocation and peer effects on the entrepreneurial intentions of scientists. *Journal of Technology Transfer, 40*.
- Moraes, G., Spers, E. E., Mendes, L., & Silva, H. (2023). Corporate entrepreneurship at the university: the influence of managerial support, autonomy and reward on the innovative behavior of university professors. *Journal of Entrepreneurship in Emerging Economies*, *15*(2), 404–424. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEEE-07-2021-0287

- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Moss, E., & St-Laurent, D. (2001). Attachment at school age and academic performance. *Developmental Psychology*, *37*(6), 863.
- Mõttus, M., & Lukason, O. (2021). Academic assets, life-cycle, and entrepreneurship: A longitudinal study of Estonian academic workers. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity*, 7(2), 113. https://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc7020113
- Mowery, D. C., & Sampat, B. N. (2005). The Bayh–Dole Act of 1980 and university–industry technology transfer: A model for other OECD governments? *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *30*.
- Mowery, D., Nelson, R., Sampat, B., & Ziedonis, A. (2015). *Ivory tower and industrial innovation: universityindustry technology transfer before and after the Bayh-dole act*. Stanford University Press.
- Moyi Okwaro, F., & Geissler, P. W. (2015). In/dependent collaborations: perceptions and experiences of African scientists in transnational HIV research. *Medical Anthropology Quarterly*, *29*(4), 492–511.
- Müller, R., & Rijcke, S. (2017). Thinking with indicators. Exploring the epistemic impacts of academic performance indicators in the life sciences. *Research Evaluation*, *26*. https://doi.org/10.1093/reseval/rvx023
- Munari, F., & Toschi, L. (2021). The impact of public funding on science valorisation: an analysis of the ERC Proof-of-Concept Programme. *Research Policy*, *50*(6), 104211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2021.104211
- Murgia, G. (2018). The impact of collaboration diversity and joint experience on the reiteration of university co-patents. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-018-9664-6
- Muscio, A. (2013). University-industry linkages: what are the determinants of distance in collaborations? *Pap Reg Sci, 92.*
- Muscio, A., & Vallanti, G. (2014). Perceived Obstacles to University–Industry Collaboration: Results from a Qualitative Survey of Italian Academic Departments. *Industry and Innovation*, *21*(5), 410–429. https://doi.org/10.1080/13662716.2014.969935
- Muynck, G.-. J., Vansteenkiste, M., Delrue, J., Aelterman, N., Haerens, L., & Soenens, B. (2017). The effects of feedback valence and style on need satisfaction, self-talk, and perseverance among tennis players: an experimental study. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, *39*.
- Nasirov, S., & Joshi, A. M. (2023). Minding the communications gap: How can universities signal the availability and value of their scientific knowledge to commercial organizations? *Research Policy*, *52*(9), 104870. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2023.104870
- Nelson, J. L. (2003). Academic freedom, institutional integrity, and teacher education. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, *30*(1), 65–72.
- Nelson, J. P. (2024). The micro-dynamics of scientific choice: research project motivations among public affairs academics. *Science and Public Policy*, *51*(1), 149–161. https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/scad059
- Nelson, J. P., Bozeman, B., Bretschneider, S., & Lindsay, S. L. (2024). How do academic public administration and public policy researchers affect policymaking? Functional groupings from survey data. *Scientometrics*, *129*(1), 65–93. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-023-04860-w
- Nelson, R. R. (1993). National Systems of innovation: a comparative analysis. Oxford University Press.
- Neufeld, J. (1990). *The Development of Ballistic Missiles in the United States Air Force, 1945-1960*. Office of Air Force History, United States Air Force.

- Ng, J. Y. Y., Ntoumanis, N., Thogersen-Ntoumani, C., Deci, E. L., Ryan, R. M., & Duda, J. L. (2012). Selfdetermination theory applied to health contexts: A meta-analysis. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *7*.
- Ngwenya, S., & Boshoff, N. (2023). Self-interestedness in Research Collaboration and its Association with Career Stage and Nature of Collaboration: A Survey of Zimbabwean Researchers. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, *18*(4), 189–207. https://doi.org/10.1177/15562646231192808
- Niemczyk, E. K., & Rónay, Z. (2022). Roles, requirements and autonomy of academic researchers. *Higher Education Quarterly, February 2021*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/hequ.12403
- Noke, H., Mosey, S., & Vere, K. (2024). Understanding university technicians' role in creating knowledge exchange routines and capabilities: a research agenda. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, 0123456789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-024-10072-y
- Nokkala, T., & Bladh, A. (2014). Institutional autonomy and academic freedom in the nordic context: Similarities and differences. *Higher Education Policy*, 27.
- Obschonka, M., Goethner, M., Silbereisen, R., & Cantner, U. (2012). Social identity and the transition to entrepreneurship: The role of group identification with workplace peers. *Journal of Vocational Behavior, 80*.
- O'Dwyer, M., Filieri, R., & O'Malley, L. (2023). Establishing successful university–industry collaborations: barriers and enablers deconstructed. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, *48*(3), 900–931. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-022-09932-2
- O'Kane, C., Cunningham, J. A., Menter, M., & Walton, S. (2021). The brokering role of technology transfer offices within entrepreneurial ecosystems: An investigation of macro–meso–micro factors. *The Journal of Technology Transfer, 46*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-020-09829-y
- O'Kane, C., Haar, J., Mangematin, V., Daellenbach, U., & Davenport, S. (2021). Distilling and renewing science team search through external engagement. *Research Policy*, *50*(6), 104261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2021.104261
- Olmos-Peñuela, J., Castro-Martínez, E., & D'Este, P. (2014). Knowledge transfer activities in social sciences and humanities: Explaining the interactions of research groups with non-academic agents. *Research Policy*, 43(4), 696–706. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2013.12.004
- O'Neill, P., Findlay, L. M., & Bidwell, P. M. (2003). Exploring the limits of academic freedom [Pursuing academic freedom: "free and fearless"?]. *CAUT Bulletin*, *50*(6), 1–5.
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Johnson, R. B. (2004). *Mixed method and mixed model research BT Educational research: Quantitative, Qualitative, and Mixed Approaches.* (R. B. Johnson & L. B. Christensen, Eds.). Allyn and Bacon.
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Leech, N. L. (2005). Taking the "q" out of research: Teaching research methodology courses without the divide between quantitative and qualitative paradigms. *Quality and Quantity*, *39*(3), 267–295. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-004-1670-0
- Opdenakker, M. C. (2022). Developments in early adolescents' self-regulation: The importance of teachers' supportive vs. undermining behavior. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *13*(November), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1021904
- Orazbayeva, B., Davey, T., Plewa, C., & Galán-Muros, V. (2020). Engagement of academics in educationdriven university-business cooperation: a motivation-based perspective. *Studies in Higher Education*, 45(8), 1723–1736. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2019.1582013
- Orazbayeva, B., & Plewa, C. (2022). Academic motivations to engage in university-business cooperation: a fuzzy set analysis. *Studies in Higher Education*, *47*(3), 486–498. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2020.1761784

- Orazbayeva, B., van der Sijde, P., & Baaken, T. (2021). Autonomy, competence and relatedness-the facilitators of academic engagement in education-driven university-business cooperation. *Studies in Higher Education*, *46*(7), 1406–1420. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2019.1679764
- Owusu-Nimo, F., & Boshoff, N. (2017). Research collaboration in Ghana: patterns, motives and roles. *Scientometrics*, *110*(3), 1099–1121. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-016-2221-x
- Patall, E. A. (2021). Self-Determination Theory: Eminent Legacy with Boundless Possibilities for Advancement. *Motivation Science*, 7(2), 117–118. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/mot0000223
- Pekşen, S., Queirós, A., Flander, A., Leišytė, L., & Tenhunen, V. (2021). The Determinants of External Engagement of Hard Scientists: A Study of Generational and Country Differences in Europe. *Higher Education Policy*, 34(1), 18–41. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41307-020-00214-w
- Perkmann, M., King, Z., & Pavelin, S. (2011). Engaging excellence? Effects of faculty quality on university engagement with industry. *Research Policy*, *40*(4), 539–552. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2011.01.007
- Perkmann, M., Salandra, R., Tartari, V., McKelvey, M., & Hughes, A. (2021). Academic engagement: A review of the literature 2011-2019. *Research Policy*, *50*(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2020.104114
- Perkmann, M., Tartari, V., McKelvey, M., Autio, E., Broström, A., D'Este, P., Fini, R., Geuna, A., Grimaldi, R., Hughes, A., Krabel, S., Kitson, M., Llerena, P., Lissoni, F., Salter, A., & Sobrero, M. (2013). Academic engagement and commercialisation: A review of the literature on university-industry relations. *Research Policy*, 42(2), 423–442. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2012.09.007
- Perkmann, M., & Walsh, K. (2007). University–industry relationships and open innovation: Towards a research agenda. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 9.
- Perkmann, M., & Walsh, K. (2008). Engaging the scholar: Three types of academic consulting and their impact on universities and industry. *Research Policy*, 37(10), 1884–1891. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2008.07.009
- Perkmann, M., & Walsh, K. (2009). The two faces of collaboration: Impacts of university-industry relations on public research. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, *18*(6), 1033–1065. https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/dtp015
- Petegem, S., Zimmer-Gembeck, M., Baudat, S., Soenens, B., Vansteenkiste, M., & Zimmerman, G. (2019).
 Adolescents' responses to parental rules: The role of communication style and self-Determination.
 Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2019.101073
- Petersen, I. H., Kruss, G., & Van Rheede, N. (2022). Strengthening the university third mission through building community capabilities alongside university capabilities. *Science and Public Policy*, 49(6), 890–904. https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/scac036
- Phan, P. H., & Siegel, D. S. (2006). The effectiveness of university technology transfer. *Foundations and Trends in Entrepreneurship*, *2*. https://doi.org/10.1561/030000006
- Philpott, K., Dooley, L., O'Reilly, C., & Lupton, G. (2011). The entrepreneurial university: Examining the underlying academic tensions. *Technovation*, 31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2010.12.003
- Pinheiro, R., Langa, P. V, & Pausits, A. (2015). One and two equals three?: The third mission of higher education institutions. *Eur J High Educ*, *5*.
- Plantec, Q., Cabanes, B., le Masson, P., & Weil, B. (2023). Early-career academic engagement in university– industry collaborative PhDs: Research orientation and project performance. *Research Policy*, 52(9), 104856. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2023.104856

- Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2016). *Nursing reserach: generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice.* (10th editi). Philadelphia: Lipincott & Williams.
- Ponomariov, B. (2008). Effects of university characteristics on scientists' interactions with the private sector: An exploratory assessment. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, *33*.
- Ponomariov, B., & Craig Boardman, P. (2008). The effect of informal industry contacts on the time university scientists allocate to collaborative research with industry. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, *33*(3), 301–313. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-007-9029-z
- Porath, C. L., & Erez, A. (2007). Does rudeness really matter? The effects of rudeness on task performance and helpfulness. *Academy of Management Journal*, *50*(5), 1181–1197.
- Porath, C. L., & Erez, A. (2009). Overlooked but not untouched: How rudeness reduces onlookers' performance on routine and creative tasks. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *109*(1), 29–44.
- Protogerou, A., Caloghirou, Y., & Siokas, E. (2013). Twenty-five years of science-industry collaboration: The emergence and evolution of policy-driven research networks across Europe. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, *38*(6), 873–895. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-012-9278-3
- Queirós, A., Carvalho, T., Rosa, M. J., Biscaia, R., Manatos, M. J., Videira, P., Teixeira, P., Diogo, S., Melo, A.
 I., Figueiredo, H., & Mendes, R. A. (2022). Academic engagement in Portugal: the role of institutional diversity, individual characteristics and modes of knowledge production. *Studies in Higher Education*, 47(11), 2239–2252. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2022.2042241
- Quirin, M., Kerber, A., Küstermann, E., Radtke, E. L., Kazén, M., Konrad, C., Baumann, N., Ryan, R. M., Ennis, M., & Kuhl, J. (2022). Not the Master of Your Volitional Mind? The Roles of the Right Medial Prefrontal Cortex and Personality Traits in Unconscious Introjections Versus Self-Chosen Goals. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13(April), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.740925
- Qureshi, I., Park, D., Crespi, G. A., & Benavente, J. M. (2021). Trends and determinants of innovation in Asia and the Pacific vs. Latin America and the Caribbean. *Journal of Policy Modeling*, 43(6), 1287–1309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpolmod.2020.06.008
- Rajalo, S., & Vadi, M. (2017). University-industry innovation collaboration: reconceptualization. *Technovation*, 62–63.
- Rake, B. (2021). Do publication activities of academic institutions benefit from formal collaborations with firms? *Innovation: Organization and Management*, *23*(2), 241–265. https://doi.org/10.1080/14479338.2019.1679024
- Ramos-Vielba, I., & D'Este, P. (2023). Women scientists in knowledge exchanges with nonacademic actors: participation gap and emerging gender patterns. *Studies in Higher Education*, *48*(5), 707–718. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2023.2196530
- Rappert, Brian., Balmer, Brian., & Stone, John. (2008). Science, Technology, and the Military: Priorities, Preoccupations, and Possibilities BT - The Handbook of Science and Technology Studies (Edward. J. Hackett, Olga. Amsterdamska, Michael. Lynch, & Judy. Wajcman, Eds.). MIT Press.
- Redman, B. (2023). Conflict of Interest and Commitment and Research Integrity BT Reconstructing Research Integrity: Beyond Denial (B. Redman, Ed.; pp. 93–111). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-27111-3_6
- Reed, M. S., Ferré, M., Martin-Ortega, J., Blanche, R., Lawford-Rolfe, R., Dallimer, M., & Holden, J. (2021). Evaluating impact from research: A methodological framework. *Research Policy*, 50(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2020.104147
- Ren, K., & Li, J. (2013). Academic freedom and university autonomy: A higher education policy perspective. In *Higher Education Policy* (Vol. 26, Issue 4, pp. 507–522). https://doi.org/10.1057/hep.2013.31

- Rentocchini, F., D'Este, P., Manjarrés-Henríquez, L., & Grimaldi, R. (2014). The relationship between academic consulting and research performance: Evidence from five Spanish universities. *International Journal of Industrial Organization*, *32*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijindorg.2013.11.001
- Resnik, David. B. (1998). The Ethics of Science: An Introduction. Routledge.
- Reymert, I., & Thune, T. (2022). Task complementarity in academic work: a study of the relationship between research, education and third mission tasks among university professors. *Journal of Technology Transfer*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-021-09916-8
- Ribeiro, S. X., & Nagano, M. S. (2021). On the relation between knowledge management and universityindustry-government collaboration in Brazilian National Institutes of Science and Technology. *VINE J Inf Knowl Manag Syst, 2021*. https://doi.org/10.1108/VJIKMS-01-2020-0002
- Rijnsoever, F. J., & Hessels, L. K. (2021). How academic researchers select collaborative research projects: a choice experiment. *J Technol Transf*, *46*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-020-09833-2
- Roach, M., & Sauermann, H. (2010). A taste for science? PhD scientists' academic orientation and self-selection into research careers in industry. *Research Policy*, *39*(3), 422–434.
- Robbins, M. D. (2018). Innovation Policy and "Creative Insecurity": The Return of A Dangerous Idea. *Queen's Policy Review, September*, 7–14. https://www.queensu.ca/sps/sites/spswww/files/uploaded_files/QPR_Journal2018FINAL.pdf
- Rossoni, A. L., de Vasconcellos, E. P. G., & de Castilho Rossoni, R. L. (2023). Barriers and facilitators of university-industry collaboration for research, development and innovation: a systematic review. In *Management Review Quarterly* (Issue 0123456789). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11301-023-00349-1
- Rostan, M. (2010). Challenges to academic freedom: Some empirical evidence. *European Review*, *18*(SUPPL.1). https://doi.org/10.1017/S1062798709990329
- Roumbanis, L. (2023). New Arguments for a pure lottery in Research Funding: A Sketch for a Future Science Policy Without Time-Consuming Grant Competitions. *Minerva*, 0123456789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11024-023-09514-y
- Ryan, R. M. (1995). Psychological needs and the facilitation of integrative processes. J. Pers., 63.
- Ryan, R. M. (2023). *The Oxford Handbook of Self-Determination Theory* (R. M. Ryan, Ed.). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780197600047.001.0001
- Ryan, R. M., & Connell, J. P. (1989). Perceived locus of causality and internalization: Examining reasons for acting in two domains. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *57*.
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Intrinsic and Extrinsic Motivations: Classic Definitions and New Directions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 25(1), 54–67. https://doi.org/10.1006/ceps.1999.1020
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2017). Self-Determination Theory: Basic Psychological Needs in Motivation, Development, and Wellness. In *The Guilford Press A Division of Guilford Publications, Inc. New York*. The Guilford Press A Division of Guilford Publications, Inc. New York. https://doi.org/10.1521/978.14625/28806
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2019). Brick by brick: The origins, development, and future of self-determination theory. In *Advances in motivation science* (Vol. 6, pp. 111–156). Elsevier.
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2020). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation from a self-determination theory perspective: Definitions, theory, practices, and future directions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 61(April), 101860. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101860
- Ryan, R. M., Duineveld, J. J., Domenico, S. I. Di, Ryan, W. S., Steward, B. A., & Bradshaw, E. L. (2023). META-ANALYTIC FINDINGS WITHIN SELF-DETERMINATION THEORY A Meta-Review of Meta-Analytic

Findings Evaluating Self-Determination Theory. *Psychological Bulletin, advanced p.* https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7137-7364

- Ryazanova, O., & Jaskiene, J. (2022). Managing individual research productivity in academic organizations: A review of the evidence and a path forward. *Research Policy*, *51*(2), 104448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2021.104448
- Saldana, J. (2014). Thinking qualitatively: Methods of mind. SAGE publications.
- Salminen-Karlsson, M., & Wallgren, L. (2008). The interaction of academic and industrial supervisors in graduate education : AAn investigation of industrial research schools. *Higher Education*, *56*(1), 77–93. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-007-9090-4
- Salter, A. J., & Martin, B. R. (2001). The economic benefits of publicly funded basic research: A critical review. *Research Policy*, *30*.
- Samitas, A., & Kampouris, E. (2018). Empirical investigation of co-authorship in the field of finance: A network perspective. *International Review of Financial Analysis*, *58*(September 2017), 235–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.irfa.2017.11.006
- Sandström, U., & Besselaar, P. (2018). Funding, evaluation, and the performance of national research systems. *Journal of Informetrics*, 12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joi.2018.01.007
- Santos, J. M., Horta, H., & Li, H. (2022). Are the strategic research agendas of researchers in the social sciences determinants of research productivity? *Scientometrics*, *127*(7), 3719–3747. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-022-04324-7
- Santosuosso, A., Sellaroli, V., & Fabio, E. (2007). What constitutional protection for freedom of scientific research? *Journal of Medical Ethics*, *33*(6), 342–344. https://doi.org/10.1136/jme.2007.020594
- Sato, S., Gygax, P. M., Randall, J., & Schmid Mast, M. (2021). The leaky pipeline in research grant peer review and funding decisions: challenges and future directions. *Higher Education*, *82*(1), 145–162. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-020-00626-y
- Savabieasfahani, M. (2014). Reflections of Academics on the Ethics of University Military Research. *Class Race Corporate Power*, *2*(1). https://doi.org/10.25148/crcp.2.1.16092109
- Scandura, A., & lammarino, S. (2022). Academic engagement with industry: the role of research quality and experience. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, *47*(4), 1000–1036. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-021-09867-0
- Schartinger, D., Rammer, C., Fischer, M. M., & Fröhlich, J. (2002). Knowledge interactions between universities and industry in Austria_sectorial patterns and determinants.pdf. *Research Policy*, *31*, 303–328.
- Scheulke-Leech, B. A. (2013). Resources and research: An empirical study of the influence of departmental research resources on individual stem researchers involvement with industry. *Research Policy*, *42*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2013.06.010
- Schiuma, G., & Santarsiero, F. (2023). Innovation labs as organisational catalysts for innovation capacity development: A systematic literature review. *Technovation*, 123(December 2021), 102690. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2023.102690
- Schmoch, U. (1999). Interaction of universities and industrial enterprises in Germany and the United States
 A comparison. In *Industry and Innovation* (Vol. 6, Issue 1, pp. 51–68). https://doi.org/10.1080/1366271990000004
- Schneijderberg, C., Götze, N., & Müller, L. (2022). A study of 25 years of publication outputs in the German academic profession. *Scientometrics*, *127*(1), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-021-04216-2

- Schütz, F., Heidingsfelder, M. L., & Schraudner, M. (2019). Co-shaping the Future in Quadruple Helix Innovation Systems: Uncovering Public Preferences toward Participatory Research and Innovation. *The Journal of Design, Economics, and Innovation, 5*(2), 128–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sheji.2019.04.002
- Sengupta, A., & Rossi, F. (2023). The relationship between universities' funding portfolios and their knowledge exchange profiles: A dynamic capabilities view. *Technovation*, 121(October 2022), 102686. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2022.102686
- Shalley, C. E., Zhou, J., & Oldham, G. R. (2004). The effects of personal and contextual characteristics on creativity: where should we go from here? *Journal of Management*, *30*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jm.2004.06.007
- Shane, S. (2004). Encouraging university entrepreneurship? The effect of the Bayh-Dole Act on university patenting in the United States. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *19*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0883-9026(02)00114-3
- Shannon, A. G., & Eden, D. D. (2018). Academic freedom, integrity and research ethics. *JOURNAL OF* SOCIAL SCIENCE RESEARCH, 12(2), 2672–2679. https://doi.org/10.24297/jssr.v12i2.7393
- Shen, H., Coreynen, W., & Huang, C. (2022). Exclusive licensing of university technology: The effects of university prestige, technology transfer offices, and academy-industry collaboration. *Research Policy*, 51(1), 104372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2021.104372
- Sherwood, A. L., & Covin, J. G. (2008). Knowledge acquisition in University–Industry alliances: An empirical investigation from a learning theory perspective. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 25.
- Shibayama, Sotaro., & Baba, Yasunori. (2015). Dishonest conformity in peer review. *Prometheus*. https://doi.org/10.1080/08109028.2015.1114745
- Siegel, D. S., Waldman, D. A., Atwater, L. E., & Link, A. N. (2004). Toward a model of the effective transfer of scientific knowledge from academicians to practitioners: Qualitative evidence from the commercialization of university technologies. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, 21.
- Siegel, D. S., Waldman, D., & Link, A. N. (2003). Assessing the impact of organizational practices on the relative productivity of university technology transfer offices: An exploratory study. *Research Policy*, *32*.
- Sigl, L., & Leišytė, L. (2018). Imaginaries of Invention Management: Comparing Path Dependencies in East and West Germany. *Minerva*, *56*(3), 357–380. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11024-018-9347-3
- Sikes, P., & Piper, H. (2013). Ethics and academic freedom in educational research. In *Ethics and Academic Freedom in Educational Research*. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315872711
- Silva, M., Rossi, F., Yip, N. K., & Rosli, A. (2021). Does affective evaluation matter for the success of university-industry collaborations? A sentiment analysis of university-industry collaborative project reports. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2020.120473
- Simpson, R. M. (2020). The relation between academic freedom and free speech*. *Ethics*, 130(3), 287–319. https://doi.org/10.1086/707211
- Singh, M. (2009). Making academic freedom and institutional autonomy real in boundary conditions : some issues from African higher education Conference Item. *Past Present and Future of the Magna Charta Universitatum 18-20 Sep 2008*, 1–5. http://wwwl.umn.edu/humanrts/africa
- Sismondo, S. (2008). How pharmaceutical industry funding affects trial outcomes: causal structures and responses. *Social Science & Medicine*, *66*(9), 1909–1914.

- Slater, T. (2016). Unsafe space: The crisis of free speech on campus. In *Unsafe Space: The Crisis of Free* Speech on Campus. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-137-58786-2
- Slaughter, S., Campbell, T., Holleman, M., & Morgan, E. (2002). The "Traffic" in Graduate Students: Graduate Students as Tokens of Exchange between Academe and Industry. *Science, Technology, & Human Values*, 27(2), 282–312.
- Slemp, G. R., Kern, M. L., Patrick, K. J., & Ryan, R. M. (2018). Leader autonomy support in the workplace: A meta-analytic review. *Motivation and Emotion*, 42.
- Smith, M., & Walsh, P. (2023). Security sensitive research: balancing research integrity, academic freedom and national interest. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, *45*(5), 495–510. https://doi.org/10.1080/1360080X.2023.2202328
- Smith, R. D., Schäfer, S., & Bernstein, M. J. (2023). Governing beyond the project: Refocusing innovation governance in emerging science and technology funding. *Social Studies of Science*, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1177/03063127231205043
- Song, Y., Sahut, J. M., Zhang, Z., Tian, Y., & Hikkerova, L. (2022). The effects of government subsidies on the sustainable innovation of university-industry collaboration. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 174(September 2021), 121233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2021.121233
- Sormani, E., Baaken, T., & van der Sijde, P. (2022). What sparks academic engagement with society? A comparison of incentives appealing to motives. *Industry and Higher Education*, *36*(1), 19–36. https://doi.org/10.1177/0950422221994062
- Sormani, E., & Rossano-Rivero, S. (2023). Facilitating Academic Engagement with Society: A Bonding Social Capital Approach to Self-Determination. *Triple Helix*, *42*(2), 296–324. https://doi.org/10.1163/21971927-bja10036
- Sormani, E., & Sijde, P. van der. (2023). Configuring motivational pathways to manage academics' individual motivation for engagement: Insights from German higher education institutions. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management - JET-M, 69*(June), 101768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jengtecman.2023.101768
- Sormani, E., & Uude, K. (2022). Academics' prosocial motivation for engagement with society: The case of German academics in health science. *Science and Public Policy*, *49*(6), 962–971. https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/scac042
- Spânu, P., Ulmeanu, M.-E., & Doicin, C.-V. (2024). Academic Third Mission through Community Engagement: An Empirical Study in European Universities. *Education Sciences*, 14(2), 141. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci14020141
- Stachowiak-Kudła, M. (2022). The Scope of Academic Freedom Right and the Situation of Scientists in Poland. *Interchange*, *53*(1), 99–111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10780-021-09450-4
- Stern, S. (2004). Do scientists pay to be scientists? *Management Science*, *50*(6), 835–853.
- Streitwieser, B., Allen, K., & Duffy-Jaeger, K. (2019). Higher education in an era of violent extremism: Exploring tensions between national security and academic freedom. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 2(18), 74–107.
- Stuart, T. E., & Ding, W. W. (2006). When do scientists become entrepreneurs? The social structural antecedents of commercial activity in the academic life sciences. *American Journal of Sociology*, 112.
- Sun, J. C., & Turner, H. A. (2023). The Complementarity Investment in University-Industry Collaboration. Innovative Higher Education, 48(3), 539–556. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10755-022-09641-6

- Sutton, J. o. h. n. R. (1984). Organizational Autonomy and Professional Norms in Science: A Case Study of the Lawrence Livermore Laboratory. *Social Studies of Science*. https://doi.org/10.1177/030631284014002002
- Tang, M., Wang, D., & Guerrien, A. (2020). A systematic review and meta-analysis on basic psychological need satisfaction, motivation, and well-being in later life: Contributions of self-determination theory. In *PsyCh Journal* (Vol. 9, Issue 1, pp. 5–33). Academic Press Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/pchj.293
- Tartari, V., & Breschi, S. (2012). Set them free: Scientists' evaluations of the benefits and costs of university-industry research collaboration. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, *21*(5), 1117–1147. https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/dts004
- Tartari, V., Perkmann, M., & Salter, A. (2014). In good company: The influence of peers on industry engagement by academic scientists. *Research Policy*, *43*(7), 1189–1203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2014.02.003
- Tartari, V., & Salter, A. (2015). The engagement gap: Exploring gender differences in university—industry collaboration activities. *Research Policy*, 44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2015.01.014
- Taxt, R. E. (2023). Motivations for academic engagement and commercialisation : A case study of actors ' collaboration in third mission activities from three European universities. 0(0), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/09504222231176511
- Taylor, M. Z. (2016). *The politics of innovation: Why some countries are better than others at science and technology*. Oxford University Press.
- Techo, V. P. (2016). *Research methods-quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods. Horizons University.* Horizons University. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.1262.4886
- Thaldar, D., & Steytler, M. (2021). Time for Cinderella to go to the ball: Reflections on the right to freedom of scientific research. *South African Law Journal*, *138*(2), 260–288. https://doi.org/10.47348/salj/v138/i2a2
- Thune, T. (2009). Doctoral students on the university-industry interface: A review of the literature. *Higher Education*, *58*(5), 637–651. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-009-9214-0
- Thune, T., Reymert, I., Gulbrandsen, M., & Simensen, E. (2023). Populating the science-policy coproduction space: academic and policymaker perspectives on knowledge exchange. *Studies in Higher Education, 48*(5), 733–746. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2023.2187772
- Thursby, J. G., & Thursby, M. C. (2011). Faculty participation in licensing: Implications for research. *Research Policy*, 40(1), 20–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2010.09.014
- Tierney, W. G., & Corwin, Z. B. (2007). The tensions between academic freedom and institutional review boards. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *13*(3), 388–398. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800406297655
- Tong, E. K., & Glantz, S. A. (2007). Tobacco industry efforts undermining evidence linking second hand smoke with cardiovascular disease. *Circulation*, *116*(16), 1845–1854.
- Tootell, A., Kyriazis, E., Billsberry, J., Ambrosini, V., Garrett-Jones, S., & Wallace, G. (2021). Knowledge creation in complex inter-organizational arrangements: understanding the barriers and enablers of university-industry knowledge creation in science-based cooperation. J Knowl Manag, 25. https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-06-2020-0461
- Tseng, F. C., Huang, M. H., & Chen, D. Z. (2020). Factors of university–industry collaboration affecting university innovation performance. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, 45(2), 560–577. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-018-9656-6
- Ubfal, D., & Maffioli, A. (2011). The impact of funding on research collaboration: Evidence from a developing country. *Research Policy*, 40(9), 1269–1279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2011.05.023

- Urban, B., & Seely, D. (2023). Academic spin-offs in an African emerging market context. *The International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Innovation*. https://doi.org/10.1177/14657503231213308
- Vallerand, R. J., & Reid, G. (1984). On the causal effects of perceived competence on intrinsic motivation: A test of cognitive evaluation theory. *Journal of Sport Psychology*, 6. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsp.6.1.94
- Van De Burgwal, L. H. M., Hendrikse, R., & Claassen, E. (2019). Aiming for impact: Differential effect of motivational drivers on effort and performance in knowledge valorisation. *Science and Public Policy*, 46(5), 747–762. https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/scz027
- Van De Vrande, V., Subramanian, A. M., Lévesque, M., & Klopf, P. (2024). The interdependent influence of lobbying and intellectual capital on new drug development. *Research Policy*, 53(2), 104938. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2023.104938
- Van den Broeck, A., Howard, J. L., Van Vaerenbergh, Y., Leroy, H., & Gagné, M. (2021). Beyond intrinsic and extrinsic motivation: A meta-analysis on self-determination theory's multidimensional conceptualization of work motivation. *Organizational Psychology Review*, 11(3), 240–273. https://doi.org/10.1177/20413866211006173
- van Rijnsoever, F. J., & Hessels, L. K. (2021). How academic researchers select collaborative research projects: a choice experiment. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, *46*(6), 1917–1948. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-020-09833-2
- Vansteenkiste, M., Aelterman, A., Muynck, G.-. J., Haerens, L., Patall, E., & Reeve, J. (2018). Fostering personal meaning and self-relevance: A self-determination theory perspective on internalization. *Journal of Experimental Education*, *86*.
- Vansteenkiste, M., Ryan, R. M., & Soenens, B. (2020). Basic psychological need theory: Advancements, critical themes, and future directions. *Motivation and Emotion*, 44(1), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-019-09818-1
- Varma, Roli., & Sabharwal, Meghna. (2018). International Collaboration: Experiences of Indian Scientists and Engineers after Returning from the United States. *Perspectives on Global Development*. https://doi.org/10.1163/15691497-12341498
- Vasquez, A. C., Patall, E. A., Fong, C. J., Corrigan, A. S., & Pine, L. (2016). Parent autonomy support, academic achievement, and psychosocial functioning: A meta-analysis of research. *Educational Psychology Review*, 28.
- Wang, M., Cai, J., Soetanto, D., & Guo, Y. (2023). Why do academic scientists participate in academic entrepreneurship? An empirical investigation of department context and the antecedents of entrepreneurial behavior. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 61(4), 1497–1528. https://doi.org/10.1080/00472778.2020.1844486
- Wang, W., & Liu, Y. (2022). Does University-industry innovation community affect firms' inventions? The mediating role of technology transfer. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-021-09887-w
- Wang, Y., Hu, R., Li, W., & Pan, X. (2016). Does teaching benefit from university–industry collaboration? Investigating the role of academic commercialization and engagement. *Scientometrics*, 106(3), 1037–1055. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-015-1818-9
- Weerasinghe, I. M. S., & Dedunu, H. H. (2020). Contribution of academics to university–industry knowledge exchange: A study of open innovation in Sri Lankan universities. *Industry and Higher Education*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0950422220964363
- Welsh, R., Glenna, L., Lacy, W., & Biscotti, D. (2008). Close enough but not too far: Assessing the effects of university-industry research relationships and the rise of academic capitalism. *Research Policy*, 37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2008.07.010

- Wen-ting, D., & Xin-hui, J. (2013). Why researchers engaged in technology transfer collaborations: A selfdetermination theory perspective. 2013 International Conference on Management Science and Engineering 20th Annual Conference Proceedings, 1906–1914. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICMSE.2013.6586525
- Wichmann-Hansen, G., & Herrmann, K. J. (2017). Does external funding push doctoral supervisors to be more directive? A large-scale Danish study. *Higher Education*, 74(2), 357–376. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-016-0052-6
- Williams, J. (2016). Why Academic Freedom Matters. In *Why Academic Freedom Matters: A Response to Current Challenges* (pp. 1–18).
- Wit-de Vries, E., Dolfsma, W. A., Windt, H. J., & Gerkema, M. P. (2019). Knowledge transfer in university– industry research partnerships: A review. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 44.
- Woelert, P., Lewis, J. M., & Le, A. T. (2021). Formally Alive yet Practically Complex: An Exploration of Academics' Perceptions of Their Autonomy as Researchers. *Higher Education Policy*, 34(4), 1049– 1068. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41307-020-00190-1
- Woelert, P., & McKenzie, L. (2018). Follow the money? How Australian universities replicate national performance-based funding mechanisms. *Research Evaluation*, 27.
- Wuchty, S., Jones, B. F., & Uzzi, B. (2007). The increasing dominance of teams in production of knowledge. *Science*, *316*. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1136099
- Wüttke, A. (2020). Political engagement's non-political roots: Examining the role of need-supportive parenting in the political domain. *Motivation and Emotion*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-019-09801-w
- Xia, Q., Chiu, T. K. F., & Chai, C. S. (2023). The moderating effects of gender and need satisfaction on selfregulated learning through Artificial Intelligence (AI). *Education and Information Technologies*, 28(7), 8691–8713. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-022-11547-x
- Yegros-Yegros, A., Azagra-Caro, J. M., López-Ferrer, M., & Tijssen, R. J. W. (2016). Do university-industry copublication outputs correspond with university funding from firms? *Research Evaluation*, 25(2), 136– 150. https://doi.org/10.1093/reseval/rvv045
- Yu, S., Levesque-Bristol, C., & Maeda, Y. (2018). General need for autonomy and subjective well-being: A meta-analysis of studies in the US and East Asia. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 19.
- Zacharewicz, T., Pulido Pavón, N., Palma Martos, L. A., & Lepori, B. (2023). Do funding modes matter? A multilevel analysis of funding allocation mechanisms on university research performance. *Research Evaluation, September*, 545–556. https://doi.org/10.1093/reseval/rvad023
- Zalewska-Kurek, K., & Harms, R. (2020). Managing autonomy in university—industry research: a case of collaborative Ph.D. projects in the Netherlands. *Review of Managerial Science*, *14*(2), 393–416. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11846-019-00361-4
- Zhang, H., Cai, Y., & Li, Z. (2018). Towards a typology of university technology transfer organizations in China: evidences from Tsinghua University. *Triple Helix*, *5*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40604-018-0061-9
- Zhang, Q., Larkin, C., & Lucey, B. M. (2017). Universities, knowledge exchange and policy: A comparative study of Ireland and the UK. *Science and Public Policy*, *44*(2), 174–185. https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/scw047
- Zhao, Z., Broström, A., & Cai, J. (2020). Promoting academic engagement: university context and individual characteristics. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, *45*(1), 304–337. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-018-9680-6

- Zheng, X., & Cai, Y. (2022). Transforming Innovation Systems into Innovation Ecosystems: The Role of Public Policy. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, *14*(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/su14127520
- Zheng, Y., Janiszewski, C., & Schreier, M. (2023). Exploring the Origins of intrinsic motivation. *Motivation and Emotion*, 47(1), 28–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-022-09969-8
- Zhou, J., & Wang, M. (2023). The role of government-industry-academia partnership in business incubation: Evidence from new R&D institutions in China. *Technology in Society*, 72(December 2022), 102194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2022.102194
- Zhuang, T., & Shi, J. (2022). Engagement, determinants and challenges: a multinational systematic review of education-focused university-industry collaborations. *Educational Review*, *0*(0), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2022.2149701
- Zi, A., & Blind, K. (2015). Researchers' participation in standardisation: a case study from a public research institute in Germany. *Journal of Technology Transfer*, *40*(2), 346–360. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-014-9370-y

Appendix I. Interview Guide

Interview Guide: Questions for academic researchers

M.Litt Thesis Research Question: Why and how do academics engage with non-academic collaborators?

Aim of the Interview: These interview questions are designed to elicit detailed responses, providing insights into the researchers' experiences, understanding of academic engagement channel/mode, motivations, barriers, and the contextual factors influencing their interaction with the industry partners.

- 1. Tell me about your experience in collaborating with industry.
 - a. Please, share with me the different types of engagement (e.g Academic Consulting, Contract Research, Joint Research, etc) you have participated in.
 - b. Aside from the Industry, could you tell me more about your engagement with other nonacademic external partners (such as government agencies, NGOs, charity organisations and donor agencies, e.g., EU) you have previously worked with?
- 2. What motivates you to work with the industry or other external partners? why do this motivational factor matters to you?
 - a. Could you tell me how *industry funding* and *access to other non-financial resources* shape your willingness to engage with industry?
 - b. How has your engagement with industry impacted on your academic career (such as in teaching, research)?
- 3. How has your *university's research policy* and the *Irish government's public policy/ regulations* influence your engagement with industry partner (or other external partners)?
- 4. Please could you share with me, problems you had encountered during your engagement with the industry or other external partners in your past engagements?
 - a. Whether you feel free to choose your own industry partners.
 - b. How are decisions pertaining to the choice of project topic, methods, or the research output, made?
 - c. How would you describe your freedom to disseminate your research results (e.g., publication in academic journals, presentation in conferences, seminars, policy-brief documents)?
 - d. How did you manage conflict-of-interest issues, if they arose, with the industry arising from your work with them?
 - e. Aside from the above (a-d) issues, what other problems did you encounter in your past engagement with industry partners and how did you manage them?
- 5. How would you describe your level of satisfaction working with Industry or other external partners? Could you tell me areas that should be improved upon in a collaboration to enable more participation from academic researchers in the future?
- 6. Is there anything else that you would like to tell me about collaborations with industry.

Thank you for your time.

Appendix II. Comprehensive information on participants' (interviewee) profile

п	University	Disciplino	Condor	Career	Partner Engaged	Engagement
UU	type	Discipline	Gender	Stage	with	mode
P1	Traditional	Social Sciences	F	Mid-Career	Nonprofits and charities.	Joint research
P2	Traditional	Social Sciences	М	Early-Career	Industry mainly: NGOs and Government Agencies	Invited lectures; Contract research;
P3	Traditional	Social Sciences	F	Early-Career	Industry; government agencies (Irish city councils, Irish Tourism Association)	Joint research
P4	Traditional	Physical Sciences	М	Late-Career	Industry	Contract research
Р5	Technological	Physical Sciences	М	Late-Career	Industry	Consultancy mainly; Contract research, Spin-out, Patent, Licensing
P6	Traditional	Social Sciences	М	Early-Career	Industry	Joint research
P7	Technological	Engineering	М	Mid-Career	 Industry mainly; partially with charity organisations (student projects) 	Joint research; Consultancy
P8	Traditional	Medicine	М	Late-Career	industry	Consultancy; Joint research
P9	Technological	Social Sciences	М	Mid-Career	Industry	Joint research
P10	Traditional	Social Sciences	F	Early-Career	NGOs	Global citizenship education; Advisory services
P11	Traditional	Physical Sciences	М	Early-Career	Industry; Government agencies	Joint research; Consulting
P12	Traditional	Medicine	F	Mid-Career	Industry; Charity Organisations	Joint research
P13	Traditional	Physical Sciences	М	Mid-Career	Industry	 Joint research; Invited talks Joint thesis supervision
P14	Traditional	Social Sciences	F	Mid-Career	NGOs	Joint research
P15	Traditional	Life Sciences	М	Late-Career	Industry	Joint research; Contract research; Consulting
P16	Technological	Social Sciences	м	Late-Career	Industry; State Agencies	Contract research; Joint research
P17	Traditional	Social Sciences	F	Late-Career	NGOs; CSOs	Joint research
P18	Technological	Life Sciences	F	Early-Career	Industry	Joint research
P19	Traditional	Humanities	F	Late-Career	NGOs; Charity orgs	Joint research

Appendix III. The Code Book

This code book provides description of each code used in the thematic analysis of interview data collected in the study on academics' external engagement activities.

Classification	Name	Description		
Primary	Rationale academics engage with	This refers to the underlying reasons as to why academics engage (or not engage) with non-academic		
Theme	non-academic collaborators			
Sub-themes	Competence-building activities	To seek information on industry problem & research, get feedback from industry, applicability of research, test feasibility and practical application of research, explore new lines of research and to satisfy intellectual curiosity.		
	Access to funding	Generate fund and grants for research. Sometimes motivated or pressured by university/colleagues/society		
	Career benefits & reputation	To achieve academic reputation, status, recognition, promotion, visibility		
	Networking	Build and expand personal or professional network (Enhance researchers' relatedness and connections)		
	Access to in-kind resources	Access to materials, research expertise, equipment		
	Contribute to society	Desire to benefit other people/ satisfaction from the application of research in society		
	Affective duty	Motivate and teach students better, secure jobs and training for students, invited talks from industry experts, co-supervise student project		
	Academic Freedom	Be independent and possess autonomy to make decisions about own research agenda		
Primary Theme	Pattern of engagement between academics and non-academic collaborators	Refers to how academics interaction with non-academic external partners happens over time.		
Sub-themes	Disciplinary field	Engagement pattern based on discipline that academics belongs		
	University type	Engagement pattern based on the type of university academics belong		
	Gender	How academics engage based on their gender classification		
	Career stage	Pattern of engagement based on academics' stage of career		
	Engagement mode	Interaction mode mostly used for engaging with external collaborators		

Appendix IV.

Ethical approval letter

MAYNOOTH UNIVERSITY RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE

MAYNOOTH UNIVERSITY, MAYNOOTH, CO. KILDARE, IRELAND



Dr Carol Barrett Secretary to Maynooth University Research Ethics Committee

21 December 2023

Utieyineshola Adeleke Yusuff School of Business Maynooth University

Re: Application for ethical approval for a Project entitled: Examining engagement by academics with industry in the Republic of Ireland

Dear Utieyineshola,

The above project has been evaluated under Tier 2 process, expedited review and we would like to inform you that ethical approval has been granted.

Any deviations from the project details submitted to the ethics committee will require further evaluation. This ethical approval will expire on 30/06/2024.

Please note: all projects now require an end of project report which is attached. Please complete and upload the end of project report to your RIS ethics record after the project end date.

Kind Regards,

Dr Carol Barrett Secretary, Maynooth University Research Ethics Committee

c.c. Prof Joseph Coughlan and Dr Bastian Rake, School of Business

Reference Number SRESC-2023-37645

Appendix V. Interviewee consent form

Page 1



CONSENT FORM FOR RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS

L	agree to participate in Utievineshola A.	Yusuff's research
study titled "Examining engagement by a	cademics with industry in the Republic of Ireland"	
Please tick each statement below:		
The purpose and nature of the study has b	een explained to me verbally & in writing. I've bee	n able to ask
questions, which were answered satisfactor	orily.	
I am participating voluntarily.		
I give permission for my interview with Uti	eyineshola A. Yusuff to be audio-recorded.	
I understand that I can withdraw from the	study, without repercussions, at any time, whethe	r that is before it
starts or while I am participating.		
I understand that anonymity will be used i	n how my data will be collected and analysed in th	e thesis write-up
for confidentiality.		
I understand the limits of confidentiality a	s described in the information sheet.	
I agree to quotation/publication of extract	s from my interview.	
I do not agree for my data to be used for f	urther research projects.	
Signed	Date	
Participant Name in block capitals		

Template Information Sheet and Consent form 30/05/18 1

Appendix V. Interviewee consent form

Page 2

I the undersigned have taken the time to fully explain to the above participant the nature and purpose of this study in a manner that they could understand. I have explained the risks involved as well as the possible benefits. I have invited them to ask questions on any aspect of the study that concerned them.

Researcher Name in block capitals UTIEVINESHOLA A. YUSUFF

If during your participation in this study you feel the information and guidelines that you were given have been neglected or disregarded in any way, or if you are unhappy about the process, please contact the Secretary of the Maynooth University Ethics Committee at <u>research.ethics@mu.ie</u> or +353 (0)1 708 6019. Please be assured that your concerns will be dealt with in a sensitive manner.

For your information the Data Controller for this research project is Maynooth University, Maynooth, Co. Kildare. The Data Protection office is located in Room 27, Rye Building, North Campus, Maynooth University, which can be contacted at <u>dataprotection@mu.ie</u>. Maynooth University Data Privacy policies can be found at <u>https://www.maynoothuniversity.ie/data-protection</u>.

Two copies to be made: 1 for participant, 1 for PI

Template Information Sheet and Consent form 30/05/18 2

Appendix VI.

Page 1



INFORMATION AND CONSENT FORM FOR RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS

Purpose of the Study

I'm Utieyineshola Adeleke Yusuff, a Masters Student in the School of Business at Maynooth University.

As part of the requirements for my M.Litt, I am undertaking a research study under the supervision of Prof Joseph Coughlan and Dr Bastian Rake of Maynooth University.

The study is concerned with academic engagement. Specifically, I am investigating "how" and "why" academic researchers engage with non-academic external partners.

What will the study involve?

The study will involve participation of academic researchers from selected Irish universities who have been involved in working with external partners on some research/service projects over the last number of years. This study intends to gain insight into the way academic researchers engage, their motivation for engaging, barriers encountered, and their overall experiences during their external engagements. In essence, the plan of this study is to conduct a one-time interview with each of the 20 participants, which is scheduled to last between 30-40 minutes.

Who has approved this study?

This study has been reviewed and received ethical approval from Maynooth University Research Ethics committee. You may have a copy of this approval if you request it.

Why have you been asked to take part?

You have been asked to take part in this study mainly because you have engaged with nonacademic partners in the past and that you met other inclusion criteria for this study. As a result of this, interviewing you will enable me collect insightful and quality information that will be useful in addressing objectives of my thesis.

1

Appendix VI. Interviewee Information sheet

Page 2

Do you have to take part?

No, you are under no obligation whatsoever to take part in this research. However, we hope that you will agree to take part and give us some of your time to participate in an interview with the researcher. It is entirely up to you to decide whether or not you would like to take part.

If you decide to do so, you will be asked to sign a consent form and given a copy and the information sheet for your own records. If you decide to take part, you are still free to withdraw at any time without giving a reason and/or to withdraw your information up until such time as the research findings are published with the final thesis which will be submitted upon the study's completion. A decision to withdraw at any time, or a decision not to take part, will not affect your relationships with Maynooth University in any way whatsoever.

What information will be collected?

As a participant to be interviewed in this study, I have prepared a set of semi-structured questions to collect information from you. These questions are focused on gaining insight into your past collaboration activities with industry or other non-academic partners. Specifically, I will be asking you questions pertaining to mode/channel of engagement, motivations, and barriers, and how contextual factors influence your interaction.

Will your participation in the study he kept confidential?

Yes, all information that is collected about you during the course of the research will be kept strictly confidential. No names will be identified at any time. The identity of the academic researchers taking part will also be anonymised, with the only descriptive information disclosed being that they will be affiliated to an academic institution.

All hard copy information will be held in a locked cabinet at the researchers' place of work (School of Business, Maynooth University), electronic information will be encrypted and held securely on a MU PC or servers and will be accessed only by the researcher, Utievineshola Yusuff, and the research supervisors, Prof Joseph Coughlan, and Dr Bastian Rake.

No information will be distributed to any other unauthorised individual or third party. If you so wish, the data that you provide can also be made available to you at your own discretion.

Please also note the following:

It must be recognised that, in some circumstances, confidentiality of research data and records may be overridden by courts in the event of litigation or in the course of investigation by lawful

Appendix VI. Interviewee Information sheet

Page 3

authority. In such circumstances the University will take all reasonable steps within law to ensure that confidentiality is maintained to the greatest possible extent.

What will happen to the information which you give?

All the information you provide will be kept at Maynooth University in such a way that it will not be possible to identify you. On completion of the research, the data will be retained on the MU server. After ten years, all data will be destroyed by my supervisor, Prof Joseph Coughlan. Manual data will be shredded confidentially, and electronic data will be reformatted or overwritten by Prof Joseph Coughlan.

What will happen to the results?

The research will be written up and presented as a final thesis for submission for consideration for a M.Litt Degree. Further outputs may include individual papers for submission to academic conferences, peer-reviewed journals, and/or industry publications. A copy of the research findings will be made available to you upon request.

What are the possible disadvantages of taking part?

I don't envisage any negative consequences for you in taking part, but I am of course available to discuss any potential concerns you may have regarding participation.

What if there is a problem?

At the end of the interview, you will have the opportunity to elaborate on how you found the experience and how you are feeling. You may contact my research supervisors, Prof Joseph Coughlan, either by email (Joseph.Coughlan@mu.ie) or by phone (01 474 7560); Dr Bastian Rake (bastian.rake@mu.ie) if you feel the research has not been carried out as described above.

Any further queries?

If you need any further information, you can contact me by email: utievineshola.yusuff.2021@mumail.ie.

Thank you for taking the time to read this and for your consideration in participating in this study.